

European Heart Journal (2012) **33**, 2451–2496 doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs109

Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease (version 2012)

The Joint Task Force on the Management of Valvular Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS)

Authors/Task Force Members: Alec Vahanian (Chairperson) (France)*, Ottavio Alfieri (Chairperson)* (Italy), Felicita Andreotti (Italy), Manuel J. Antunes (Portugal), Gonzalo Barón-Esquivias (Spain), Helmut Baumgartner (Germany), Michael Andrew Borger (Germany), Thierry P. Carrel (Switzerland), Michele De Bonis (Italy), Arturo Evangelista (Spain), Volkmar Falk (Switzerland), Bernard Iung (France), Patrizio Lancellotti (Belgium), Luc Pierard (Belgium), Susanna Price (UK), Hans-Joachim Schäfers (Germany), Gerhard Schuler (Germany), Janina Stepinska (Poland), Karl Swedberg (Sweden), Johanna Takkenberg (The Netherlands), Ulrich Otto Von Oppell (UK), Stephan Windecker (Switzerland), Jose Luis Zamorano (Spain), Marian Zembala (Poland)

ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG): Jeroen J. Bax (Chairperson) (The Netherlands), Helmut Baumgartner (Germany), Claudio Ceconi (Italy), Veronica Dean (France), Christi Deaton (UK), Robert Fagard (Belgium), Christian Funck-Brentano (France), David Hasdai (Israel), Arno Hoes (The Netherlands), Paulus Kirchhof (United Kingdom), Juhani Knuuti (Finland), Philippe Kolh (Belgium), Theresa McDonagh (UK), Cyril Moulin (France), Bogdan A. Popescu (Romania), Željko Reiner (Croatia), Udo Sechtem (Germany), Per Anton Sirnes (Norway), Michal Tendera (Poland), Adam Torbicki (Poland), Alec Vahanian (France), Stephan Windecker (Switzerland)

Document Reviewers:: Bogdan A. Popescu (ESC CPG Review Coordinator) (Romania), Ludwig Von Segesser (EACTS Review Coordinator) (Switzerland), Luigi P. Badano (Italy), Matjaž Bunc (Slovenia), Marc J. Claeys (Belgium), Niksa Drinkovic (Croatia), Gerasimos Filippatos (Greece), Gilbert Habib (France), A. Pieter Kappetein (The Netherlands), Roland Kassab (Lebanon), Gregory Y.H. Lip (UK), Neil Moat (UK), Georg Nickenig (Germany), Catherine M. Otto (USA), John Pepper, (UK), Nicolo Piazza (Germany), Petronella G. Pieper (The Netherlands), Raphael Rosenhek (Austria), Naltin Shuka (Albania), Ehud Schwammenthal (Israel), Juerg Schwitter (Switzerland), Pilar Tornos Mas (Spain), Pedro T. Trindade (Switzerland), Thomas Walther (Germany)

The disclosure forms of the authors and reviewers are available on the ESC website www.escardio.org/guidelines

Online publish-ahead-of-print 24 August 2012

Disclaimer. The ESC/EACTS Guidelines represent the views of the ESC and the EACTS and were arrived at after careful consideration of the available evidence at the time they were written. Health professionals are encouraged to take them fully into account when exercising their clinical judgement. The guidelines do not, however, override the individual responsibility of health professionals to make appropriate decisions in the circumstances of the individual patients, in consultation with that patient and, where appropriate and necessary, the patient's guardian or carer. It is also the health professional's responsibility to verify the rules and regulations applicable to drugs and devices at the time of prescription.

© The European Society of Cardiology 2012. All rights reserved. For permissions please email: journals.permissions@oup.com

^{*} Corresponding authors: Alec Vahanian, Service de Cardiologie, Hopital Bichat AP-HP, 46 rue Henri Huchard, 75018 Paris, France. Tel: +33 1 40 25 67 60; Fax: + 33 1 40 25 67 32. Email: alec.vahanian@bch.aphp.fr

Ottavio Alfieri, S. Raffaele University Hospital, 20132 Milan, Italy. Tel: +39 02 26437109; Fax: +39 02 26437125. Email: ottavio.alfieri@hsr.it [†]Other ESC entities having participated in the development of this document:

Associations: European Association of Echocardiography (EAE), European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI), Heart Failure Association (HFA) Working Groups: Acute Cardiac Care, Cardiovascular Surgery, Valvular Heart Disease, Thrombosis, Grown-up Congenital Heart Disease

Councils: Cardiology Practice, Cardiovascular Imaging

The content of these European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Guidelines has been published for personal and educational use only. No commercial use is authorized. No part of the ESC Guidelines may be translated or reproduced in any form without written permission from the ESC. Permission can be obtained upon submission of a written request to Oxford University Press, the publisher of the *European Heart Journal*, and the party authorized to handle such permissions on behalf of the ESC.

Keywords

Valve disease • Valve surgery • Percutaneous valve intervention • Aortic stenosis • Mitral regurgitation

Table of Contents

Abbreviations and acronyms	.2453
1. Preamble	.2453
2. Introduction	.2454
2.1. Why do we need new guidelines on valvular heart	
disease?	.2454
2.2. Contents of these guidelines	.2455
2.3. How to use these guidelines	.2455
3. General comments	.2455
3.1. Patient evaluation	.2455
3.1.1. Clinical evaluation	.2455
3.1.2. Echocardiography	.2456
3.1.3. Other non-invasive investigations	.2456
3.1.3.1. Stress testing	.2456
3.1.3.2. Cardiac magnetic resonance	.2457
3.1.3.3. Computed tomography	.2457
3.1.3.4. Fluoroscopy	.2458
3.1.3.5. Radionuclide angiography	.2458
3.1.3.6. Biomarkers	.2458
3.1.4. Invasive investigations	.2458
3.1.5. Assessment of comorbidity	.2458
3.2. Endocarditis prophylaxis	.2458
3.3. Prophylaxis for rheumatic fever	.2458
3.4. Risk stratification	.2458
3.5. Management of associated conditions	.2459
3.5.1. Coronary artery disease	.2459
3.5.2. Arrhythmias	.2459
4. Aortic regurgitation	.2460
4.1. Evaluation	.2460
4.2. Natural history	2460
4.3. Results of surgery	2460
4.4. Indications for surgery	.2461
4.5. Medical therapy	2462
46 Serial testing	2463
47 Special patient populations	2463
5 Aortic stenosis	2463
5.1 Evaluation	2463
5.2 Natural history	2464
5.3. Results of intervention	2464
5.4 Indications for intervention	2465
5.4.1 Indications for partic valve replacement	2465
5.4.2. Indications for balloon valvuloplacty	2466
5.4.3 Indications for transcatheter apric valve	.2700
implantation	2467
5.5. Medical therapy	2468
5.4. Social tecting	2460
E.7. Special potient populations	2460
S.r. special patient populations Mitral requiritation	.2707 2120
6.1. Drimony mitml requiretting	.2707
6.1. Frimary mitral regurgitation	.2467 2470
6.1.1. EValuation	.2470
6.1.2. Natural history	.2470

6.1.3. Results of surgery	.2470
6.1.4. Percutaneous intervention	.2471
6.1.5. Indications for intervention	.2471
6.1.6. Medical therapy	.2473
6.1.7. Serial testing	.2473
6.2. Secondary mitral regurgitation	.2473
6.2.1. Evaluation	.2473
6.2.2. Natural history	.2473
6.2.3. Results of surgery	.2474
6.2.4. Percutaneous intervention	.2474
6.2.5. Indications for intervention	.2474
6.2.6. Medical treatment	.2475
7. Mitral stenosis	.2475
7.1. Evaluation	.2475
7.2. Natural history	.2475
7.3. Results of intervention	.2475
7.3.1. Percutaneous mitral commissurotomy	.2475
7.3.2. Surgery	.2476
7.4. Indications for intervention	.2476
7.5. Medical therapy	.2477
7.6. Serial testing	2478
7.7. Special patient populations	2478
8 Tricuspid regurgitation	2478
8.1 Evaluation	2478
82 Natural history	2479
8.3 Results of surgery	2479
84 Indications for surgery	2479
8.5 Medical therapy	2480
9 Tricuspid stanosis	2480
9.1 Evaluation	2480
9.7 Surgery	2480
9.3. Percutaneous intervention	2480
9.4 Indications for intervention	2480
95 Medical therapy	2400
10. Combined and multiple value diseases	2/00
11. Prosthetic valves	2400
11.1 Choice of prosthetic value	2400
11.2. Menagement of the value melagement	2400
11.2. Planagement after valve replacement	.2402
11.2.1. Baseline assessment and modalities of follow-up	.2482
11.2.2. Antithrombotic management	.2482
11.2.2.1. General management	.2482
11.2.2.2. Target INK	.2483
11.2.2.3. Management of overdose of vitamin K	2 4 2 4
	.2484
11.2.2.4. Combination of oral anticoagulants with	o (- :
antiplatelet drugs	.2484
11.2.2.5. Interruption of anticoagulant therapy	.2484
11.2.3. Management of valve thrombosis	.2485
11.2.4. Management of thromboembolism	.2485
11.2.5. Management of haemolysis and paravalvular leak	.2485

11.2.6. Management of bioprosthetic failure	
11.2.7. Heart failure	
12. Management during non-cardiac surgery	
12.1. Preoperative evaluation	
12.2. Specific valve lesions	
12.2.1. Aortic stenosis	
12.2.2. Mitral stenosis	
12.2.3. Aortic and mitral regurgitation	
12.2.4. Prosthetic valves	
12.3. Perioperative monitoring	
13. Management during pregnancy	
13.1. Native valve disease	
13.2. Prosthetic valves	
Peterences 2499	

Abbreviations and acronyms

ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme
AF	atrial fibrillation
aPTT	activated partial thromboplastin time
AR	aortic regurgitation
ARB	angiotensin receptor blockers
AS	aortic stenosis
AVR	aortic valve replacement
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
BSA	body surface area
CABG	coronary artery bypass grafting
CAD	coronary artery disease
CMR	cardiac magnetic resonance
CPG	Committee for Practice Guidelines
CRT	cardiac resynchronization therapy
CT	computed tomography
eacts	European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery
ECG	electrocardiogram
EF	ejection fraction
eroa	effective regurgitant orifice area
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
EVEREST	(Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge REpair STudy)
HF	heart failure
INR	international normalized ratio
LA	left atrial
LMWH	low molecular weight heparin
LV	left ventricular
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
lvedd	left ventricular end-diastolic diameter
LVESD	left ventricular end-systolic diameter
MR	mitral regurgitation
MS	mitral stenosis
MSCT	multi-slice computed tomography
NYHA	New York Heart Association
PISA	proximal isovelocity surface area
PMC	percutaneous mitral commissurotomy
PVL	paravalvular leak
RV	right ventricular
rtPA	recombinant tissue plasminogen activator
SVD	structural valve deterioration

STS	Society of Thoracic Surgeons
TAPSE	tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion
TAVI	transcatheter aortic valve implantation
TOE	transoesophageal echocardiography
TR	tricuspid regurgitation
TS	tricuspid stenosis
TTE	transthoracic echocardiography
UFH	unfractionated heparin
VHD	valvular heart disease

3DE three-dimensional echocardiography

1. Preamble

Guidelines summarize and evaluate all evidence available, at the time of the writing process, on a particular issue with the aim of assisting physicians in selecting the best management strategies for an individual patient with a given condition, taking into account the impact on outcome, as well as the risk-benefit-ratio of particular diagnostic or therapeutic means. Guidelines are not substitutes for-, but complements to, textbooks and cover the ESC Core Curriculum topics. Guidelines and recommendations should help physicians to make decisions in their daily practice. However, the final decisions concerning an individual patient must be made by the responsible physician(s).

A great number of guidelines have been issued in recent years by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) as well as by other societies and organisations. Because of their impact on clinical practice, quality criteria for the development of guidelines have been established, in order to make all decisions transparent to the user. The recommendations for formulating and issuing ESC Guidelines can be found on the ESC web site (http://www.escardio.org/guidelines-surveys/esc-guidelines/about/ Pages/rules-writing.aspx). ESC Guidelines represent the official position of the ESC on a given topic and are regularly updated.

Members of this Task Force were selected by the ESC and European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) to represent professionals involved with the medical care of patients with this pathology. Selected experts in the field undertook a comprehensive review of the published evidence for diagnosis, management and/or prevention of a given condition, according to ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG) and EACTS policy. A critical evaluation of diagnostic and therapeutic procedures was performed, including assessment of the risk-benefit ratio. Estimates of expected health outcomes for larger populations were included, where data exist. The levels of evidence and the strengths of recommendation of particular treatment options were weighed and graded according to predefined scales, as outlined in *Tables 1* and 2.

The experts of the writing and reviewing panels filled in Declarations of Interest forms dealing with activities which might be perceived as real or potential sources of conflicts of interest. These forms were compiled into one file and can be found on the ESC web site (http://www.escardio.org/guidelines). Any changes in declarations of interest that arise during the writing period must be notified to the ESC and EACTS and updated. The Task Force

Classes of recommendations	Definition	Suggested wording to use
Class I	Evidence and/or general agreement that a given treatment or procedure is beneficial, useful, effective.	Is recommended/is indicated
Class II	Conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of the given treatment or procedure.	
Class Ila	Weight of evidence/opinion is in favour of usefulness/efficacy.	Should be considered
Class IIb	Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion.	May be considered
Class III	Evidence or general agreement that the given treatment or procedure is not useful/effective, and in some cases may be harmful.	ls not recommended

Table I Classes of recommendations

ble 2 Leve	els of evidence
Level of evidence A	Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analyses.
Level of evidence B	Data derived from a single randomized clinical trial or large non-randomized studies.
Level of evidence C	Consensus of opinion of the experts and/ or small studies, retrospective studies, registries.

received its entire financial support from the ESC and EACTS, without any involvement from the healthcare industry.

The ESC CPG, in collaboration with the Clinical Guidelines Committee of EACTS, supervises and co-ordinates the preparation of these new Guidelines. The Committees are also responsible for the endorsement process of these Guidelines. The ESC/EACTS Guidelines undergo extensive review by the CPG, the Clinical Guidelines Committee of EACTS and external experts. After appropriate revisions, it is approved by all the experts involved in the Task Force. The finalized document is approved by the CPG for publication in the European Heart Journal and the European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery.

After publication, dissemination of the message is of paramount importance. Pocket-sized versions and personal digital assistant (PDA) downloadable versions are useful at the point of care. Some surveys have shown that the intended end-users are sometimes unaware of the existence of guidelines, or simply do not translate them into practice, so this is why implementation programmes for new guidelines form an important component of the dissemination of knowledge. Meetings are organized by the ESC and EACTS and directed towards their member National Societies and key opinion-leaders in Europe. Implementation meetings can also be undertaken at national levels, once the guidelines have been endorsed by the ESC and EACTS member societies and translated into the national language. Implementation programmes are needed because it has been shown that the outcome of disease may be favourably influenced by the thorough application of clinical recommendations.

Thus the task of writing these Guidelines covers not only the integration of the most recent research, but also the creation of educational tools and implementation programmes for the recommendations. The loop between clinical research, writing of guidelines and implementing them into clinical practice can only then be completed if surveys and registries are performed to verify that real-life daily practice is in keeping with what is recommended in the guidelines. Such surveys and registries also make it possible to evaluate the impact of implementation of the guidelines on patient outcomes. The guidelines do not, however, override the individual responsibility of health professionals to make appropriate decisions in the circumstances of the individual patient, in consultation with that patient and-where appropriate and necessary-the patient's guardian or carer. It is also the health professional's responsibility to verify the rules and regulations applicable to drugs and devices at the time of prescription.

2. Introduction

2.1 Why do we need new guidelines on valvular heart disease?

Although valvular heart disease (VHD) is less common in industrialized countries than coronary artery disease (CAD), heart failure (HF), or hypertension, guidelines are of interest in this field because VHD is frequent and often requires intervention.^{1,2} Decision-making for intervention is complex, since VHD is often seen at an older age and, as a consequence, there is a higher frequency of comorbidity, contributing to increased risk of intervention.^{1,2} Another important aspect of contemporary VHD is the growing proportion of previously-operated patients who present with further problems.¹ Conversely, rheumatic valve disease still remains a major public health problem in developing countries, where it predominantly affects young adults.³

When compared with other heart diseases, there are few trials in the field of VHD and randomized clinical trials are particularly scarce.

Finally, data from the Euro Heart Survey on VHD,^{4,5} confirmed by other clinical trials, show that there is a real gap between the existing guidelines and their effective application.⁶⁻⁹

We felt that an update of the existing ESC guidelines,⁸ published in 2007, was necessary for two main reasons:

- Firstly, new evidence was accumulated, particularly on risk stratification; in addition, diagnostic methods—in particular echocardiography—and therapeutic options have changed due to further development of surgical valve repair and the introduction of percutaneous interventional techniques, mainly transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) and percutaneous edge-to-edge valve repair. These changes are mainly related to patients with aortic stenosis (AS) and mitral regurgitation (MR).
- Secondly, the importance of a collaborative approach between cardiologists and cardiac surgeons in the management of patients with VHD—in particular when they are at increased perioperative risk—has led to the production of a joint document by the ESC and EACTS. It is expected that this joint effort will provide a more global view and thereafter facilitate implementation of these guidelines in both communities.

2.2 Contents of these guidelines

These guidelines focus on acquired VHD, are oriented towards management, and do not deal with endocarditis or congenital valve disease, including pulmonary valve disease, since recent guidelines have been produced by the ESC on these topics.^{10,11} Finally, these guidelines are not intended to include detailed information covered in ESC Guidelines on other topics, the ESC Association/Working Group's recommendations, position statements and expert consensus papers and the specific sections of the ESC Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine.¹²

2.3 How to use these guidelines

The Committee emphasizes that many factors ultimately determine the most appropriate treatment in individual patients within a given community. These factors include availability of diagnostic equipment, the expertise of cardiologists and surgeons—especially in the field of valve repair and percutaneous intervention—and, notably, the wishes of well-informed patients. Furthermore, due to the lack of evidence-based data in the field of VHD, most recommendations are largely the result of expert consensus opinion. Therefore, deviations from these guidelines may be appropriate in certain clinical circumstances.

3. General comments

The aims of the evaluation of patients with VHD are to diagnose, quantify and assess the mechanism of VHD, as well as its consequences. The consistency between the results of diagnostic investigations and clinical findings should be checked at each step in the decision-making process. Decision-making should ideally be made by a 'heart team' with a particular expertise in VHD, including cardiologists, cardiac surgeons, imaging specialists, anaesthetists and, if needed, general practitioners, geriatricians, or intensive care specialists. This 'heart team' approach is particularly advisable in the management of high-risk patients and is also important for other subsets, such as asymptomatic patients, where the evaluation of valve repairability is a key component in decision-making.

Decision-making can be summarized according to the approach described in *Table 3*.

Finally, indications for intervention—and which type of intervention should be chosen—rely mainly on the comparative assessment of spontaneous prognosis and the results of intervention according to the characteristics of VHD and comorbidities.

Table 3Essential questions in the evaluation of apatient for valvular intervention

• Is valvular heart disease severe?	
• Does the patient have symptoms?	
• Are symptoms related to valvular disease?	
What are patient life expectancy ^a and expected quality of life?	
• Do the expected benefits of intervention (vs. spontaneous outco outweigh its risks?	me)
• What are the patient's wishes?	
• Are local resources optimal for planned intervention?	

^aLife expectancy should be estimated according to age, gender, comorbidities and country-specific life expectancy.

3.1 Patient evaluation

3.1.1 Clinical evaluation

The aim of obtaining a case history is to assess symptoms and to evaluate for associated comorbidity. The patient is questioned on his/her lifestyle to detect progressive changes in daily activity in order to limit the subjectivity of symptom analysis, particularly in the elderly. In chronic conditions, adaptation to symptoms occurs: this also needs to be taken into consideration. Symptom development is often a driving indication for intervention. Patients who currently deny symptoms, but have been treated for HF, should be classified as symptomatic. The reason for—and degree of—functional limitation should be documented in the records. In the presence of comorbidities it is important to consider the cause of the symptoms. Questioning the patient is also important in checking the quality of follow-up, as well as the effectiveness of prophylaxis for endocarditis and, where appropriate, rheumatic fever. In patients receiving chronic anticoagulant therapy, it is necessary to assess the compliance with treatment and look for evidence of thromboembolism or bleeding.

Clinical examination plays a major role in the detection of VHD in asymptomatic patients. It is the first step in the definitive diagnosis of VHD and the assessment of its severity, keeping in mind that a low-intensity murmur may co-exist with severe VHD, particularly in the presence of HF. In patients with heart valve prostheses it is necessary to be aware of any change in murmur or prosthetic valve sounds.

An electrocardiogram (ECG) and a chest X-ray are usually carried out in conjunction with a clinical examination. Besides cardiac enlargement, analysis of pulmonary vascularization on the chest X-ray is essential when interpreting dyspnoea or clinical signs of HF. 13

3.1.2 Echocardiography

Echocardiography is the key technique used to confirm the diagnosis of VHD, as well as to assess its severity and prognosis. It should be performed and interpreted by properly trained personnel.¹⁴ It is indicated in any patient with a murmur, unless no suspicion of valve disease is raised after the clinical evaluation.

The evaluation of the severity of stenotic VHD should combine the assessment of valve area with flow-dependent indices such as mean pressure gradient and maximal flow velocity (*Table 4*).¹⁵ Flow-dependent indices add further information and have a prognostic value.

The assessment of valvular regurgitation should combine different indices including quantitative measurements, such as the *vena contracta* and effective regurgitant orifice area (EROA), which is less dependent on flow conditions than colour Doppler jet size (*Table 5*).^{16,17} However, all quantitative evaluations have limitations. In particular, they combine a number of measurements and are highly sensitive to errors of measurement, and are highly operator-dependent; therefore, their use requires experience and integration of a number of measurements, rather than reliance on a single parameter.

Thus, when assessing the severity of VHD, it is necessary to check consistency between the different echocardiographic measurements, as well as the anatomy and mechanisms of VHD. It is also necessary to check their consistency with the clinical assessment.

Echocardiography should include a comprehensive evaluation of all valves, looking for associated valve diseases, and the aorta.

Indices of left ventricular (LV) enlargement and function are strong prognostic factors. While diameters allow a less complete assessment of LV size than volumes, their prognostic value has been studied more extensively. LV dimensions should be indexed to body surface area (BSA). The use of indexed values is of particular interest in patients with a small body size but should be avoided in patients with severe obesity (body mass index $>40 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Indices derived from Doppler tissue imaging and strain assessments seem to be of potential interest for the detection of early impairment of LV function but lack validation of their prognostic value for clinical endpoints.

Table 4Echocardiographic criteria for the definitionof severe valve stenosis: an integrative approach

	Aortic stenosis	Mitral stenosis	Tricuspid stenosis
Valve area (cm²)	<1.0	<1.0	-
Indexed valve area (cm ² /m ² BSA)	<0.6	-	-
Mean gradient (mmHg)	>40ª	>10 ^p	≥5
Maximum jet velocity (m/s)	>4.0ª	-	-
Velocity ratio	<0.25	-	-

BSA = body surface area.

^aIn patients with normal cardiac output/transvalvular flow.

^bUseful in patients in sinus rhythm, to be interpreted according to heart rate. Adapted from Baumgartner et al.¹⁵

Finally, the pulmonary pressures should be evaluated, as well as right ventricular (RV) function. $^{18}\,$

Three-dimensional echocardiography (3DE) is useful for assessing anatomical features which may have an impact on the type of intervention chosen, particularly on the mitral valve.¹⁹

Transoesophageal echocardiography (TOE) should be considered when transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) is of suboptimal quality or when thrombosis, prosthetic dysfunction, or endocarditis is suspected. Intraprocedural TOE enables us to monitor the results of surgical valve repair or percutaneous procedures. High-quality intraoperative TOE is mandatory when performing valve repair. Three-dimensional TOE offers a more detailed examination of valve anatomy than two-dimensional echocardiography and is useful for the assessment of complex valve problems or for monitoring surgery and percutaneous intervention.

3.1.3 Other non-invasive investigations

3.1.3.1 Stress testing

Stress testing is considered here for the evaluation of VHD and/or its consequences, but not for the diagnosis of associated CAD. Predictive values of functional tests used for the diagnosis of CAD may not apply in the presence of VHD and are generally not used in this setting.²⁰

Exercise ECG

The primary purpose of exercise testing is to unmask the objective occurrence of symptoms in patients who claim to be asymptomatic or have doubtful symptoms. Exercise testing has an additional value for risk stratification in AS.²¹ Exercise testing will also determine the level of authorised physical activity, including participation in sports.

Exercise echocardiography

Exercise echocardiography may provide additional information in order to better identify the cardiac origin of dyspnoea—which is a rather unspecific symptom—by showing, for example, an increase in the degree of mitral regurgitation/aortic gradient and in systolic pulmonary pressures. It has a diagnostic value in transient ischaemic MR, which may be overlooked in investigations at

	Aortic regurgitation	Mitral regurgitation		Tricuspid regurgitation
Qualitative				
Valve morphology	Abnormal/flail/large coaptation defect	Flail leaflet/ruptured papillary muscle/ large coaptation defect		Abnormal/flail/large coaptation defect
Colour flow regurgitant jet	Large in central jets, variable in eccentric jets ^a	Very large central jet or eccentric jet adhering, swirling, and reaching the posterior wall of the left atrium		Very large central jet or eccentric wall impinging jet ^a
CW signal of regurgitant jet	Dense	Dense/triangular		Dense/triangular with early peaking (peak <2 m/s in massive TR)
Other	Holodiastolic flow reversal in descending aorta (EDV >20 cm/s)	Large flow convergence zone ^a		-
Semiquantitative				
<i>Vena contracta</i> width (mm)	>6	≥7 (>8 for biplane) ^ь		≥ 7 ª
Upstream vein flow ^c	-	Systolic pulmonary vein flow reversal		Systolic hepatic vein flow reversal
Inflow	-	E-wave dominar	nt ≥1.5 m/s ^d	E-wave dominant ≥1 m/s ^e
Other	Pressure half-time <200 ms ^f	TVI mitral/TVI aortic >1.4		PISA radius >9 mm ^g
Quantitative		Primary	Secondary ^h	
EROA (mm²)	≥30	≥40	≥20	≥40
R Vol (ml/beat)	≥60	≥60	≥30	≥45
+ enlargement of cardiac chambers/vessels	LV	LV, LA		RV, RA, inferior vena cava

Table 5 Echocardiographic criteria for the definition of severe valve regurgitation: an integrative approach

CW = continuous wave; EDV = end-diastolic velocity; EROA = effective regurgitant orifice area; LA = left atrium; LV = left ventricle; PISA = proximal isovelocity surface area; RA = right atrium; RV = right ventricle; R Vol = regurgitant volume; TR = tricuspid regurgitation; TVI = time-velocity integral.

^aAt a Nyquist limit of 50–60 cm/s.

^bFor average between apical four- and two-chamber views.

^cUnless other reasons for systolic blunting (atrial fibrillation, elevated atrial pressure).

^dIn the absence of other causes of elevated left atrial pressure and of mitral stenosis.

^eIn the absence of other causes of elevated right atrial pressure.

^fPressure half-time is shortened with increasing left ventricular diastolic pressure, vasodilator therapy, and in patients with a dilated compliant aorta, or lengthened in chronic aortic regurgitation.

^gBaseline Nyquist limit shift of 28 cm/s.

^hDifferent thresholds are used in secondary MR where an EROA >20mm² and regurgitant volume >30 ml identify a subset of patients at increased risk of cardiac events. Adapted from Lancellotti et al.^{16,17}

rest. The prognostic impact of exercise echocardiography has been mainly shown for AS and MR. However, this technique is not widely accessible, could be technically demanding, and requires specific expertise.

Other stress tests

The search for flow reserve (also called contractile reserve) using low-dose dobutamine stress echocardiography is useful for assessing severity and operative risk stratification in AS with impaired LV function and low gradient.²²

3.1.3.2 Cardiac magnetic resonance

In patients with inadequate echocardiographic quality or discrepant results, cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) should be used to assess the severity of valvular lesions—particularly regurgitant lesions—and to assess ventricular volumes and systolic function, as CMR assesses these parameters with higher reproducibility than echocardiography.²³

CMR is the reference method for the evaluation of RV volumes and function and is therefore useful to evaluate the consequences

of tricuspid regurgitation (TR). In practice, the routine use of CMR is limited because of its limited availability, compared with echocardiography.

3.1.3.3 Computed tomography

Multi-slice computed tomography (MSCT) may contribute to the evaluation of the severity of valve disease, particularly in AS, either indirectly by quantifying valvular calcification, or directly through the measurement of valve planimetry.^{24,25} It is widely used to assess the severity and location of an aneurysm of the ascending aorta. Due to its high negative predictive value, MSCT may be useful in excluding CAD in patients who are at low risk of atherosclerosis.²⁵ MSCT plays an important role in the work-up of high-risk patients with AS considered for TAVI.^{26,27} The risk of radiation exposure—and of renal failure due to contrast injection—should, however, be taken into consideration.

Both CMR and MSCT require the involvement of radiologists/ cardiologists with special expertise in VHD imaging.²⁸

3.1.3.4 Fluoroscopy

Fluoroscopy is more specific than echocardiography for assessing valvular or annular calcification. It is also useful for assessing the kinetics of the occluders of a mechanical prosthesis.

3.1.3.5 Radionuclide angiography

Radionuclide angiography provides a reliable and reproducible evaluation of LV ejection fraction (LVEF) in patients in sinus rhythm. It could be performed when LVEF plays an important role in decision-making, particularly in asymptomatic patients with valvular regurgitation.

3.1.3.6 Biomarkers

B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) serum level has been shown to be related to functional class and prognosis, particularly in AS and MR.²⁹ Evidence regarding its incremental value in risk stratification remains limited so far.

3.1.4 Invasive investigations

Coronary angiography

Coronary angiography is widely indicated for the detection of associated CAD when surgery is planned (*Table 6*).²⁰ Knowledge of coronary anatomy contributes to risk stratification

Table 6Management of coronary artery disease inpatients with valvular heart disease

	Class ^a	Level ^b
Diagnosis of coronary artery disease		
Coronary angiography ^c is recommended before valve surgery in patients with severe valvular heart disease and any of the following: • history of coronary artery disease • suspected myocardial ischaemia ^d • left ventricular systolic dysfunction • in men aged over 40 years and postmenopausal women • ≥1 cardiovascular risk factor.	I	С
Coronary angiography is recommended in the evaluation of secondary mitral regurgitation.	I	U
Indications for myocardial revasculariza	tion	
CABG is recommended in patients with a primary indication for aortic/mitral valve surgery and coronary artery diameter stenosis ≥70%. ^e	I	С
CABG should be considered in patients with a primary indication for aortic/mitral valve surgery and coronary artery diameter stenosis \geq 50–70%.	lla	С

CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting.

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

 $^{\rm c}$ Multi-slice computed tomography may be used to exclude coronary artery disease in patients who are at low risk of atherosclerosis.

^dChest pain, abnormal non-invasive testing.

 $e \ge 50\%$ can be considered for left main stenosis.

Adapted from Wijns et al.²⁰

and determines if concomitant coronary revascularization is indicated.

Coronary angiography can be omitted in young patients with no atherosclerotic risk factors (men <40 years and premenopausal women) and in rare circumstances when its risk outweighs benefit, e.g. in acute aortic dissection, a large aortic vegetation in front of the coronary ostia, or occlusive prosthetic thrombosis leading to an unstable haemodynamic condition.

Cardiac catheterization

The measurement of pressures and cardiac output or the performance of ventricular angiography or aortography are restricted to situations where non-invasive evaluation is inconclusive or discordant with clinical findings. Given its potential risks, cardiac catheterization to assess haemodynamics should not be done routinely with coronary angiography.

3.1.5 Assessment of comorbidity

The choice of specific examinations to assess comorbidity is directed by the clinical evaluation. The most frequently encountered comorbidities are peripheral atherosclerosis, renal and hepatic dysfunction, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Specific validated scores enable the assessment of cognitive and functional capacities which have important prognostic implications in the elderly. The expertise of geriatricians is particularly helpful in this setting.

3.2 Endocarditis prophylaxis

The indication for antibiotic prophylaxis has been significantly reduced in the recent ESC guidelines.¹⁰ Antibiotic prophylaxis should be considered for high-risk procedures in high-risk patients, such as patients with prosthetic heart valves or prosthetic material used for valve repair, or in patients with previous endocarditis or congenital heart disease according to current ESC guidelines. However, the general role of prevention of endocarditis is still very important in all patients with VHD, including good oral hygiene and aseptic measures during catheter manipulation or any invasive procedure, in order to reduce the rate of healthcare-associated infective endocarditis.

3.3 Prophylaxis for rheumatic fever

In patients with rheumatic heart disease, long-term prophylaxis against rheumatic fever is recommended, using penicillin for at least 10 years after the last episode of acute rheumatic fever, or until 40 years of age, whichever is the longest. Lifelong prophylaxis should be considered in high-risk patients according to the severity of VHD and exposure to group A streptococcus.³⁰

3.4 Risk stratification

Several registries worldwide have consistently shown that, in current practice, therapeutic intervention for VHD is underused in high-risk patients with symptoms, for reasons which are often unjustified. This stresses the importance of the widespread use of careful risk stratification.³¹

In the absence of evidence from randomized clinical trials, the decision to intervene in a patient with VHD relies on an individual risk-benefit analysis suggesting that improvement of prognosis, as

	EACTS (2010)	STS (2010)	UK (2004–2008)	Germany (2009)
Aortic valve replacement,	2.9	3.7	2.8	2.9
no CABG (%)	(40 662)	(25 515)	(17 636)	(11 981)
Aortic valve replacement	5.5	4.5	5.3	6.1
+ CABG (%)	(24 890)	(18 227)	(12 491)	(9113)
Mitral valve repair, no CABG (%)	2.1	1.6	2	2
	(3231)	(7293)	(3283)	(3335)
Mitral valve replacement,	4.3	6.0	6.1	7.8
no CABG (%)	(6838)	(5448)	(3614)	(1855)
Mitral valve repair/replacement	6.8/11.4	4.6/11.1	8.3/11.1	6.5/14.5
+CABG (%)	(2515/1612)	(4721/2427)	(2021/1337)	(1785/837)

 Table 7
 Operative mortality after surgery for valvular heart disease

() = number of patients; CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting; EACTS = European Association for Cardiothoracic Surgery;³² STS = Society of Thoracic Surgeons (USA). Mortality for STS includes first and redo interventions;³³ UK = United Kingdom;³⁴ Germany.³⁵

compared with natural history, outweighs the risk of intervention (*Table 7*) and its potential late consequences, particularly prosthesis-related complications.³²⁻³⁵

Operative mortality can be estimated by various multivariable scoring systems using combinations of risk factors.³⁶ The two most widely used scores are the EuroSCORE (European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation; www.euroscore.org/ calc.html) and the STS (Society of Thoracic Surgeons) score (http://209.220.160.181/STSWebRiskCalc261/), the latter having the advantage of being specific to VHD but less user-friendly than the EuroSCORE. Other specific scoring systems have also been developed for VHD.^{37,38} Different scores provide relatively good discrimination (difference between high- and low-risk patients) but lack accuracy in estimating operative mortality in individual patients, due to unsatisfactory calibration (difference between expected and observed risk).³⁹ Calibration is poor in high-risk patients, with an overestimation of the operative risk, in particular with the Logistic EuroSCORE.^{40,41} This underlines the importance of not relying on a single number to assess patient risk, nor to determine unconditionally the indication and type of intervention. The predictive performance of risk scores may be improved by the following means: repeated recalibration of scores over time, as is the case for STS and EuroSCORE with the EuroSCORE II-addition of variables, in particular indices aimed at assessing functional and cognitive capacities and frailty in the elderly-design of separate risk scores for particular subgroups, like the elderly or patients undergoing combined valvular and coronary surgery.42

Similarly, specific scoring systems should be developed to predict outcome after transcatheter valve interventions.

Natural history of VHD should ideally be derived from contemporary series but no scoring system is available in this setting. Certain validated scoring systems enable a patient's life expectancy to be estimated according to age, comorbidities, and indices of cognitive and functional capacity.⁴³ Expected quality of life should also be considered.

Local resources should also be taken into account, in particular the availability of valve repair, as well as outcomes after surgery and percutaneous intervention in the specified centre.⁴⁴ Depending on local expertise, patient transfer to a more specialised centre should be considered for procedures such as complex valve repair.⁴⁵

Finally, a decision should be reached through the process of shared decision-making, first by a multidisciplinary 'heart team' discussion, then by informing the patient thoroughly, and finally by deciding with the patient and family which treatment option is optimal.⁴⁶

3.5 Management of associated conditions

3.5.1 Coronary artery disease

The use of stress tests to detect CAD associated with severe VHD is discouraged because of their low diagnostic value and potential risks.

A summary of the management of associated CAD is given in *Table 6* and detailed in specific guidelines.²⁰

3.5.2 Arrhythmias

Oral anticoagulation with a target international normalized ratio (INR) of 2 to 3 is recommended in patients with native VHD and any type of atrial fibrillation (AF), taking the bleeding risk into account.⁴⁷ A higher level of anticoagulation may be necessary in specific patients with valve prostheses (see Section 11). The substitution of vitamin K antagonists by new agents is not recommended, because specific trials in patients with VHD are not available. Except in cases where AF causes haemodynamic compromise, cardioversion is not indicated before intervention in patients with severe VHD, as it does not restore a durable sinus rhythm. Cardioversion should be attempted soon after successful intervention, except in long-standing chronic AF.

In patients undergoing valve surgery, surgical ablation should be considered in patients with symptomatic AF and may be considered in patients with asymptomatic AF, if feasible with minimal risk.⁴⁷ The decision should be individualized according to clinical variables, such as age, the duration of AF, and left atrial (LA) size.

No evidence supports the systematic surgical closure of the LA appendage, unless as part of AF ablation surgery.

4. Aortic regurgitation

Aortic regurgitation (AR) can be caused by primary disease of the aortic valve leaflets and/or abnormalities of the aortic root geometry. The latter entity is increasingly observed in patients operated on for pure AR in Western countries. Congenital abnormalities, mainly bicuspid morphology, are the second most frequent finding.^{1,12,48} The analysis of the mechanism of AR influences patient management, particularly when valve repair is considered.

4.1 Evaluation

Initial examination should include a detailed clinical evaluation. AR is diagnosed by the presence of a diastolic murmur with the appropriate characteristics. Exaggerated arterial pulsations and low diastolic pressure represent the first and main clinical signs for quantifying AR. In acute AR, peripheral signs are attenuated, which contrasts with a poor clinical status.¹²

The general principles for the use of non-invasive and invasive investigations follow the recommendations made in the *General comments* (Section 3).

The following are specific issues in AR:

• Echocardiography is the key examination in the diagnosis and quantification of AR severity, using colour Doppler (mainly *vena contracta*) and pulsed-wave Doppler (diastolic flow reversal in the descending aorta).^{16,49} Quantitative Doppler echocardiography, using the analysis of proximal isovelocity surface area, is less sensitive to loading conditions, but is less well established than in MR and not used routinely at this time.⁵⁰ The criteria for defining severe AR are described in *Table 5*.

Echocardiography is also important to evaluate regurgitation mechanisms, describe valve anatomy, and determine the feasibility of valve repair.^{16,49} The ascending aorta should be measured at four levels: annulus, sinuses of Valsalva, sino-tubular junction, and ascending aorta.⁵¹ Indexing aortic diameters for BSA should be performed for individuals of small body size. An ascending aortic aneurysm/dilatation, particularly at the sinotubular level, may cause secondary AR.⁵² If valve repair or a valve-sparing intervention is considered, TOE may be performed preoperatively to define the anatomy of the cusps and ascending aorta. Intraoperative TOE is mandatory in aortic valve repair, to assess the functional results and identify patients who are at risk of early recurrence of AR.⁵³

Determining LV function and dimensions is essential. Indexing for BSA is recommended, especially in patients of small body size (BSA $\leq\!1.68~\text{m}^2).^{54}$ New parameters obtained by 3DE and tissue Doppler and strain rate imaging may be useful in the future. 55

 CMR or MSCT scanning are recommended for evaluation of the aorta in patients with Marfan syndrome, or if an enlarged aorta is detected by echocardiography, particularly in patients with bicuspid aortic valves.⁵⁶

4.2 Natural history

Patients with acute severe AR, most frequently caused by infective endocarditis and aortic dissection, have a poor prognosis without intervention due to their haemodynamic instability. Patients with chronic severe AR and symptoms also have a poor long-term prognosis. Once symptoms become apparent, mortality in patients without surgical treatment may be as high as 10–20% per year.⁵⁷

In asymptomatic patients with severe chronic AR and normal LV function, the likelihood of adverse events is low. However, when LV end-systolic diameter (LVESD) is >50 mm, the probability of death, symptoms or LV dysfunction is reported to be 19% per year.^{57–59}

The natural history of ascending aortic and root aneurysm has been best defined for Marfan syndrome.⁶⁰ The strongest predictors of death or aortic complications are the root diameter and a family history of acute cardiovascular events (aortic dissection, sudden death).⁶¹ Uncertainty exists as to how to deal with patients who have other systemic syndromes associated with ascending aorta dilatation, but it appears reasonable to assume a prognosis similar to Marfan syndrome and treat them accordingly. Generally, patients with bicuspid aortic valves have previously been felt to be at increased risk of dissection. More recent evidence indicates that this hazard may be related to the high prevalence of ascending aortic dilatation.⁶² However, despite a higher aortic diameter growth rate, it is currently less clear whether the likelihood of aortic complications is increased, compared with patients with a tricuspid aortic valve of similar aortic size.^{63,64}

4.3 Results of surgery

Treatment of isolated AR has traditionally been by valve replacement. In the past 20 years, repair strategies for the regurgitant aortic valve have been developed for tricuspid aortic valves and congenital anomalies.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ When there is an associated aneurysm of the aortic root, conventional surgical therapy has consisted of the combined replacement of the aorta and valve with reimplantation of the coronary arteries. Valve-sparing aortic replacement is increasingly employed in expert centres, especially in young patients, to treat combined aortic root dilatation and valve regurgitation.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷

Supra-coronary ascending aortic replacement can be performed with or without valve repair when root size is preserved. 67

Replacement of the aortic valve with a pulmonary autograft is less frequently used and is mostly applied in young patients (<30 years).⁶⁸

In current practice, valve replacement remains the most widely used technique but the proportion of valve repair procedures is increasing in experienced centres. Calcification and cusp retraction appear to be the main adverse factors for repair procedures. Operative mortality is low (1-4%) in isolated aortic valve surgery, both for replacement and repair.^{32-35,66} Mortality increases with advanced age, impaired LV function, and the need for concomitant coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG), where it ranges from 3-7%.³²⁻³⁵ The strongest predictors of operative mortality are older age, higher preoperative functional class, LVEF <50%, and LVESD >50 mm. Aortic root surgery with reimplantation of coronary arteries has, in general, a slightly higher mortality than isolated valve surgery. In young individuals, combined treatment of aneurysm of the ascending aorta-with either valve preservation or replacement-can be performed in expert centres with a very low mortality rate.^{66,67} Mortality increases in emergency procedures for acute dissection. Both biological and mechanical prostheses are associated with the long-term risk of valve related complications (see Section 11).

4.4 Indications for surgery

In symptomatic acute severe AR, urgent/emergent surgical intervention is indicated.

In chronic severe AR, the goals of treatment are to prevent death, to diminish symptoms, to prevent the development of HF, and to avoid aortic complications in patients with aortic aneurysm.⁶⁹

On the basis of robust observational evidence, recommended surgical indications are as follows (*Table 8A, B; Figure 1*):

- Symptom onset is an indication for surgery in patients with severe AR. Surgery should also be performed in patients with LV dysfunction or marked LV dilatation after careful exclusion of other possible causes. Although, in these patients, post-operative outcome is worse than in those operated on earlier, an acceptable operative mortality, improvement of symptoms and acceptable longer-term survival can be obtained.^{48,70,71}
- Surgery is indicated in asymptomatic patients with severe AR and impaired LV function (EF <50%) and should be considered if LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD) is >70 mm or LVESD is >50 mm (or >25 mm/m² BSA in patients with small body size), since the likelihood of developing irreversible myocardial dysfunction is high if intervention is delayed further, and

postoperative results are excellent if surgery is performed without delay. Good imaging quality and data confirmation with repeated measurements are recommended before surgery in asymptomatic patients. A rapid worsening of ventricular parameters on serial testing is another reason to consider surgery.

The rationale for surgery in patients with ascending aortic and root dilatation has been best defined in Marfan patients. In borderline cases, the individual and family history, the patient's age, and the anticipated risk of the procedure should be taken into consideration. In patients with Marfan syndrome, surgery should be performed with a lesser degree of dilatation $(\geq$ 50 mm). In previous guidelines, surgery was considered when a rtic diameter was >45 mm. The rationale for this aggressive approach is not justified by clinical evidence in all patients. However, in the presence of risk factors (family history of dissection, size increase >2 mm/year in repeated examinations using the same technique and confirmed by another technique; severe AR; desire to become pregnant), surgery should be considered for a root diameter \geq 45 mm.⁶¹ With an aorta diameter of 40-45 mm, previous aortic growth and family history of dissection are important factors which would indicate advising against pregnancy.⁷² Patients with Marfanoid manifestations due to connective tissue disease, without complete Marfan criteria, should be treated as Marfan patients. In individuals with a bicuspid aortic valve, the decision to

Table 8 Indications for surgery in (A) severe aortic regurgitation and (B) aortic root disease (whatever the severity of aortic regurgitation)

	Class ^a	Level ^b	Ref ^c
A. Indications for surgery in severe aortic regurgitation			
Surgery is indicated in symptomatic patients.	I.	В	59
Surgery is indicated in asymptomatic patients with resting LVEF \leq 50%.	I.	В	71
Surgery is indicated in patients undergoing CABG or surgery of ascending aorta, or on another valve.	- I	С	
Surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with resting EF >50% with severe LV dilatation: LVEDD >70 mm, or LVESD >50 mm or LVESD >25 mm/m ² BSA. ⁴	lla	с	
B. Indications for surgery in aortic root disease (whatever the severity of AR)			
Surgery is indicated in patients who have aortic root disease with maximal ascending aortic diameter ^a ≥50 mm for patients with Marfan syndrome.	I	С	
Surgery should be considered in patients who have aortic root disease with maximal ascending aortic diameter: ≥45 mm for patients with Marfan syndrome with risk factors ⁶ ≥50 mm for patients with bicuspid valve with risk factors ⁸ ≥55 mm for other patients	lla	с	

AR = aortic regurgitation; BSA = body surface area; CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting; EF = ejection fraction; LV = left ventricular; LVEDD = left ventricular end-diastolic diameter; LVESD = left ventricular end-systolic diameter.

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and IIa + IIb (A + B) recommendations.

^dChanges in sequential measurements should be taken into account.

^eDecision should also take into account the shape of the different parts of the aorta. Lower thresholds can be used for combining surgery on the ascending aorta for patients who have an indication for surgery on the aortic valve.

Family history of aortic dissection and/or aortic size increase >2 mm/year (on repeated measurements using the same imaging technique, measured at the same aorta level with side-by-side comparison and confirmed by another technique), severe AR or mitral regurgitation, desire of pregnancy.

^gCoarctation of the aorta, systemic hypertension, family history of dissection or increase in aortic diameter >2 mm/year (on repeated measurements using the same imaging technique, measured at the same aorta level with side-by-side comparison and confirmed by another technique).



^aSee *Table 8* for definition.

^bSurgery must also be considered if significant changes in LV or aortic size occur during follow-up.



consider surgery in aortic diameters ≥ 50 mm should be based on patient age, body size, comorbidities, type of surgery, and the presence of additional risk factors (family history, systemic hypertension, coarctation of the aorta, or increase in aortic diameter >2 mm/year in repeated examinations, using the same technique and confirmed by another technique). In other circumstances, aortic root dilatation ≥ 55 mm indicates that surgery should be performed, irrespective of the degree of AR.⁷³

- For patients who have an indication for surgery on the aortic valve, lower thresholds can be used for concomitant aortic replacement (>45mm) depending on age, BSA, aetiology of valvular disease, presence of a bicuspid aortic valve, and intraoperative shape and thickness of the ascending aorta.⁷⁴
- Lower thresholds of aortic diameters may also be considered in low-risk patients, if valve repair is likely and performed in an experienced centre with high repair rates.

The choice of the surgical procedure is adapted to the experience of the team, the presence of a root aneurysm, characteristics of the leaflets, life expectancy, and desired anticoagulation status.

4.5 Medical therapy

Vasodilators and inotropic agents may be used for short-term therapy to improve the condition of patients with severe HF before proceeding with aortic valve surgery. In individuals with chronic severe AR and HF, vasodilators (angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs)) are useful in the presence of hypertension, when surgery is contraindicated, or LV dysfunction persists postoperatively. A positive effect of these agents, or dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers, in asymptomatic patients without hypertension in order to delay surgery is unproven.⁷⁵

In patients with Marfan syndrome, beta-blockers may slow aortic root dilatation and reduce the risk of aortic complications and

should be considered before and after surgery.⁶¹ Preliminary findings suggest that selective ARBs have an intrinsic effect on the aortic wall by preserving elastin fibres. Their clinical benefit remains to be proven by ongoing trials.

Patients with Marfan syndrome, or others with borderline aortic root diameters approaching the threshold for intervention, should be advised to avoid strenuous physical exercise, competitive, contact, and isometric sports.

Given the family risk of thoracic aortic aneurysms, screening the proband's first-degree relatives with appropriate imaging studies is indicated in Marfan patients and should be considered in bicuspid patients with aortic root disease.

4.6 Serial testing

Patients with mild-to-moderate AR can be reviewed on a yearly basis and echocardiography performed every 2 years. All patients with severe AR and normal LV function should be seen for followup at 6 months after their initial examination. If LV diameter and/or EF show significant changes, or become close to the threshold for intervention, follow-up should be continued at 6-monthly intervals. Patients with stable parameters should be followed annually. In patients with a dilated aorta—and especially in patients with Marfan syndrome or with a bicuspid valve—echocardiography should be performed on a yearly basis. MSCT or preferably CMR are advisable when the distal ascending aorta is not well visualized and/or when the surgical indication may be based on aortic enlargement, rather than LV size or function.

4.7 Special patient populations

If AR requiring surgery is associated with severe MR, both should be operated on.

In patients with moderate AR, who undergo CABG or mitral valve surgery, the decision to treat the aortic valve should be based on the aetiology of the AR, age, worsening of LV function, and the possibility of valve repair.

More detailed information about patients with Marfan syndrome can be found in the ESC Guidelines on grown-up congenital heart disease.¹¹

5. Aortic stenosis

AS has become the most frequent type of VHD in Europe and North America. It primarily presents as calcific AS in adults of advanced age (2-7%) of the population >65 years).^{1,2} The second most frequent aetiology, which dominates in the younger age group, is congenital, whereas rheumatic AS has become rare. Treatment of high surgical risk patients has been modified with the introduction of TAVI.

5.1 Evaluation

Careful questioning, in order to check for the presence of symptoms (exertional shortness of breath, angina, dizziness, or syncope), is critical for proper patient management and must take into account the possibility that patients may deny symptoms as they subconsciously reduce their activities.

The characteristic systolic murmur draws attention and guides further diagnostic work-up. The murmur may occasionally be

faint, however, and primary presentation may be HF of unknown cause. The disappearance of the second aortic sound is specific to severe AS, although not a sensitive sign.¹²

The general principles for the use of invasive and non-invasive investigations follow the recommendations made in the *General comments* (Section 3).

Specific issues in AS are as follows:

 Echocardiography is the key diagnostic tool. It confirms the presence of AS, assesses the degree of valve calcification, LV function and wall thickness, detects the presence of other associated valve disease or aortic pathology, and provides prognostic information.

Doppler echocardiography is the preferred technique for assessing AS severity (Table 4). 15

Transvalvular pressure gradients are flow-dependent and measurement of valve area represents, from a theoretical point of view, the ideal way to quantify AS. Nevertheless, valve area measurements are operator-dependent and are less robust than gradient estimates in clinical practice. Thus, valve area alone, with absolute cut-off points, cannot be relied upon for clinical decision-making and should be considered in combination with flow rate, pressure gradients, ventricular function, size and wall thickness, degree of valve calcification and blood pressure, as well as functional status. Although AS with a valve area $<1.0~{\rm cm}^2$ is considered severe, critical AS is most likely with a valve area $<0.8{\rm cm}^{2.76}$ Indexing to BSA, with a cut-off value of $<0.6~{\rm cm}^2/{\rm m}^2$ BSA may be helpful, particularly in patients with an unusually small BSA.

Severe AS is unlikely if cardiac output (more precisely, transvalvular flow) is normal and there is a mean pressure gradient <40 mmHg. In the presence of low flow, however, lower pressure gradients may be encountered in patients with severe AS (low flow-low gradient AS), although the majority will still present with high gradients. So far, this has mainly been recognized in patients with poor systolic LV function. However, when the mean gradient is <40 mmHg, a small valve area does not definitely confirm severe AS, since mild-to-moderately diseased valves may not open fully, resulting in a 'functionally small valve area' (pseudosevere AS).⁷⁷ Low dose dobutamine echocardiography may be helpful in this setting, to distinguish truly severe AS from pseudosevere AS. Truly severe AS shows only small changes in valve area (increase <0.2 cm² and remaining <1 cm²) with increasing flow rate, but a significant increase in gradients (mean gradient >40 mmHg), whereas pseudo-severe AS shows a marked increase in valve area but only minor changes in gradients.²² In addition, this test may detect the presence of flow reserve, also termed contractile reserve (increase >20% of stroke volume), which has prognostic implications.^{22,78}

More recently, the possible presence of severe AS in patients with valve area $<1.0 \text{ cm}^2$ and mean gradient <40 mmHg, despite preserved LVEF, has been suggested, introducing the new entity of 'paradoxical low flow (stroke volume index $<35 \text{ ml/m}^2$), low gradient (mean gradient <40 mmHg) AS with preserved LVEF⁷⁶ This appears to be typically encountered in the elderly and is associated with small ventricular size, marked LV hypertrophy, and a history of hypertension. This subset of AS patients

remains challenging. It has also been demonstrated that patients presenting with small valve area-but low gradients despite normal LVEF-may indeed frequently have moderate AS.⁷⁹ It must be recognized that there may frequently be reasons other than an underlying severe AS for this combination of measurements: firstly, Doppler measurements tend to underestimate flow, resulting in eventual underestimation of valve area and erroneous assumption of 'low flow conditions';¹⁵ secondly, small body size may be present; ¹⁵ and thirdly, the cut-offs for gradients are not entirely consistent. It has been demonstrated that the generation of a mean gradient of 40 mmHg requires a valve area closer to 0.8 \mbox{cm}^2 than 1.0 $\mbox{cm}^{2.76}$ Thus, diagnosis of severe AS in this setting requires careful exclusion of these other reasons for such echo findings before making the decision to intervene. In addition to more detailed echocardiographic measurements, this may require CMR and catheterization. Since such patients are typically elderly, with hypertension and other comorbidities, the evaluation remains difficult even after confirmation of haemodynamic data. LV hypertrophy and fibrosis, as well as symptoms or elevation of neurohormones, may be partially due to hypertensive heart disease and not help to reassure severe AS patients. Furthermore, it remains unclear how to exclude pseudo-severe AS in this setting. Evaluation of the degree of calcification by MSCT may also be helpful.²⁴

When hypertension is present, the severity should be reassessed when the patient is normotensive. $^{\rm 15}$

Exercise stress echocardiography may provide prognostic information in asymptomatic severe AS by assessing the increase in mean pressure gradient and change in LV function with exercise.^{21,80,81}

TOE is rarely helpful for the quantification of AS, as valve area planimetry becomes difficult in calcified valves.¹⁵ TOE may, however, provide additional evaluation of mitral valve abnormalities and has gained importance in assessing annulus diameter before TAVI and in guiding the procedure.^{26,27,82}

• Exercise testing is contraindicated in symptomatic patients with AS. On the other hand, it is recommended in physically active patients for unmasking symptoms and in the risk stratification of asymptomatic patients with severe AS.^{21,83} Then again, breathlessness on exercise may be difficult to interpret and is non-specific in patients with low physical activity levels, particularly the elderly. Exercise testing is safe in asymptomatic patients, provided it is performed under the supervision of an experienced physician while monitoring for the presence of symptoms, changes in blood pressure, and/or ECG changes.^{21,83}

• MSCT and CMR provide additional information on the assessment of the ascending aorta when it is enlarged. MSCT may be useful in quantifying the valve area and coronary calcification, which aids in assessing prognosis. MSCT has become an important diagnostic tool for evaluation of the aortic root, the distribution of calcium, the number of leaflets, the ascending aorta, and peripheral artery pathology and dimensions before undertaking TAVI.^{26,27}

Measurements of the aortic annulus obtained by multi-modality imaging differ between techniques and, hence, should be interpreted with caution before TAVI.²⁶ Thus, an integrative approach is recommended.

CMR may also be useful for the detection and quantification of myocardial fibrosis, providing additional prognostic information in symptomatic patients without CAD.⁸⁴

• Natriuretic peptides have been shown to predict symptomfree survival and outcome in normal- and low-flow severe AS and may be useful in asymptomatic patients.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷

• Retrograde LV catheterization to assess the severity of AS is seldom needed and should only be used when non-invasive evaluation remains inconclusive.

Finally, the search for comorbidities is essential in this patient population.

5.2 Natural history

Calcific AS is a chronic, progressive disease. During a long latent period, patients remain asymptomatic.^{88–91} The duration of the asymptomatic phase varies widely between individuals. Sudden cardiac death is a frequent cause of death in symptomatic patients but appears to be rare in the truly asymptomatic (<1% per year), even in very severe AS.⁸⁸⁻⁹¹ In asymptomatic patients with severe AS, reported average event-free survival at 2 years ranged from 20% to more than 50%.^{88–91} The lower estimates of event-free survival must, however, be viewed with caution, since some patients in these studies underwent surgery without symptoms.

A number of risk factors have been reported in asymptomatic severe AS. However, it has to be emphasized that these factors have, in general, been demonstrated to be predictors of event-free survival, which was driven by development of symptoms requiring intervention in the majority of cases. Then again, it remains uncertain whether patients benefit from early surgery, before symptom onset, in the presence of these risk factors. Predictors of symptom development and adverse outcomes in asymptomatic patients are as follows:

- Clinical: older age, presence of atherosclerotic risk factors.
- Echocardiography: valve calcification, peak aortic jet velocity,^{88–91} LVEF,⁹⁰ rate of haemodynamic progression,⁸⁹ increase in gradient with exercise,^{80,81} excessive LV hypertrophy,⁹² and abnormal tissue Doppler parameters of systolic and diastolic LV function.⁸⁷
- Exercise testing: discovery of symptoms during exercise testing in physically active patients, particularly those younger than 70 years, predicts a very high likelihood of symptom development within 12 months. Abnormal blood pressure response and—to an even greater degree—ST-segment depression have a lower positive predictive value than symptoms for prediction of poor outcome.⁹³
- Biomarkers: elevated plasma levels of natriuretic peptides, although the precise values are not well defined.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷

As soon as symptoms occur, the prognosis of severe AS is dismal, with survival rates of only 15-50% at 5 years. The data on the spontaneous outcome of patients with low gradient and normal EF are still controversial.⁷⁹

5.3 Results of intervention

Aortic valve replacement (AVR) is the definitive therapy for severe AS. In contemporary series, operative mortality of isolated AVR for

AS is $\sim\!1{-}3\%$ in patients younger than 70 years and 4–8% in selected older adults (Table 7).^{1,12,32-35,40,41,94-97} The following factors have been shown to increase the risk of operative mortality: older age, associated comorbidities, female gender, higher functional class, emergency operation, LV dysfunction, pulmonary hypertension, co-existing CAD, and previous bypass or valve surgery. After successful AVR, symptoms and quality of life are in general greatly improved. Long-term survival may be close to the age-matched general population in older patients. In younger patients, there is substantial improvement compared to conservative medical therapy: nevertheless, compared to age-matched controls, a lower survival may be expected. Risk factors for late death include age, comorbidities, severe symptoms, LV dysfunction, ventricular arrhythmias, and untreated co-existing CAD. In addition, poor postoperative outcome may result from prosthesis-related complications and suboptimal prosthetic valve haemodynamic performance.

Surgery has been shown to prolong and improve quality of life, even in selected patients over 80 years of age.^{94–97} Age, *per se*, should therefore not be considered a contraindication for surgery. Nevertheless, a large percentage of suitable candidates are currently not referred for surgery.^{4,6}

Balloon valvuloplasty plays an important role in the paediatric population but a very limited role, when used in isolation, in adults: this is because its efficacy is low, the complication rate is high (>10%), and restenosis and clinical deterioration occur within 6–12 months in most patients, resulting in a mid- and long-term outcome similar to natural history.⁹⁸

In patients with high surgical risk, TAVI has been shown to be feasible (procedural success rates >90%) using transfemoral, transapical or, less commonly, subclavian or direct trans-aortic access.^{97,99-107} In the absence of anatomical contraindications, a transfemoral approach is the preferred technique in most centres, although no direct comparisons are available between transfemoral, transapical or other approaches. Similarly, there is no direct comparison between the available devices. Reported 30-day mortality rates range from 5-15%.99-101,103-106 The main procedure-related complications include: stroke ($\sim 1-$ 5%); need for new pacemaker (up to 7% for the balloonexpanded system and up to 40% for the self-expanding);^{99,103} and vascular complications (up to 20%).^{97,99} Paravalvular regurgitation is common, although reported to be trace or mild in the majority of patients and rarely clinically relevant whereas more than mild AR may have an impact on long-term survival.^{103,105} This remains a concern and requires further careful follow-up and critical evaluation. Approximately 1-2% of TAVI patients require immediate cardiac surgery for life-threatening complications.¹⁰⁰

TAVI provides haemodynamic results, in terms of gradient and valve area, that are slightly superior to conventional bioprostheses.⁹⁷

Reported 1-year survival for TAVI ranges from 60–80%, largely depending on the severity of comorbidities.^{97,99,102,103,105,107,108} Most survivors experience significant improvement of health status and quality of life. However, the matter of long-term durability of these valves still has to be addressed, although 3–5 year results are promising.¹⁰⁸

The recent Valve Academic Research Consortium statement provides a standardized definition for end points after TAVI, which will enable a more accurate comparison between devices and approaches.¹⁰⁹

Patients considered not suitable for AVR after surgical consultation clearly benefit from TAVI, compared with conservative treatment including balloon valvuloplasty, as demonstrated by a randomized trial (1-year mortality 31% vs. 51% and significantly better symptomatic improvement, with fewer repeat hospitalizations).⁹⁹ The first randomized trial comparing TAVI and surgical AVR in high-risk but operable patients showed TAVI to be noninferior for all-cause mortality at 1 year (24.2% vs. 26.8%), with marked functional improvement in both groups.⁹⁷ The analysis of secondary end points showed that TAVI carried a higher risk of cerebrovascular events and vascular complications and a higher incidence of paravalvular leaks, although mostly trace and mild. Conversely, bleeding and postoperative AF were more frequent after surgery. The interpretation of the results of the PARTNER trials should take into account the specific indications and contraindications for TAVI and the surgical and interventional expertise of the centres involved.97,99

5.4 Indications for intervention

5.4.1 Indications for aortic valve replacement

The indications for AVR are shown in Table 9 and Figure 2.

Early valve replacement should be strongly recommended in all symptomatic patients with severe AS who are otherwise candidates for surgery. As long as the mean gradient remains >40 mmHg, there is virtually no lower EF limit for surgery.

The management of patients with classical low-flow, lowgradient AS (valve area <1 cm², EF <40%, mean gradient <40 mmHg) is more difficult. If depressed EF is predominantly caused by excessive afterload (afterload mismatch), LV function usually improves after surgery.^{22,79,110} Conversely, improvement in LV function after AVR is uncertain if the primary cause is scarring due to extensive myocardial infarction or cardiomyopathy. In patients with low gradients and evidence of flow reserve, surgery is advised since it carries an acceptable risk and improves longterm outcome in most patients.²² Although the outcome of patients without flow reserve is compromised by a higher operative mortality, AVR has been shown to improve EF and clinical status in such patients.^{22,78,110} Final decision-making should take into account the patient's clinical condition (in particular, the presence and extent of comorbidities), the degree of valve calcification, the extent of coronary disease, and the feasibility of revascularization. The newly recognized entity of paradoxical low flow, low gradient AS with normal EF requires special attention because of the limited amount of data on the natural history and outcome after surgery.^{76,79} In such cases, surgery should be performed only when symptoms are present and if comprehensive evaluation suggests significant valve obstruction.

Management of asymptomatic severe AS remains a matter of controversy. Recent studies do not provide convincing data to support the general recommendation of early AVR, even in patients with asymptomatic, very severe AS.^{88–91,111,112} The decision to operate on asymptomatic patients requires careful weighing of the benefits against the risks.

Table 9 Indications for aortic valve replacement in aortic stenosis

	Class ^a	Level ^b	Ref ^c
AVR is indicated in patients with severe AS and any symptoms related to AS.	1	В	12, 89, 94
AVR is indicated in patients with severe AS undergoing CABG, surgery of the ascending aorta or another valve.	- I	с	
AVR is indicated in asymptomatic patients with severe AS and systolic LV dysfunction (LVEF <50%) not due to another cause.	I.	с	
AVR is indicated in asymptomatic patients with severe AS and abnormal exercise test showing symptoms on exercise clearly related to AS.	1	с	
AVR should be considered in high risk patients with severe symptomatic AS who are suitable for TAVI, but in whom surgery is favoured by a 'heart team' based on the individual risk profile and anatomic suitability.	lla	в	97
AVR should be considered in asymptomatic patients with severe AS and abnormal exercise test showing fall in blood pressure below baseline.	lla	с	
AVR should be considered in patients with moderate AS ^d undergoing CABG, surgery of the ascending aorta or another valve.	lla	с	
AVR should be considered in symptomatic patients with low flow, low gradient (<40 mmHg) AS with normal EF only after careful confirmation of severe AS. ^e	lla	с	
AVR should be considered in symptomatic patients with severe AS, low flow, low gradient with reduced EF, and evidence of flow reserve. ¹	lla	с	
AVR should be considered in asymptomatic patients, with normal EF and none of the above mentioned exercise test abnormalities, if the surgical risk is low, and one or more of the following findings is present: • Very severe AS defined by a peak transvalvular velocity >5.5 m/s or, • Severe valve calcification and a rate of peak transvalvular velocity progression ≥0.3 m/s per year.	lla	с	
AVR may be considered in symptomatic patients with severe AS low flow, low gradient, and LV dysfunction without flow reserve. ^f	ПР	с	
AVR may be considered in asymptomatic patients with severe AS, normal EF and none of the above mentioned exercise test abnormalities, if surgical risk is low, and one or more of the following findings is present: • Markedly elevated natriuretic peptide levels confirmed by repeated measurements and without other explanations • Increase of mean pressure gradient with exercise by >20 mmHg • Excessive LV hypertrophy in the absence of hypertension.	Шь	с	

AS = aortic stenosis; AVR = aortic valve replacement; BSA = body surface area; CABG = coronary artery bypass graft surgery; EF = ejection fraction; LV = left ventricular; LVEF = left ventricular ejection fraction; TAVI = transcatheter aortic valve implantation.

^aClass of recommendation. ^bLevel of evidence.

^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and Ila + Ilb (A + B) recommendations.

^dModerate AS is defined as valve area 1.0–1.5 cm² (0.6 cm²/m² to 0.9 cm²/m² BSA) or mean aortic gradient 25–40 mmHg in the presence of normal flow conditions. However, clinical judgement is required.

^eIn patients with a small valve area but low gradient despite preserved LVEF, explanations for this finding (other than the presence of severe AS) are frequent and must be carefully excluded. See text (evaluation of AS).

^fAlso termed contractile reserve.

Early elective surgery is indicated in the very rare asymptomatic patients with depressed LV function that is not due to other causes or in those with an abnormal exercise test, particularly with symptom development. It should also be considered in the patients presenting a fall in blood pressure below baseline.^{21,83,90,93}

Surgery should be considered in patients at low operative risk, with normal exercise performance, and:

- very severe AS defined by a peak velocity $>5.5 \mathrm{m/s}, ^{91,112}$ or
- combination of severe valve calcification with a rapid increase in peak transvalvular velocity of ≥0.3 m/s per year.⁸⁹

Surgery may also be considered in patients at low operative risk with normal exercise performance but one of the following:

- markedly elevated natriuretic peptide levels confirmed by repeated measurements without other explanations,⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷
- \bullet increase of mean pressure gradient with exercise by ${>}20 \text{ mmHg}, ^{80,81}$ or
- excessive LV hypertrophy without history of hypertension.⁹²

In patients without the preceding predictive factors, watchful waiting appears safe as early surgery is unlikely to be beneficial.

5.4.2 Indications for balloon valvuloplasty

Balloon valvuloplasty may be considered as a bridge to surgery or TAVI in haemodynamically unstable patients who are at high risk for surgery, or in patients with symptomatic severe AS who require urgent major non-cardiac surgery (recommendation class



Figure 2 Management of severe aortic stenosis. The management of patients with low gradient and low ejection fraction is detailed in the text.

IIb, level of evidence C). Balloon valvuloplasty may also be considered as a palliative measure in selected individual cases when surgery is contraindicated because of severe comorbidities and TAVI is not an option.

5.4.3 Indications for transcatheter aortic valve implantation

TAVI should only be performed in hospitals with cardiac surgery on-site. A 'heart team' that assesses individual patient's risks, as

Absolute contraindications Absence of a 'heart team' and no cardiac surgery on the site Appropriateness of TAVI, as an alternative to AVR, not confirmed by a 'heart team' Clinical Estimated life expectancy <1 year Improvement of quality of life by TAVI unlikely because of comorbidities Severe primary associated disease of other valves with major contribution to the patient's symptoms, that can be treated only by surgery Anatomical Inadequate annulus size (<18 mm, >29 mm^a) Thrombus in the left ventricle Active endocarditis Elevated risk of coronary ostium obstruction (asymmetric valve calcification, short distance between annulus and coronary ostium, small aortic sinuses) Plaques with mobile thrombi in the ascending aorta, or arch For transfemoral/subclavian approach: inadequate vascular access (vessel size, calcification, tortuosity) **Relative contraindications** Bicuspid or non-calcified valves Untreated coronary artery disease requiring revascularization Haemodynamic instability LVEF <20% For transapical approach: severe pulmonary disease, LV apex not accessible

Table 10 Contraindications for transcatheter aortic valve implantation

AVR = aortic valve replacement; LV = left ventricle; LVEF = left ventricular ejection fraction; TAVI = transcatheter aortic valve implantation. ^aContraindication when using the current devices.

well as the technical suitability of TAVI and access issues, should be best able to make decisions in this patient population.¹¹³

Contraindications, both clinical and anatomical, should be identified (*Table 10*). Eligible patients should have a life expectancy of more than 1 year and should also be likely to gain improvement in their quality of life, taking into account their comorbidities.

Based on current data, TAVI is recommended in patients with severe symptomatic AS who are, according to the 'heart team', considered unsuitable for conventional surgery because of severe comorbidities (*Table 11; Figure 2*).

Among high-risk patients who are still candidates for surgery, the decision should be individualized. TAVI should be considered as an alternative to surgery in those patients for whom the 'heart team' favours TAVI, taking into consideration the respective advantages/disadvantages of both techniques. A logistic Euro-SCORE \geq 20% has been suggested as an indication for TAVI therapy but EuroSCORE is known to markedly overestimate operative mortality.¹¹³ Use of the STS scoring system > 10% may result in a more realistic assessment of operative risk.⁴⁰ On the other hand, frailty and conditions such as porcelain aorta, history of chest radiation or patent coronary bypass grafts may make patients less suitable for AVR despite a logistic EuroSCORE < 20%/STS score < 10%. In the absence of a perfect quantitative score, the risk assessment should mostly rely on the clinical judgement of the 'heart team', in addition to the combination of scores.¹¹³

At the present stage, TAVI should not be performed in patients at intermediate risk for surgery and trials are required in this population.

5.5 Medical therapy

The progression of degenerative AS is an active process, sharing a number of similarities with atherosclerosis. Although several retrospective reports have shown beneficial effects of statins and ACE inhibitors, randomized trials have consistently shown that statins do not affect the progression of AS.^{114,115} Statin therapy should therefore not be used in AS patients where their only purpose is to slow progression. On the other hand, modification of atherosclerotic risk factors must be strongly recommended, following the guidelines of secondary prevention in atherosclerosis.¹¹⁶

Symptomatic patients require early intervention, because no medical therapy for AS is able to improve outcome, compared with the natural history. However, patients who are unsuitable candidates for surgery or TAVI—or who are currently awaiting a surgical or TAVI procedure—may be treated with digoxin, diuretics, ACE inhibitors, or ARBs if they experience HF symptoms. Co-existing hypertension should be treated.

However, treatment should be carefully titrated to avoid hypotension and patients should be re-evaluated frequently.

Maintenance of sinus rhythm is important.

5.6 Serial testing

In the asymptomatic patient, the wide variability of the rate of progression of AS heightens the need for patients to be carefully educated about the importance of follow-up and reporting symptoms as soon as they develop. Stress tests should determine the recommended level of physical activity. Follow-up visits should include

Recommendations	Class ^a	Level ^b	Ref ^c
TAVI should only be undertaken with a multidisciplinary 'heart team' including cardiologists and cardiac surgeons and other specialists if necessary.	I	с	
TAVI should only be performed in hospitals with cardiac surgery on-site.	I	с	
TAVI is indicated in patients with severe symptomatic AS who are not suitable for AVR as assessed by a 'heart team' and who are likely to gain improvement in their quality of life and to have a life expectancy of more than I year after consideration of their comorbidities.	I	В	99
TAVI should be considered in high-risk patients with severe symptomatic AS who may still be suitable for surgery, but in whom TAVI is favoured by a 'heart team' based on the individual risk profile and anatomic suitability.	lla	В	97

Table IIRecommendations for the use oftranscatheter aortic valve implantation

 $\mathsf{AS}=\mathsf{aortic}\xspace$ stenosis; $\mathsf{AVR}=\mathsf{aortic}\xspace$ replacement; $\mathsf{TAVI}=\mathsf{transcatheter}\xspace$ aortic valve implantation.

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and IIa + IIb (A + B) recommendations.

echocardiography with a focus on haemodynamic progression, LV function and hypertrophy, and the ascending aorta. Type and interval of follow-up should be determined on the basis of the initial examination.

Asymptomatic severe AS should be re-evaluated at least every 6 months for the occurrence of symptoms, change in exercise tolerance (ideally using exercise testing if symptoms are doubtful), and change in echo parameters. Measurement of natriuretic peptides may be considered.

In the presence of significant calcification, mild and moderate AS should be re-evaluated yearly. In younger patients with mild AS and no significant calcification, intervals may be extended to 2 to 3 years.

5.7 Special patient populations

Combined AVR and CABG carries a higher risk than isolated AVR.^{32–35} However, AVR late after CABG is also associated with significantly increased risk. Although there are no prospective randomized trials, data from retrospective analyses indicate that patients in whom CABG is indicated—and who have moderate AS (mean gradient in the presence of normal flow 25–40 mmHg,

valve area $1.0-1.5 \text{ cm}^2$)—will, in general, benefit from concomitant AVR. It has also been suggested that if age is <70 years and, more importantly, an average rate of AS progression of 5 mmHg per year is documented, patients may benefit from valve replacement at the time of coronary surgery once the baseline peak gradient exceeds 30 mmHg.¹¹⁷ Individual judgement is recommended, taking into consideration BSA, haemodynamic data, leaflet calcification, progression rate of AS, patient life expectancy and associated comorbidities, as well as the individual risk of either concomitant valve replacement or late reoperation.

Patients with severe symptomatic AS and diffuse CAD that cannot be revascularized should not be denied AVR, even though this is a high-risk group.

A few studies have recommended the potential use of percutaneous coronary intervention in place of CABG in patients with AS. However, currently the available data are not sufficient to recommend this approach, apart from selected high-risk patients with acute coronary syndromes or in patients with non-severe AS.

Combined percutaneous coronary intervention and TAVI have been shown to be feasible, but require more data before a firm recommendation can be made. The question of whether to proceed, as well as the chronology of interventions, should be the subject of individualized discussion, based on the patient's clinical condition, coronary anatomy, and myocardium at risk.

When MR is associated with severe AS, its severity may be overestimated in the presence of the high ventricular pressures and careful quantification is required (see *General comments*, Section 3). As long as there are no morphological leaflet abnormalities (flail or prolapse, post-rheumatic changes, or signs of infective endocarditis), mitral annulus dilatation or marked abnormalities of LV geometry, surgical intervention on the mitral valve is in general not necessary and non-severe secondary MR usually improves after the aortic valve is treated.

Concomitant aneurysm/dilatation of the ascending aorta requires the same treatment as in AR (see Section 4).

For congenital AS, see the ESC Guidelines on grown-up congenital heart disease.¹¹

6. Mitral regurgitation

In Europe, MR is the second most frequent valve disease requiring surgery.¹ Treatment has been redefined as a result of the good results of valve repair. This section deals separately with primary and secondary MR, according to the mechanism of MR.¹¹⁸ In the rare cases where both mechanisms are present, one of them is usually predominant and will guide the management.

6.1 Primary mitral regurgitation

Primary MR covers all aetiologies in which intrinsic lesions affect one or several components of the mitral valve apparatus. Reduced incidence of rheumatic fever and increased lifespan in industrialized countries have progressively changed the distribution of aetiologies, with degenerative MR now being the most common.^{1,2,12} Endocarditis is dealt with in separate, specific ESC Guidelines.¹⁰ 2470

6.1.1 Evaluation

Acute mitral regurgitation

Acute MR due to papillary muscle rupture should be considered in patients presenting with acute pulmonary oedema or shock following acute myocardial infarction. Physical examination may be misleading: in particular, the murmur may be soft or inaudible and echocardiographic colour Doppler flow may underestimate the severity of the lesion. The diagnosis is suggested by the demonstration of hyperdynamic function in the presence of acute HF, underpinning the importance of urgent echocardiography in this setting.^{12,119}

Acute MR may also be caused by infective endocarditis or trauma.

Chronic mitral regurgitation

Clinical examination usually provides the first clues that MR is present and may be significant, as suggested by the intensity and duration of the systolic murmur and the presence of the third heart sound.¹²

The general principles for the use of invasive and non-invasive investigations follow the recommendations made in the *General comments* (Section 3).

Specific issues in MR are as follows:

 Echocardiography is the principal investigation and must include an assessment of severity, mechanisms, repairability, and consequences.¹⁷

The criteria for defining severe primary MR are described in *Table 5*. Several methods can be used to determine the severity of MR. Planimetry of the regurgitant jet should be abandoned, as this measurement is poorly reproducible and depends on numerous factors. Measurement of the width of the *vena contracta*, the narrowest part of the jet, is more accurate. When feasible—and bearing in mind its limitations—the proximal isovelocity surface area (PISA) method is the recommended approach for the assessment of severity requires integration of Doppler and morphological information and careful cross-checking of the validity of such data against the effects on the LV, LA, and pulmonary pressures (*Table 5*).¹⁷

TTE can provide precise anatomical definition of the different lesions, which must be related to the segmental and functional anatomy according to the Carpentier classification in order to assess the feasibility of repair. TTE also assesses mitral annular dimensions.¹⁷

TOE is frequently undertaken when planning surgery for this purpose, although when images are of sufficiently high quality, TTE—in experienced hands—can be sufficient.¹²⁰ Overall, it should be stressed that the preoperative assessment of valve repairability requires experience.¹⁷

The results of mitral valve repair must be assessed intraoperatively by TOE to enable immediate further surgical correction if necessary.

3DE TOE may provide more information.¹²¹ The consequences of MR on the heart are assessed using echocardiography by measuring LA volume, LV size and EF, systolic pulmonary arterial pressure, and RV function.

- Determination of functional capacity, assessed by cardiopulmonary exercise testing, may aid the assessment.¹²² In experienced hands, exercise echocardiography is useful to quantify exercise-induced changes in MR, in systolic pulmonary artery pressure, and in LV function.^{21,123,124} New tools, such as cardiopulmonary exercise testing, global longitudinal strain (measured by the speckle tracking method), and exercise-induced changes in LV volumes, EF and global strain may predict postoperative LV dysfunction.¹²⁴
- Neurohormonal activation in MR has been evaluated, with several studies suggesting the value of elevated BNP levels and a change in BNP as predictors of outcome. A cut-off BNP value ≥ 105 pg/ml determined in a derivation cohort was prospectively validated in a separate cohort and helped to identify asymptomatic patients at higher risk of developing HF, LV dysfunction or death on mid-term follow-up.¹²⁵ Low-plasma BNP has a high negative predictive value and may be helpful for the follow-up of asymptomatic patients.¹²⁶

6.1.2 Natural history

Acute MR is poorly tolerated and carries a poor prognosis in the absence of intervention. In patients with chordal rupture, the clinical condition may stabilize after an initial symptomatic period. However, left unoperated, it carries a poor spontaneous prognosis owing to subsequent development of pulmonary hypertension.

In asymptomatic severe chronic MR, the estimated 5-year rates of death from any cause, death from cardiac causes, and cardiac events (death from cardiac causes, HF, or new AF with medical management) have been reported to be $22 \pm 3\%$, $14 \pm 3\%$, and $33 \pm 3\%$, respectively.¹¹⁸ In addition to symptoms, the following were all found to be predictors of poor outcome: age, AF, severity of MR (particularly EROA), pulmonary hypertension, LA dilatation, increased LVESD, and low LVEF.^{118,127–133}

6.1.3 Results of surgery

Despite the absence of a randomized comparison between the results of valve replacement and repair, it is widely accepted that, when feasible, valve repair is the optimal surgical treatment in patients with severe MR. When compared with valve replacement, repair has a lower perioperative mortality, improved survival, better preservation of postoperative LV function, and lower long-term morbidity (*Table 7*).

Beside symptoms, the most important predictors of postoperative outcome are: age, AF, preoperative LV function, pulmonary hypertension, and repairability of the valve. The best results of surgery are observed in patients with a preoperative EF >60%. While a cut-off of 45 mm has previously been generally accepted, in MR due to flail leaflet, LVESD \geq 40 mm (\geq 22 mm/m² BSA) has been shown to be independently associated with increased mortality with medical treatment, as opposed to mitral surgery.¹³¹ In addition to the initial measurements, the temporal changes of LV dimensions and systolic function should also be taken into account when making decisions about the timing of surgery, but these require further validation.¹³³

The probability of a durable valve repair is of crucial importance. Degenerative MR due to segmental valve prolapse can usually be repaired with a low risk of reoperation. The repairability of rheumatic lesions, extensive valve prolapse, and (even more so) MR with leaflet calcification or extensive annulus calcification is not as consistent, even in experienced hands.¹³⁴ In current practice, surgical expertise in mitral valve repair is growing and becoming widespread.¹³⁵

Patients with predictable complex repair should undergo surgery in experienced repair centres with high repair rates and low operative mortality. $^{32-35,44,135}$

When repair is not feasible, mitral valve replacement with preservation of the subvalvular apparatus is preferred.

6.1.4 Percutaneous intervention

Catheter-based interventions have been developed to correct MR percutaneously. The only one which has been evaluated in organic MR is the edge-to-edge procedure. Data from the EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge REpair STudy) trials ¹³⁶ and the results of registries in Europe¹³⁷ and the USA suggest that the MitraClip procedure has a procedural success rate (i.e. postprocedural MR \leq 2+) of around 75%, is relatively safe and generally well-tolerated, even by patients in poor clinical condition. One-year freedom from death, mitral valve surgery or more than moderate MR is 55%. The procedure reduces MR less effectively than mitral valve surgery. The follow-up remains limited to a maximum of 2 years and recurrence-or worsening of MR-is more likely to occur during follow-up since 20% of patients required reintervention within 1 year in EVEREST II. The applicability of the procedure is limited because precise echocardiographic criteria have to be respected to make a patient eligible.¹³⁶ Mitral valve repair has been reported after an unsuccessful clip procedure, although valve replacement may be necessary in up to 50% of such patients.

6.1.5 Indications for intervention

Urgent surgery is indicated in patients with acute severe MR. Rupture of a papillary muscle necessitates urgent surgical treatment after stabilization of haemodynamic status, using an intra-aortic balloon pump, positive inotropic agents and, when possible, vasodilators. Valve surgery consists of valve replacement in most cases.¹¹⁹

The indications for surgery in severe chronic primary MR are shown in *Table 12* and *Figure 3*.

The decision of whether to replace or repair depends mostly on valve anatomy, surgical expertise available, and the patient's condition.

Surgery is indicated in patients who have symptoms due to chronic MR, but no contraindications to surgery.

When LVEF is <30%, a durable surgical repair can still improve symptoms, although the effect on survival is largely unknown. In this situation, the decision on whether to operate will take into account the response to medical therapy, comorbidity, and the likelihood of successful valve repair.

Percutaneous edge-to-edge procedure may be considered in patients with symptomatic severe primary MR who fulfil the echo criteria of eligibility, are judged inoperable or at high surgical risk by a 'heart team', and have a life expectancy greater than 1 year (recommendation class IIb, level of evidence C).

Table 12 Indications for surgery in severe primary mitral regurgitation

	Class ^a	Level ^b	R ef ^c
Mitral valve repair should be the preferred technique when it is expected to be durable.	I	С	
Surgery is indicated in symptomatic patients with LVEF >30% and LVESD <55 mm.	I	В	127, 128
Surgery is indicated in asymptomatic patients with LV dysfunction (LVESD ≥45 mm and/or LVEF ≤60%).	I	С	
Surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with preserved LV function and new onset of atrial fibrillation or pulmonary hypertension (systolic pulmonary pressure at rest >50 mmHg).	lla	С	
Surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with preserved LV function, high likelihood of durable repair, low surgical risk and flail leaflet and LVESD ≥40 mm.	lla	С	
Surgery should be considered in patients with severe LV dysfunction (LVEF <30% and/ or LVESD >55 mm) refractory to medical therapy with high likelihood of durable repair and low comorbidity.	lla	с	
Surgery may be considered in patients with severe LV dysfunction (LVEF <30% and/ or LVESD >55 mm) refractory to medical therapy with low likelihood of durable repair and low comorbidity.	ШЬ	U	
Surgery may be considered in asymptomatic patients with preserved LV function, high likelihood of durable repair, low surgical risk, and: • left atrial dilatation (volume index ≥60 ml/m ² BSA) and sinus rhythm, or • pulmonary hypertension on exercise (SPAP ≥60 mmHg at exercise).	IIb	с	

BSA = body surface area; LV = left ventricle; LVEF = left ventricular ejection fraction; LVESD = left ventricular end-systolic diameter; SPAP = systolic pulmonary artery pressure. ^aClass of recommendation. ^bLevel of evidence. ^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and IIa + IIb (A + B) recommendations.

The management of asymptomatic patients is controversial as there are no randomized trials to support any particular course of action; however, surgery can be proposed in selected asymptomatic patients with severe MR, in particular when repair is likely.^{138,139}





In patients with signs of LV dysfunction (LVEF $\leq\!60\%$ and/or LVESD $\geq\!45$ mm), surgery is indicated, even in patients with a high likelihood of valve replacement. Lower LVESD values can be used in patients of small stature.

If LV function is preserved, surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with new onset AF or pulmonary hypertension (systolic pulmonary arterial pressure >50 mmHg at rest).⁴⁷

Recent prospective studies have suggested the following indications for surgery in patients at low operative risk, where there is a high likelihood of durable valve repair on the basis of valve lesion and experience of the surgeon:

• Surgery should be considered if there is flail leaflet and LVESD \geq 40 mm (\geq 22 mm/m² BSA in patients of small stature).¹³¹

• Surgery may be considered when one or more of the following conditions are present: systolic pulmonary pressure >60 mmHg at exercise,^{21,123} patient in sinus rhythm with severe LA dilatation (volume index ≥ 60 ml/m² BSA).¹³²

In other asymptomatic patients, it has been shown that severe MR can be safely followed up until symptoms supervene or previously recommended cut-off values are reached. Such management requires careful and regular follow-up.¹³⁸

Close clinical follow-up is recommended when there is doubt about the feasibility of valve repair. In this latter group, operative risk and/or prosthetic valve complications probably outweigh the advantages of correcting MR at an early stage. These patients should be reviewed carefully and surgery indicated when symptoms or objective signs of LV dysfunction occur.

When guideline indications for surgery are reached, early surgery (i.e. within 2 months) is associated with better outcomes, since the development of even mild symptoms by the time of surgery is associated with deleterious changes in cardiac function after surgery.^{139,140}

Finally, solid data on the value of surgery are currently lacking for patients with mitral valve prolapse and preserved LV function with recurrent ventricular arrhythmias despite medical therapy.

6.1.6 Medical therapy

In acute MR, reduction of filling pressures can be obtained with nitrates and diuretics. Sodium nitroprusside reduces afterload and regurgitant fraction, as does an intra-aortic balloon pump. Inotropic agents and intra-aortic balloon pump should be added in case of hypotension.

There is no evidence to support the use of vasodilators, including ACE inhibitors, in chronic MR without HF and they are therefore not recommended in this group of patients. However, when HF has developed, ACE inhibitors are beneficial and should be considered in patients with advanced MR and severe symptoms, who are not suitable for surgery or when there are still residual symptoms following surgery. Beta-blockers and spironolactone should also be considered as appropriate.¹³

6.1.7 Serial testing

Asymptomatic patients with moderate MR and preserved LV function can be followed up on a yearly basis and echocardiography should be performed every 2 years. Asymptomatic patients with severe MR and preserved LV function should be seen every 6 months and echocardiography performed annually. The followup is shorter if no previous evaluation is available and in patients with values close to the cut-off limits or demonstrating significant changes since their last review. Patients should be instructed to report any change in functional status in a prompt manner.

6.2 Secondary mitral regurgitation

In secondary MR or, as it is also termed, 'functional MR', valve leaflets and chordae are structurally normal and MR results from geometrical distortion of the subvalvular apparatus, secondary to LV enlargement and remodelling due to idiopathic cardiomyopathy or CAD. In the latter, secondary MR has also been termed 'ischaemic MR', although this does not imply the presence of ongoing myocardial ischaemia. Thus, secondary MR is not a primary valve disease but results from tethering (apical and lateral papillary muscle displacement, annular dilatation) and reduced closing forces, due to LV dysfunction (reduced contractility and/or LV dysynchrony).^{12,17}

6.2.1 Evaluation

In chronic secondary MR, the murmur is frequently soft and its intensity is unrelated to the severity of MR. Ischaemic MR is a dynamic condition and its severity may vary depending upon changes in loading conditions: hypertension, medical therapy or exercise. The dynamic component can be assessed and quantified by exercise echocardiography. Acute pulmonary oedema may result from dynamic changes in ischaemic MR and the resulting increase in pulmonary vascular pressure.¹⁴¹

Echocardiographic examination is useful for establishing the diagnosis and differentiating secondary from primary MR in patients with coronary disease or HF.

After myocardial infarction and in HF patients, secondary MR should be routinely sought and Doppler assessment of severity performed. As in primary MR, planimetry of the regurgitant jet overestimates the severity of ischaemic MR and is poorly reproducible: the *vena contracta* width is more accurate. In secondary MR, because of their prognostic value, lower thresholds of severity, using quantitative methods, have been proposed (20 mm² for EROA and 30 ml for regurgitant volume: *Table 5*).^{17,118,142} Assessment of LV systolic function is complicated by MR.

As ischaemic MR is a dynamic condition: stress testing may play a role in its evaluation. Echocardiographic quantification of MR during exercise is feasible, provides a good demonstration of dynamic characteristics and has prognostic importance. An exercise-induced increase of \geq 13 mm² of the EROA has been shown to be associated with a large increase in the relative risk of death and hospitalization for cardiac decompensation.¹⁴³ The prognostic value of exercise tests to predict the results of surgery has, however, to be evaluated. The prognostic importance of dynamic MR is not necessarily applicable to secondary MR due to idiopathic cardiomyopathy.

The assessment of coronary status is necessary to complete the diagnosis and allows evaluation of revascularization options.

In patients with low LVEF, it is also mandatory to assess the absence, or presence and extent, of myocardial viability by one of the available imaging techniques (dobutamine echocardiography, single photon emission CT, positron emission tomography or CMR).

In patients with CAD undergoing revascularization, the decision on whether or not to treat ischaemic MR should be made before surgery, as general anaesthesia may significantly reduce the severity of regurgitation. When necessary, a preload and/or afterload challenge provides an additional estimation of the severity of MR in the operating room.¹⁴⁴

6.2.2 Natural history

Patients with chronic ischaemic MR have a poor prognosis.^{118,142} The presence of severe CAD and LV dysfunction have prognostic importance. The causative role of MR in the poor prognosis remains uncertain. However, increasing severity is associated with worse outcome. $^{\rm 142}\,$

In patients with secondary MR due to non-ischaemic aetiology, the data regarding the natural history are more limited than in ischaemic MR.¹⁴⁵ A precise analysis is difficult because of the limited number of series made up of small patient numbers with many confounding factors. Some studies have shown an independent association between significant MR and a poor prognosis.

6.2.3 Results of surgery

Surgery for secondary MR remains a challenge. Operative mortality is higher than in primary MR and the long-term prognosis is worse due—at least in part—to the more severe comorbidities (Table 7). In ischaemic MR patients, indications and the preferred surgical procedure remain controversial, mainly because of the persistence and high recurrence rate of MR after valve repair and the absence of evidence that surgery prolongs life.¹⁴⁶ Most studies show that severe ischaemic MR is not usually improved by revascularization alone, and that persistence of residual MR carries an increased mortality risk. The impact of valve surgery on survival remains unclear, since there are no randomized trials and the few observational studies addressing this issue have too many limitations to draw definite conclusions.¹⁴⁷ Regarding prognosis, most studies failed to demonstrate improved long-term clinical outcome following surgical correction of secondary MR.^{148,149} The sole randomized trial, comparing CABG vs. CABG + valve repair in patients with moderate MR, was not designed to analyse the effect on survival of the addition of repair to CABG. It showed that the performance of valve repair improved functional class, EF, and LV diameter in the short-term.¹⁵⁰

When surgery is indicated, there is a trend favouring valve repair using only an undersized, rigid ring annuloplasty, which confers a low operative risk although it carries a high risk of MR recurrence.^{151,152} This surgical technique is also applicable in MR secondary to cardiomyopathy.¹⁵³

Numerous preoperative predictors of recurrent secondary MR after undersized annuloplasty have been identified and are indicative of severe tethering, and associated with a worse prognosis [LVEDD >65 mm, posterior mitral leaflet angle >45°, distal anterior mitral leaflet angle >25°, systolic tenting area >2.5 cm², coaptation distance (distance between the annular plane and the coaptation point) >10 mm, end-systolic interpapillary muscle distance >20 mm, and systolic sphericity index >0.7].¹⁵² The prognostic value of these parameters should, however, be further validated. After surgery, localized alteration of geometry and function in the vicinity of papillary muscles is associated with recurrent MR.

The presence of significant myocardial viability should be taken into consideration when deciding whether to operate, as it is a predictor of good outcome after repair combined with bypass surgery.¹⁵⁴

Whether a restrictive annuloplasty might create clinically relevant mitral stenosis (MS) remains unclear.

No randomized study has been performed, comparing repair against replacement. In the most complex high-risk settings, survival after repair and replacement is similar. A recent meta-analysis of retrospective studies suggests better short-term and long-term survival after repair than after replacement.¹⁵⁵ In patients with preoperative predictors of increased MR recurrence, as detailed above, several techniques have been proposed to address subvalvular tethering and may be considered in addition to annuloplasty.¹⁵⁶ A recent randomized trial reports improved survival and a significant decrease in major adverse outcomes in patients requiring revascularization treated with ventricular reshaping.¹⁵⁷ In secondary non-ischaemic MR, surgical modalities aimed at LV reverse remodelling, such as LV reconstruction techniques, have been disappointing and cannot be recommended.

6.2.4 Percutaneous intervention

Experience from a limited number of patients in the EVEREST trials and from observational studies suggests that percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair is feasible—at low procedural risk—in patients with secondary MR in the absence of severe tethering and may provide short-term improvement in functional condition and LV function.^{136,137} These findings have to be confirmed in larger series with longer follow-up and with a randomized design. Data on coronary sinus annuloplasty are limited and most initial devices have been withdrawn.¹⁵⁸

6.2.5 Indications for intervention

The heterogeneous data regarding secondary MR result in less evidence-based management than in primary MR (*Table 13*).

Severe MR should be corrected at the time of bypass surgery.

The indications for isolated mitral valve surgery in symptomatic patients with severe secondary MR and severely depressed systolic

Table 13Indications for mitral valve surgery inchronic secondary mitral regurgitation

	Class ^a	Level ^b
Surgery is indicated in patients with severe MR^c undergoing CABG, and LVEF >30%.	I	C
Surgery should be considered in patients with moderate MR undergoing CABG. ^d	lla	с
Surgery should be considered in symptomatic patients with severe MR, LVEF <30%, option for revascularization, and evidence of viability.	lla	с
Surgery may be considered in patients with severe MR, LVEF >30%, who remain symptomatic despite optimal medical management (including CRT if indicated) and have low comorbidity, when revascularization is not indicated.	ШЬ	с

 $\begin{array}{l} {\sf CABG} = {\sf coronary} \mbox{ artery bypass grafting; } {\sf CRT} = {\sf cardiac} \mbox{ resynchronization} \\ {\sf therapy; } {\sf LVEF} = {\sf left} \mbox{ ventricular ejection fraction; } {\sf MR} = {\sf mitral regurgitation; } \\ {\sf SPAP} = {\sf systolic} \mbox{ pulmonary artery pressure.} \end{array}$

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cThe thresholds for severity (EROA \geq 20 mm²; R Vol > 30 ml) differ from that of primary MR and are based on the prognostic value of these thresholds to predict poor outcome: see *Table 5.*¹⁷ ^dWhen exercise echocardiography is feasible, the development of dyspnoea and

"When exercise echocardiography is feasible, the development of dyspnoea and increased severity of MR associated with pulmonary hypertension are further incentives to surgery. LV function, who cannot be revascularized or who present with cardiomyopathy, are questionable. Repair may be considered in selected patients if comorbidity is low, in order to avoid or postpone transplantation. In the other patients, optimal medical treatment is currently the best option, followed, in the event of failure, by extended HF treatment [cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT); ventricular assist devices; cardiac restraint devices; heart transplantation].

The percutaneous mitral clip procedure may be considered in patients with symptomatic severe secondary MR despite optimal medical therapy (including CRT if indicated), who fulfil the echo criteria of eligibility, are judged inoperable or at high surgical risk by a team of cardiologists and cardiac surgeons, and who have a life expectancy greater than 1 year (recommendation class IIb, level of evidence C).

There is continuing debate regarding the management of moderate ischaemic MR in patients undergoing CABG. In such cases, valve repair is preferable. In patients with low EF, mitral valve surgery is more likely to be considered if myocardial viability is present and if comorbidity is low. In patients capable of exercising, exercise echocardiography should be considered whenever possible. Exercise-induced dyspnoea and a large increase in MR severity and systolic pulmonary artery pressure favour combined surgery.

There are no data to support surgical correction of mild MR.

6.2.6 Medical treatment

Optimal medical therapy is mandatory: it should be the first step in the management of all patients with secondary MR and should be given in line with the guidelines on the management of HF.¹³ This includes ACE inhibitors and beta-blockers, with the addition of an aldosterone antagonist in the presence of HF. A diuretic is required in the presence of fluid overload. Nitrates may be useful for treating acute dyspnoea, secondary to a large dynamic component.

The indications for resynchronization therapy should be in accordance with related guidelines.¹³ In responders, CRT may immediately reduce MR severity through increased closing force and resynchronisation of papillary muscles.¹⁵⁹ A further reduction in MR and its dynamic component can occur through a reduction in tethering force in relation to LV reverse remodelling.

7. Mitral stenosis

Rheumatic fever, which is the predominant aetiology of MS, has greatly decreased in industrialized countries; nevertheless, MS still results in significant morbidity and mortality worldwide.^{1,3} Percutaneous mitral commissurotomy (PMC) has had a significant impact upon the management of rheumatic MS.

7.1 Evaluation

The patient with MS may feel asymptomatic for years and then present with a gradual decrease in activity. The diagnosis is usually established by physical examination, chest X-ray, ECG, and echocardiography.

The general principles for the use of invasive and non-invasive investigations follow the recommendations made in the *General* comments (Section 3).¹²

Specific issues in MS are as follows:

• Echocardiography is the main method used to assess the severity and consequences of MS, as well as the extent of anatomic lesions.

Valve area should be measured using planimetry and the pressure half-time method, which are complementary. Planimetry, when it is feasible, is the method of choice, in particular immediately after PMC. Continuity equation and proximal isovelocity could be used when additional assessment is needed. Measurements of mean transvalvular gradient, calculated using Doppler velocities, are highly rate- and flow-dependent, but are useful to check consistency in the assessment of severity, particularly in patients in sinus rhythm. MS does not usually have clinical consequences at rest when valve area is >1.5 cm² (*Table 4*).¹⁵

A comprehensive assessment of valve morphology is important for the treatment strategy. Scoring systems have been developed to help assess suitability, taking into account valve thickening, mobility, calcification, subvalvular deformity, and commissural areas.^{15,160,161}

Echocardiography also evaluates pulmonary artery pressures, associated MR, concomitant valve disease, and LA size. Due to the frequent association of MS with other valve diseases, a comprehensive evaluation of the tricuspid and aortic valves is mandatory. TTE usually provides sufficient information for routine management.

TOE should be performed to exclude LA thrombus before PMC or after an embolic episode, if TTE provides suboptimal information on anatomy or, in selected cases, to guide the procedure.

3DE improves the evaluation of valve morphology (especially visualization of commissures),¹⁶² optimizes accuracy and reproducibility of planimetry, and could be useful for guiding (TOE) and monitoring (TTE) PMC in difficult cases.

Echocardiography also plays an important role in monitoring the results of PMC during the procedure.

 Stress testing is indicated in patients with no symptoms or symptoms equivocal or discordant with the severity of MS. Dobutamine or, preferably, exercise echocardiography may provide additional information by assessing changes in mitral gradient and pulmonary pressures.²¹

7.2 Natural history

Survival in asymptomatic patients is usually good up to 10 years, progression being highly variable with sudden deterioration, which is usually precipitated by pregnancy or complications such as AF or embolism.¹⁶³ Symptomatic patients have a poor prognosis without intervention.¹²

7.3 Results of intervention

7.3.1 Percutaneous mitral commissurotomy

Technical success and complications are related to patient selection and the operator's experience.¹⁶⁴ Good initial results, defined as valve area >1.5 cm² with no MR >2/4, are achieved in over 80% of cases. Major complications include procedural mortality 0.5–4%, haemopericardium 0.5–10%, embolism 0.5–5%, and

severe regurgitation 2–10%. Emergency surgery is seldom needed (<1%). 165

Clinical follow-up data confirm the late efficacy of PMC: event-free survival ranges from 30-70% after 10-20 years, depending on patient characteristics.^{160,166–168} When the immediate results are unsatisfactory, surgery is usually required shortly thereafter.^{160,167,168} Conversely, after successful PMC, long-term results are good in the majority of cases and can be predicted by preoperative anatomical and clinical characteristics, and the quality of the immediate results.^{160,167,169} When functional deterioration occurs, it is late and mainly related to restenosis.¹⁷⁰ Successful PMC also reduces embolic risk.¹⁶³

7.3.2 Surgery

Closed mitral commissurotomy is still performed in developing countries, but otherwise has largely been replaced by open mitral commissurotomy using cardiopulmonary bypass, which is also now seldom performed. In series from experienced centres, mostly including young patients, long-term results are good with a rate of reoperation for valve replacement of 0-7% at 36-53 months, and 10-year survival rates of 81-90%.^{171,172}

In current practice, surgery for MS is mostly valve replacement (~95%) as a result of increasingly elderly presentation and unfavourable valve characteristics for valve repair.^{1,34} Operative mortality for valve replacement ranges from 3–10% and correlates with age, functional class, pulmonary hypertension, and presence of CAD. Long-term survival is related to age, functional class, AF, pulmonary hypertension, preoperative LV/RV function, and prosthetic valve complications.¹²

7.4 Indications for intervention

The type of treatment, as well as its timing, should be decided on the basis of clinical characteristics (including functional status, predictors of operative risk and results of PMC), valve anatomy and local expertise.

Indications for intervention are as follows (Table 14; Figure 4):

- Intervention should only be performed in patients with clinically significant MS (valve area ≤1.5 cm²).
- Intervention should be performed in symptomatic patients. Most patients with favourable valve anatomy currently undergo PMC; however, open commissurotomy may be preferred by experienced surgeons in young patients with mild-to-moderate MR. Decision-making as to the type of intervention in patients with unfavourable anatomy is still a matter of debate and must take into account the multifactorial nature of predicting the results of PMC.^{160,170} PMC should be considered as an initial treatment for selected patients with mild-tomoderate calcification or unfavourable subvalvular apparatus, who have otherwise favourable clinical characteristics, especially in young patients in whom postponing valve replacement is particularly attractive.¹⁷³

PMC is the procedure of choice when surgery is contraindicated, or as a bridge to surgery in high-risk, critically ill patients.

Surgery is preferable in patients who are unsuitable for PMC.

Due to the small but definite risk inherent in PMC, truly asymptomatic patients are not usually candidates for the procedure, except in cases where there is increased risk of thromboembolism Table 14Indications for percutaneous mitralcommissurotomy in mitral stenosis with valve area $\leq 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$

	Class ^a	Level ^b	R ef ^c
PMC is indicated in symptomatic patients with favourable characteristics. ^d	I	В	160, 170
PMC is indicated in symptomatic patients with contraindication or high risk for surgery.	I	С	
PMC should be considered as initial treatment in symptomatic patients with unfavourable anatomy but without unfavourable clinical characteristics. ⁴	lla	с	
PMC should be considered in asymptomatic patients without unfavourable characteristics ^d and • high thromboembolic risk (previous history of embolism, dense spontaneous contrast in the left atrium, recent or paroxysmal atrial fibrillation) and/or • high risk of haemodynamic decompensation (systolic pulmonary pressure >50 mmHg at rest, need for major non-cardiac surgery, desire for pregnancy).	lla	C	

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{NYHA}}=\ensuremath{\mathsf{New}}$ York Heart Association; $\ensuremath{\mathsf{PMC}}=\ensuremath{\mathsf{percutaneous}}$ mitral commissurotomy.

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and IIa + IIb (A + B) recommendations. ^dUnfavourable characteristics for percutaneous mitral commissurotomy can be defined by the presence of several of the following characteristics:

- Clinical characteristics: old age, history of commissurotomy, NYHA class IV, permanent atrial fibrillation, severe pulmonary hypertension.
- Anatomical characteristics: echo score >8, Cormier score 3 (calcification of mitral valve of any extent, as assessed by fluoroscopy), very small mitral valve area, severe tricuspid regurgitation.

Table 15 Contraindications to percutaneous mitral commissurotomy

• Mitral valve area >1.5 cm²
• Left atrial thrombus
More than mild mitral regurgitation
Severe or bicommissural calcification
Absence of commissural fusion
 Severe concomitant aortic valve disease, or severe combined tricuspid stenosis and regurgitation
• Concomitant coronary artery disease requiring bypass surgery



or haemodynamic decompensation. In such patients PMC should only be performed if they have favourable characteristics and it is undertaken by experienced operators.

In asymptomatic patients with MS, surgery is limited to those rare patients at high risk of complications and with contraindications to PMC.

Surgery is the only alternative when PMC is contraindicated (*Table 15*). The most important contraindication to PMC is LA thrombosis. However, when the thrombus is located in the LA

appendage, PMC may be considered in patients with contraindications to surgery or those without urgent need for intervention in whom oral anticoagulation can be safely given for 2 to 6 months, provided repeat TOE shows the thrombus has disappeared. Surgery is indicated if the thrombus persists.

7.5 Medical therapy

Diuretics or long-acting nitrates transiently ameliorate dyspnoea. Beta-blockers or heart-rate regulating calcium channel blockers can improve exercise tolerance. Anticoagulant therapy with a target INR in the upper half of the range 2 to 3 is indicated in patients with either permanent or paroxysmal AF.⁴⁷ In patients with sinus rhythm, anticoagulation is indicated when there has been prior embolism, or a thrombus is present in the left atrium (recommendation class I, level of evidence C) and should also be considered when TOE shows dense spontaneous echo contrast or an enlarged left atrium (M-mode diameter >50 mm or LA volume >60 ml/m² (recommendation class IIa, level of evidence C).¹⁷⁴ Aspirin and other antiplatelet agents are not valid alternatives.

7.6 Serial testing

Asymptomatic patients with clinically significant MS, who have not undergone intervention, should be followed up yearly by means of clinical and echocardiographic examinations and at longer intervals (2 to 3 years) in case of less severe stenosis.

Management of patients after successful PMC is similar to that of asymptomatic patients. It should be more stringent if asymptomatic restenosis occurs. When PMC is not successful and symptoms persist, surgery should be considered early unless there are definite contraindications.

7.7 Special patient populations

When restenosis with symptoms occurs after surgical commissurotomy or PMC, reintervention in most cases requires valve replacement. Re-PMC can be proposed in selected patients with favourable characteristics if the predominant mechanism is commissural refusion, and in cases with an initially successful PMC if restenosis occurs after several years. PMC may have a palliative role in patients who present with valve anatomy that is not ideal for PMC, but who are not surgical candidates.^{175,176}

For information on MS during pregnancy see Section 13.

In the elderly, when surgery is high risk or contraindicated but life expectancy is still acceptable, PMC is a useful option, even if only palliative. In patients with favourable anatomic characteristics, PMC can be attempted first, resorting to surgery if results are unsatisfactory. In other patients, surgery is preferable.

In patients with severe MS combined with severe aortic valve disease, surgery is preferable. In cases with severe MS with moderate aortic valve disease, PMC can be performed as a means of postponing the surgical treatment of both valves.

In patients with severe TR, PMC can be attempted in patients with sinus rhythm, moderate atrial enlargement, and functional TR secondary to pulmonary hypertension. In other cases surgery on both valves may be preferred.¹⁷⁷

Degenerative mitral annular calcification may be observed in elderly patients, especially with renal failure, but it seldom creates severe MS requiring surgery.

Valve replacement is the only option for the treatment of rare cases of severe MS of non- rheumatic origin where commissural fusion is absent.

8. Tricuspid regurgitation

Trivial TR is frequently detected by echocardiography in normal subjects. Pathological TR is more often secondary, rather than due to a primary valve lesion. Secondary TR is due to annular dilatation and increased tricuspid leaflet tethering in relation to RV pressure and/or volume overload. Pressure overload is most often caused by pulmonary hypertension resulting from left-sided heart disease or, more rarely, *cor pulmonale* or idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. RV volume overload possibly relates to atrial septal defects or intrinsic disease of the RV.¹²

8.1 Evaluation

Predominant symptoms are those of associated valve diseases, and even severe TR may be well-tolerated for a long period of time. Although they are load-dependent, clinical signs of right HF are of value in evaluating the severity of TR.¹²

The general principles for the use of invasive and non-invasive investigations follow the recommendations made in the *General comments* (Section 3).

Specific issues in TR are as follows:

• Echocardiography is the ideal technique to evaluate TR. It provides the following information:

It is similar to MR in that the presence of structural abnormalities of the valve distinguishes between its primary or secondary forms. In primary TR, the aetiology can usually be identified from specific abnormalities such as vegetations in endocarditis,¹⁰ leaflet thickening and retraction in rheumatic and carcinoid disease, prolapsing/flail leaflet in myxomatous or post-traumatic disease, and dysplastic tricuspid valve in congenital diseases such as Ebstein's anomaly.¹¹ The degree of dilatation of the annulus should also be measured.¹⁷ Significant tricuspid annular dilatation is defined by a diastolic diameter \geq 40 mm or >21 mm/ m² in the four-chamber transthoracic view.^{17,178–180} In secondary TR, a coaptation distance >8 mm characterizes patients with significant tethering (distance between the tricuspid annular plane and the point of coaptation in mid-systole from the apical four-chamber view).¹⁸¹

Evaluation of TR severity and pulmonary systolic pressure should be carried out as currently recommended (*Table 5*).¹⁷

Evaluations of the RV dimensions and function should be conducted, despite existing limitations of current indices of RV function. Tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) (<15 mm), tricuspid annulus systolic velocity (<11 cm/s), and RV end-systolic area (>20 cm²) could be used to identify patients with RV dysfunction.¹⁸²

The presence of associated lesions (looking carefully at the associated valve lesions, particularly on the left side) and LV function should be assessed.

When available, CMR is the preferred method for evaluating RV size and function.

8.2 Natural history

The limited data that are available on the natural history of primary TR suggest that severe TR has a poor prognosis, even if it may be well-tolerated functionally for years.^{12,183,184} As for left-sided valvular regurgitation, prolonged burden of volume overload may result in ventricular dysfunction and irreversible myocardial damage. Flail tricuspid valve (classically associated with severe TR) is associated with decreased survival and increased risk of HF.¹⁸⁴ Secondary TR may diminish or disappear as RV failure improves, following the treatment of its cause. However, TR may persist even after successful correction of left-sided lesions. Predicting the evolution of functional TR after surgical treatment of mitral valve disease remains difficult. Pulmonary hypertension, increased RV pressure and dimension, reduced RV function, AF, pacemaker leads, and the severity of tricuspid valve deformation (tricuspid annulus diameter, coaptation height) are important risk factors for persistence or late worsening of TR.^{178,180,181}

8.3 Results of surgery

Ring annuloplasty is key to surgery for TR. Better long-term results are observed with prosthetic rings than with the suture annuloplasty, the incidence of residual TR being, respectively, 10% vs. 20-35% at 5 years.^{179,180,185,186} Current experience favours the use of ring annuloplasty for severe TR related to isolated tricuspid annular dilatation. ¹⁸⁷ When the tricuspid valve is significantly deformed, complementary tricuspid valve procedures with the objective of reducing residual postoperative TR (i.e. enlargement of the anterior leaflet) may be useful.¹⁸⁸ In more advanced forms of tethering and RV dilatation, valve replacement should be considered. The use of large bioprostheses over mechanical valves is currently favoured.¹⁸⁹ Adding a tricuspid repair, if indicated during left-sided surgery, does not increase operative risks. Ten-year survival ranges from 30-50%, the predictors being preoperative functional class, LV and RV function, and prosthetic complications. $^{\rm 185-189}$ In the presence of trans-tricuspid pacemaker leads and TR, the technique used should be adapted to the patient's condition and the surgeon's experience. Reoperation on the tricuspid valve in cases of persistent TR after mitral valve surgery carries a high risk, mostly due to the clinical condition of the patient (including age and the number of previous cardiac interventions) and may well have poor long-term results related to the presence of irreversible RV dysfunction before reoperation, or LV, myocardial or valvular dysfunction.

8.4 Indications for surgery

The timing of surgical intervention remains controversial, mostly due to the limited data available and their heterogeneous nature (*Table 16*). As a general principle—if technically possible—valve repair is preferable to valve replacement and surgery should be carried out early enough to avoid irreversible RV dysfunction.

The need for correction of TR is usually considered at the time of surgical correction of left-sided valve lesions. Tricuspid valve surgery is indicated in patients with severe TR. Tricuspid surgery should be considered in patients with moderate primary TR, as well as in patients with mild or moderate secondary TR and significant dilatation of the annulus (\geq 40 mm).¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰

Table 16 Indications for tricuspid valve surgery

	Class ^a	Level ^b
Surgery is indicated in symptomatic patients with severe TS. $^{\rm c}$	I.	С
Surgery is indicated in patients with severe TS undergoing left-sided valve intervention. ^d	I	с
Surgery is indicated in patients with severe primary or secondary TR undergoing left-sided valve surgery.	I	С
Surgery is indicated in symptomatic patients with severe isolated primary TR without severe right ventricular dysfunction.	I	U
Surgery should be considered in patients with moderate primary TR undergoing left-sided valve surgery.	lla	С
Surgery should be considered in patients with mild or moderate secondary TR with dilated annulus (≥40 mm or >21 mm/m²) undergoing left-sided valve surgery.	lla	C
Surgery should be considered in asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic patients with severe isolated primary TR and progressive right ventricular dilatation or deterioration of right ventricular function.	lla	с
After left-sided valve surgery, surgery should be considered in patients with severe TR who are symptomatic or have progressive right ventricular dilatation/dysfunction, in the absence of left-sided valve dysfunction, severe right or left ventricular dysfunction, and severe pulmonary vascular disease.	lla	с

 $\label{eq:PMC} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{PMC} = \mathsf{percutaneous} \mbox{ mitral commissurotomy; } \mathsf{TR} = \mathsf{tricuspid regurgitation;} \\ \mathsf{TS} = \mathsf{tricuspid stenosis} \end{array}$

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cPercutaneous balloon valvuloplasty can be attempted as a first approach if TS is isolated.

 $^{\rm d}{\rm Percutaneous}$ balloon valvuloplasty can be attempted if PMC can be performed on the mitral valve.

Surgery limited to the tricuspid valve is recommended in symptomatic patients with severe primary TR. Though these patients respond well to diuretic therapy, delaying surgery is likely to result in irreversible RV damage, organ failure, and poor results of late surgical intervention. Although cut-off values are less well defined (similar to MR) asymptomatic patients with severe primary TR should be followed carefully to detect progressive RV enlargement and development of early RV dysfunction, prompting surgical intervention.

In persistent or recurrent severe TR after left-sided valve surgery, isolated operation on the tricuspid valve should be considered in patients who are symptomatic or have progressive RV dilatation or dysfunction, *in the absence* of left-sided valve dysfunction, severe RV or LV dysfunction, or severe pulmonary vascular disease.

For the management of Ebstein's abnormality see Baumgartner et al.¹¹

8.5 Medical therapy

Diuretics reduce congestion. Specific therapy of the underlying disease is warranted.

9. Tricuspid stenosis

Tricuspid stenosis (TS), which is mostly of rheumatic origin, is rarely observed in developed countries although it is still seen in developing countries.^{3,12} Detection requires careful evaluation, as it is almost always associated with left-sided valve lesions that dominate the presentation.

9.1 Evaluation

Clinical signs are often masked by those of the associated valvular lesions, especially MS.^{12,190} Echocardiography provides the most useful information. TS is often overlooked and requires careful evaluation. The pressure half-time method is less valid for the assessment of the severity of TS than of MS and the continuity equation is rarely applicable because of the frequency with which associated regurgitation is present. Planimetry of the valve area is usually impossible unless 3DE is used. No generally-accepted grading of TS severity exists. A mean gradient \geq 5 mmHg at normal heart rate is considered indicative of clinically significant TS.¹⁵ Echocardiography should also examine the presence of commissural fusion, the anatomy of the valve and its subvalvular apparatus, which are the most important determinants of repairability and the degree of concomitant TR.

9.2 Surgery

The lack of pliable leaflet tissue is the main limitation for valve repair. Even though this is still a matter of debate, biological prostheses for valve replacement are usually preferred over mechanical ones because of the higher risk of thrombosis carried by the latter and the satisfactory long-term durability of the former in the tricuspid position.^{189–191}

9.3 Percutaneous intervention

Percutaneous balloon tricuspid dilatation has been performed in a limited number of cases, either alone or alongside PMC, but this frequently induces significant regurgitation. There is a lack of data on evaluation of long-term results.¹⁹²

9.4 Indications for intervention

Intervention on the tricuspid valve is usually carried out at the time of intervention on the other valves in patients who are symptomatic despite medical therapy. Conservative surgery or valve replacement—according to anatomy and surgical expertise in valve repair—is preferred to balloon commissurotomy, which can only be considered as a first approach in the rare cases of isolated TS (*Table 16*).

9.5 Medical therapy

Diuretics are useful in the presence of HF—but of limited efficacy.

10. Combined and multiple valve diseases

Significant stenosis and regurgitation can be found on the same valve. Disease of multiple valves may be encountered in several conditions, but particularly in rheumatic heart disease and, less frequently, in degenerative valve disease. There is a lack of data on mixed and multiple valve diseases. This does not allow for evidence-based recommendations.¹⁹⁰

The general principles for the management of mixed or multiple valve disease are as follows:

- When either stenosis or regurgitation is predominant, management follows the recommendations concerning the predominant VHD. When the severity of both stenosis and regurgitation is balanced, indications for interventions should be based upon symptoms and objective consequences, rather than the indices of severity of stenosis or regurgitation.
- Besides the separate assessment of each valve lesion, it is necessary to take into account the interaction between the different valve lesions. As an illustration, associated MR may lead to underestimation of the severity of AS, since decreased stroke volume due to MR lowers the flow across the aortic valve and, hence, the aortic gradient. This underlines the need to combine different measurements, including assessment of valve areas, if possible using methods that are less dependent on loading conditions, such as planimetry.
- Indications for intervention are based on global assessment of the consequences of the different valve lesions, i.e. symptoms or presence of LV dilatation or dysfunction. Intervention can be considered for non-severe multiple lesions associated with symptoms or leading to LV impairment.
- The decision to intervene on multiple valves should take into account the extra surgical risk of combined procedures.
- The choice of surgical technique should take into account the presence of the other VHD. Although repair remains the ideal option, the desire to repair one valve may be decreased if prosthetic valve replacement is needed on another.

The management of specific associations of VHD is detailed in the individual sections.

11. Prosthetic valves

Patients who have undergone previous valve surgery accounted for 28% of all patients with VHD in the Euro Heart Survey.¹ Optimal choice of valve substitute—as well as subsequent management of patients with prosthetic valves—is essential to reduce prosthesis-related complications.

11.1 Choice of prosthetic valve

There is no perfect valve substitute. All involve some compromise and all introduce new disease processes, whether they are mechanical (single tilting disc and bileaflet valves) or biological. The latter include homografts, pulmonary autografts and porcine, pericardial bovine or equine bioprostheses. Xenograft valves can be further subdivided into stented and stentless. Stentless valves may have better haemodynamics but no improvement in long-term durability has been demonstrated so far.¹⁹³ Sutureless bioprostheses are an incoming technology, allowing quick placement of a bioprosthesis without a sewing cuff and also having larger effective orifice areas.

The two transcatheter-implantable prostheses which are most widely used are made of pericardial tissue inserted into a baremetal balloon-expanding stent or a nitinol self-expanding stent.

All mechanical valves require lifelong anticoagulation. In biological valves, long-term anticoagulation is not required unless AF or other indications are present, but they are subject to structural valve deterioration (SVD) over time.

Homografts and pulmonary autografts are mainly used in the aortic position in adults, although they account for <1% of AVRs in large databases. Homografts are subject to SVD. A propensity-matched analysis did not find the durability of homografts to be better than that of pericardial bioprostheses and a randomized trial showed superior durability of stentless bioprostheses over homografts.^{194,195} Median time to reoperation for SVD of homografts is age-dependent and varies from an average of 11 years in a 20-year-old patient to 25 years in a 65-year-old patient.^{194,195} Technical concerns, limited availability, and increased complexity of reoperation restrict the use of homografts.¹⁹⁶ Although under debate, the main indication for homografts is acute infective endocarditis with perivalvular lesions.^{10,197}

The transfer of the pulmonary autograft in the aortic position (Ross procedure) provides excellent haemodynamics but requires expertise and has several disadvantages: the risk of early stenosis of the pulmonary homograft, the risk of recurrence of AR due to subsequent dilatation of the native aortic root or the pulmonary autograft itself when used as a mini-root repair, and the risk of rheumatic involvement.¹⁹⁸ Although the Ross operation is occasionally carried out in adults (professional athletes or women contemplating pregnancy), its main advantage is in children, as the valve and new aortic annulus appear to grow with the child, which is not the case with homografts. Potential candidates for a Ross procedure should be referred to centres that are experienced and successful in performing this operation.¹¹

In practice, the choice is between a mechanical and a stented biological prosthesis in the majority of patients.

The heterogeneity of VHD and the variability of outcomes following these procedures make the design and execution of prospective randomized comparisons difficult. Two randomized trials comparing older models of mechanical and biological valves found no significant difference in rates of valve thrombosis and thromboembolism, in accordance with numerous individual valve series. Long-term survival was very similar.^{199,200} A more recent trial randomized 310 patients aged 55-70 years to mechanical or biological prostheses.²⁰¹ No differences were found in survival, thromboembolism or bleeding rates, but a higher rate of valve failure and reoperation was observed following implantation of bioprostheses. Meta-analyses of observational series do not find differences in survival when patient characteristics are taken into account. Microsimulation models may assist in making individual patient choices by enabling valve-related event-free survival to be assessed according to patient age and type of prosthesis.²⁰²

Apart from haemodynamic considerations, the choice between a mechanical- and a biological valve in adults is mainly determined by estimating the risk of anticoagulant-related bleeding and thromboembolism with a mechanical valve, as compared with the risk of SVD with a bioprosthesis, and by considering the patient's goals, values, and life and healthcare preferences.^{46,203-} $^{\rm 205}$ The former is determined mainly by the target INR, the quality of anticoagulation control, the concomitant use of aspirin, and the patient's risk factors for bleeding. The risk linked to SVD must take into account the rate of SVD-which decreases with age and is higher in the mitral than the aortic position-and the risk of reoperation, which is only slightly higher than for a first operation.203

Rather than setting arbitrary age limits, prosthesis choice should be individualized and discussed in detail between the informed patient, cardiologists and surgeons, taking into account the factors detailed in Tables 17 and 18. In patients aged 60-65 years, who are to receive an aortic prosthesis, and those 65-70 years in the case of mitral prosthesis, both valves are acceptable

Table 17 Choice of the aortic/mitral prosthesis. In favour of a mechanical prosthesis.

	Class ^a	Level ^b
A mechanical prosthesis is recommended according to the desire of the informed patient and if there are no contraindications for long-term anticoagulation. ^c	I	С
A mechanical prosthesis is recommended in patients at risk of accelerated structural valve deterioration. ^d	I	С
A mechanical prosthesis is recommended in patients already on anticoagulation as a result of having a mechanical prosthesis in another valve position.	I	С
A mechanical prosthesis should be considered in patients aged <60 years for prostheses in the aortic position and <65 years for prostheses in the mitral position. ^e	lla	С
A mechanical prosthesis should be considered in patients with a reasonable life expectancy, ^f for whom future redo valve surgery would be at high risk.	lla	с
A mechanical prosthesis may be considered in patients already on long-term anticoagulation due to high risk of thromboembolism. ^g	ШЬ	С

The decision is based on the integration of several of the following factors ^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cIncreased bleeding risk because of comorbidities, compliance concerns, geographic, lifestyle and occupational conditions. ^dYoung age (<40 years), hyperparathyroidism.

^eIn patients aged 60–65 years who should receive an aortic prosthesis, and those between 65-70 years in the case of mitral prosthesis, both valves are acceptable and the choice requires careful analysis of other factors than age.

^fLife expectancy should be estimated >10 years, according to age, gender, comorbidities, and country-specific life expectancy.

^gRisk factors for thromboembolism are atrial fibrillation, previous thromboembolism, hypercoagulable state, severe left ventricular systolic dysfunction.

	Class ^a	Level ^b
A bioprosthesis is recommended according to the desire of the informed patient	I	С
A bioprosthesis is recommended when good quality anticoagulation is unlikely (compliance problems; not readily available) or contraindicated because of high bleeding risk (prior major bleed; comorbidities; unwillingness; compliance problems; lifestyle; occupation).	I	С
A bioprosthesis is recommended for reoperation for mechanical valve thrombosis despite good long-term anticoagulant control.	I	с
A bioprosthesis should be considered in patients for whom future redo valve surgery would be at low risk.	lla	с
A bioprosthesis should be considered in young women contemplating pregnancy.	lla	с
A bioprosthesis should be considered in patients aged >65 years for prosthesis in aortic position or >70 years in mitral position, or those with life expectancy ^c lower than the presumed durability of the bioprosthesis. ^d	lla	с

The decision is based on the integration of several of the following factors $^{\rm a}\text{Class}$ of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

 $^{\rm c}\text{Life}$ expectancy should be estimated according to age, gender, comorbidities, and country-specific life expectancy.

^dIn patients aged 60–65 years who should receive an aortic prosthesis and those 65–70 years in the case of mitral prosthesis, both valves are acceptable and the choice requires careful analysis of factors other than age.

and the choice requires careful analysis of additional factors. The following considerations should be taken into account:

- Bioprostheses should be considered in patients whose life expectancy is lower than the presumed durability of the bioprosthesis, particularly if comorbidities may necessitate further surgical procedures, and in those with increased bleeding risk. Although SVD is accelerated in chronic renal failure, poor longterm survival with either type of prosthesis and an increased risk of complications with mechanical valves may favour the choice of a bioprosthesis in this situation.²⁰⁶
- In women who wish to become pregnant, the high risk of thromboembolic complications with a mechanical prosthesis during pregnancy—whatever the anticoagulant regimen used—and the low risk of elective reoperation are incentives to consider a bioprosthesis, despite the rapid occurrence of SVD in this age group.²⁰⁷
- Quality of life issues and informed patient preferences must also be taken into account. The inconvenience of oral anticoagulation can be minimized by self-management of the therapy. Although bioprosthetic recipients can avoid long-term use of anticoagulation, they face the possibility of deterioration in functional status due to SVD and the prospect of reoperation if they live long enough.

 During mid-term follow-up, certain patients receiving a bioprosthetic valve may develop another condition requiring oral anticoagulation (AF, stroke, peripheral arterial disease and others).

The impact of valve prosthesis-patient mismatch in the aortic position supports the use of a prosthesis with the largest possible effective orifice area, although the use of *in vitro* data and the geometric orifice area lacks reliability.²⁰⁸ If the valve prosthesis-patient ratio is expected to be $<0.65 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$ BSA, enlargement of the annulus to allow placement of a larger prosthesis may be considered.²⁰⁹

11.2 Management after valve replacement

Thromboembolism and anticoagulant-related bleeding represent the majority of complications experienced by prosthetic valve recipients.¹² Endocarditis prophylaxis and management of prosthetic valve endocarditis are detailed in separate ESC Guidelines.¹⁰

11.2.1 Baseline assessment and modalities of follow-up

A complete baseline assessment should, ideally, be performed 6– 12 weeks after surgery. This includes clinical assessment, chest X-ray, ECG, TTE, and blood testing. This assessment is of the utmost importance in interpreting changes in murmur and prosthetic sounds, as well as ventricular function, transprosthetic gradients, and absence of paravalvular regurgitation. This postoperative visit is also useful to improve patient education on endocarditis prophylaxis and, if needed, on anticoagulant therapy and to emphasize that new symptoms should be reported as soon as they occur.

All patients who have undergone valve surgery require lifelong follow-up by a cardiologist, in order to detect early deterioration in prosthetic function or ventricular function, or progressive disease of another heart valve. Clinical assessment should be performed yearly-or as soon as possible if new cardiac symptoms occur. TTE should be performed if any new symptoms occur after valve replacement or if complications are suspected. Yearly echocardiographic examination is recommended after the fifth year in patients with a bioprosthesis and earlier in young patients. Trans-prosthetic gradients are best interpreted in comparison with the baseline values, rather than in comparison with theoretical values for a given prosthesis, which lack reliability. TOE should be considered if TTE is of poor quality and in all cases of suspected prosthetic dysfunction or endocarditis.²¹⁰ Cinefluoroscopy and MSCT provide useful additional information if valve thrombus or pannus are suspected.211

11.2.2 Antithrombotic management

11.2.2.1 General management

Antithrombotic management should address effective control of modifiable risk factors for thromboembolism, in addition to the prescription of antithrombotic drugs.^{203,212,213}

Indications for antithrombotic therapy after valve repair or replacement are summarized in *Table 19*.

The need for a three-month period of postoperative anticoagulant therapy has been challenged in patients with aortic bioprostheses, with the use of low-dose aspirin now favoured as an alternative.^{214,215}

	Class ^a	Level ^b	Ref ^c
Oral anticoagulation is recommended lifelong for all patients with a mechanical prosthesis.	I	В	213
Oral anticoagulation is recommended lifelong for patients with bioprostheses who have other indications for anticoagulation. ⁴	I	C	
The addition of low-dose aspirin should be considered in patients with a mechanical prosthesis and concomitant atherosclerotic disease.	lla	с	
The addition of low-dose aspirin should be considered in patients with a mechanical prosthesis after thromboembolism despite adequate INR.	lla	С	
Oral anticoagulation should be considered for the first three months after implantation of a mitral- or tricuspid bioprosthesis.	lla	с	
Oral anticoagulation should be considered for the first three months after mitral valve repair.	lla	с	
Low-dose aspirin should be considered for the first three months after implantation of an aortic bioprosthesis.	lla	С	
Oral anticoagulation may be considered for the first three months after implantation of an aortic bioprosthesis.	llb	с	

INR = international normalized ratio.

^aClass of recommendation.

^bLevel of evidence.

^cReference(s) supporting class I (A + B) and IIa + IIb (A + B) recommendations. ^dAtrial fibrillation, venous thromboembolism, hypercoagulable state, or with a lesser degree of evidence, severely impaired left ventricular dysfunction (ejection fraction <35%).

The substitution of vitamin K antagonists by direct oral inhibitors of factor IIa or Xa is not recommended in patients with a mechanical prosthesis, because specific clinical trials in such patients are not available at this time.

When postoperative anticoagulant therapy is indicated, oral anticoagulation should be started during the first postoperative days. Intravenous unfractionated heparin (UFH), monitored to an activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) of 1.5–2.0 times control value, enables rapid anticoagulation to be obtained before the INR rises. Low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) seems to offer effective and stable anticoagulation and has been used in small observational series.²¹⁶ This is off-label use. The limiting factors for the use of LMWH early after mechanical valve

replacement are the lack of randomized controlled trials, concerns about pharmacokinetics in obese patients and target anti-Xa activity, contraindication in the presence of severe renal dysfunction, and our inability to neutralize it. If LMWH is used, anti-Xa monitoring is recommended.

The first postoperative month is a high-risk period for thromboembolism and anticoagulation should not be lower than the target value during this time, particularly in patients with mechanical mitral prostheses.^{217,218} In addition, during this period, anticoagulation is subject to increased variability and should be monitored more frequently.

Despite the lack of evidence, a combination of low-dose aspirin and a thienopyridine is used early after TAVI and percutaneous edge-to-edge repair, followed by aspirin or a thienopyridine alone. In patients in AF, a combination of vitamin K antagonist and aspirin or thienopyridine is generally used, but should be weighed against increased risk of bleeding.

11.2.2.2 Target INR

In choosing an optimum target INR, one should consider patient risk factors and the thrombogenicity of the prosthesis, as determined by reported valve thrombosis rates for that prosthesis in relation to specific INR levels (*Table 20*).^{203,219} Currently available randomized trials comparing different INR values cannot be used to determine target INR in all situations and varied methodologies make them unsuitable for meta-analysis.^{220–222}

Certain caveats apply in selecting the optimum INR:

- Prostheses cannot be conveniently categorized by basic design (e.g. bileaflet, tilting disc, etc.) or date of introduction for the purpose of determining thrombogenicity.
- For many currently available prostheses—particularly newly introduced designs—there is insufficient data on valve thrombosis rates at different levels of INR, which would otherwise allow for categorisation. Until further data become available, they should be placed in the 'medium thrombogenicity' category.

Table 20Target international normalized ratio (INR)for mechanical prostheses

Prosthesis	Patient-related risk factors ^b		
thrombogenicity ^a	No risk factor	Risk factor $\ge I$	
Low	2.5	3.0	
Medium	3.0	3.5	
High	3.5	4.0	

^aProsthesis thrombogenicity: Low = Carbomedics, Medtronic Hall, St Jude Medical, ON-X; Medium = other bileaflet valves; High = Lillehei-Kaster, Omniscience, Starr-Edwards, Bjork-Shiley and other tilting-disc valves. ^bPatient-related risk factors: mitral or tricuspid valve replacement; previous thromboembolism; atrial fibrillation; mitral stenosis of any degree; left ventricular ejection fraction <35%. • INR recommendations in individual patients may need to be revised downwards if recurrent bleeding occurs, or upwards in case of embolism, despite an acceptable INR level.

We recommend a median INR value, rather than a range, to avoid considering extreme values in the range as a valid target INR, since values at either end of a range are not as safe and effective as median values.

High variability of the INR is a strong independent predictor of reduced survival after valve replacement. Self-management of anticoagulation has been shown to reduce INR variability and clinical events, although appropriate training is required. Monitoring by an anticoagulant clinic should, however, be considered for patients with unstable INR or anticoagulant-related complications.

11.2.2.3 Management of overdose of vitamin K antagonists and bleeding

The risk of major bleeding increases considerably when the INR exceeds 4.5 and increases exponentially above an INR of 6.0. An INR \geq 6.0 therefore requires rapid reversal of anticoagulation because of the risk of subsequent bleeding.

In the absence of bleeding, the management depends on the target INR, the actual INR, and the half-life of the vitamin K antagonist used. It is possible to stop oral anticoagulation and to allow the INR to fall gradually or to give oral vitamin K in increments of 1 or 2 mg.²²³ If the INR is >10, higher doses of oral vitamin K (5 mg) should be considered. The oral route should be favoured over the intravenous route, which may carry a higher risk of anaphylaxis.²²³

Immediate reversal of anticoagulation is required only for severe bleeding-defined as not amenable to local control, threatening life or important organ function (e.g. intracranial bleeding), causing haemodynamic instability, or requiring an emergency surgical procedure or transfusion. Intravenous prothrombin complex concentrate has a short half-life and, if used, should therefore be combined with oral vitamin K, whatever the INR.²²³ When available, the use of intravenous prothrombin complex concentrate is preferred over fresh frozen plasma. The use of recombinant activated factor VII cannot be recommended, due to insufficient data. There are no data suggesting that the risk of thromboembolism due to transient reversal of anticoagulation outweighs the consequences of severe bleeding in patients with mechanical prostheses. The optimal time to re-start anticoagulant therapy should be discussed in relation to the location of the bleeding event, its evolution, and interventions performed to stop bleeding and/or to treat an underlying cause. Bleeding while in the therapeutic INR range is often related to an underlying pathological cause and it is important that it be identified and treated.

11.2.2.4 Combination of oral anticoagulants with antiplatelet drugs

In determining whether an antiplatelet agent should be added to anticoagulation in patients with prosthetic valves, it is important to distinguish between the possible benefits in coronary and vascular disease and those specific to prosthetic valves. Trials showing a benefit from antiplatelet drugs in vascular disease and in patients with prosthetic valves and vascular disease should not be taken as evidence that patients with prosthetic valves and no vascular disease will also benefit.²²⁴ When added to anticoagulation, antiplatelet agents increase the risk of major bleeding.^{225,226} They should, therefore, not be prescribed to all patients with prosthetic valves, but be reserved for specific indications, according to the analysis of benefit and increased risk of major bleeding. If used, the lower recommended dose should be prescribed (e.g. aspirin \leq 100 mg daily).

Indications for the addition of an antiplatelet agent are detailed in *Table 19*. The addition of antiplatelet agents should be considered only after full investigation and treatment of identified risk factors and optimisation of anticoagulation management.

Addition of aspirin and a P2Y₁₂ receptor blocker is necessary following intracoronary stenting, but increases the risk of bleeding. Bare-metal stents should be preferred over drug-eluting stents in patients with mechanical prostheses, to shorten the use of triple antithrombotic therapy to 1 month.²⁰ Longer durations (3–6 months) of triple antithrombotic therapy should be considered in selected cases after acute coronary syndrome.⁴⁷ During this period, close monitoring of INR is advised and any overanticoagulation should be avoided.²⁰

Finally, there is no evidence to support the use of antiplatelet agents beyond 3 months in patients with bioprostheses who do not have an indication, other than the presence of the bioprosthesis itself.

11.2.2.5 Interruption of anticoagulant therapy

Anticoagulation during non-cardiac surgery requires very careful management, based on risk assessment.^{203,227} Besides prosthesis and patient-related prothrombotic factors (*Table 20*), surgery for malignant disease or an infective process carries a particular risk due to the hypercoagulability associated with these conditions.

It is recommended not to interrupt oral anticoagulation for most minor surgical procedures (including dental extraction, cataract removal) and those procedures where bleeding is easily controlled (recommendation class I, level of evidence C). Appropriate techniques of haemostasis should be used and the INR should be measured on the day of the procedure.^{228,229}

Major surgical procedures require an INR < 1.5. In patients with a mechanical prosthesis, oral anticoagulant therapy should be stopped before surgery and bridging, using heparin, is recommended (recommendation class I, level of evidence C).²²⁷⁻²²⁹ UFH remains the only approved heparin treatment in patients with mechanical prostheses; intravenous administration should be favoured over the subcutaneous route (recommendation class Ila, level of evidence C). The use of subcutaneous LMWH should be considered as an alternative to UFH for bridging (recommendation class IIa, level of evidence C). However, despite their widespread use and the positive results of observational studies^{230,231} LMWHs are not approved in patients with mechanical prostheses, due to the lack of controlled comparative studies with UFH. When LMWHs are used, they should be administered twice a day using therapeutic doses, adapted to body weight, and, if possible, with monitoring of anti-Xa activity with a target of 0.5-1.0 U/ml.²²⁷ LMWHs are contraindicated in cases of severe renal failure. The last dose of LMWH should be administered >12 hours before the procedure, whereas UFH should be discontinued 4 hours before surgery. Effective anticoagulation should be resumed as soon as possible after the surgical procedure

according to bleeding risk and maintained until the INR returns to the therapeutic range. $^{\rm 227}$

If required, after a careful risk-benefit assessment, combined aspirin therapy should be discontinued 1 week before a non-cardiac procedure.

Oral anticoagulation can be continued at modified doses in the majority of patients who undergo cardiac catheterisation, in particular using the radial approach. In patients who require transseptal catheterisation, direct LV puncture or pericardial drainage, oral anticoagulants should be stopped and bridging anticoagulation performed as described above.²⁰³

In patients who have a sub-therapeutic INR during routine monitoring, bridging with UFH—or preferably LMWH—in an outpatient setting is indicated as above until a therapeutic INR value is reached.

11.2.3 Management of valve thrombosis

Obstructive valve thrombosis should be suspected promptly in any patient with any type of prosthetic valve, who presents with recent dyspnoea or an embolic event. Suspicion should be higher after recent inadequate anticoagulation or a cause for increased coagulability (e.g. dehydration, infection, etc). The diagnosis should be confirmed by TTE and/or TOE or cinefluoroscopy.^{210,232}

The management of prosthetic thrombosis is high-risk, whatever the option taken. Surgery is high-risk because it is most often performed under emergency conditions and is a reintervention. On the other hand, fibrinolysis carries risks of bleeding, systemic embolism and recurrent thrombosis.²³³

The analysis of the risks and benefits of fibrinolysis should be adapted to patient characteristics and local resources.

Urgent or emergency valve replacement is recommended for obstructive thrombosis in critically ill patients without serious comorbidity (recommendation class I, level of evidence C: *Figure 5*). If thrombogenicity of the prosthesis is an important factor, it should be replaced with a less thrombogenic prosthesis. Fibrinolysis should be considered in:

- Critically ill patients unlikely to survive surgery because of comorbidities or severely impaired cardiac function before developing valve thrombosis.
- Situations in which surgery is not immediately available and the patient cannot be transferred.
- Thrombosis of tricuspid or pulmonary valve replacements, because of the higher success rate and low risk of systemic embolism.

In case of haemodynamic instability a short protocol is recommended, using either intravenous recombinant tissue plasminogen activator 10 mg bolus + 90 mg in 90 minutes with UFH, or streptokinase 1 500 000 U in 60 minutes without UFH. Longer durations of infusions can be used in stable patients.²³⁴

Fibrinolysis is less likely to be successful in mitral prostheses, in chronic thrombosis, or in the presence of pannus, which can be difficult to distinguish from thrombus.^{210,233}

Non-obstructive prosthetic thrombosis is diagnosed using TOE, performed after an embolic event, or systematically following mitral valve replacement with a mechanical prosthesis. Management depends mainly on the occurrence of a thromboembolic event and the size of the thrombus (*Figure 6*). Close monitoring by TOE is mandatory. The prognosis is favourable with medical therapy in most cases of small thrombus (<10 mm). A good response with gradual resolution of the thrombus obviates the need for surgery. Conversely, surgery should be considered for large (\geq 10 mm) non-obstructive prosthetic thrombus complicated by embolism (recommendation class IIa, level of evidence C) or which persists despite optimal anticoagulation.²¹⁷ Fibrinolysis may be considered if surgery is at high risk. However, it should only be used where absolutely necessary because of the risks of bleeding and thromboembolism.

11.2.4 Management of thromboembolism

Thromboembolism after valve surgery is multifactorial in origin.²⁰³ Although thromboembolic events frequently originate from the prosthesis, many others arise from other sources and are part of the background incidence of stroke and transient ischaemic attack in the general population.

Thorough investigation of each episode of thromboembolism is therefore essential (including cardiac and non-cardiac imaging: *Figure 6*), rather than simply increasing the target INR or adding an antiplatelet agent. Prevention of further thromboembolic events involves:

- Treatment or reversal of risk factors such as AF, hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia, diabetes, smoking, infection, and prothrombotic blood test abnormalities.
- Optimization of anticoagulation control, if possible with patient self-management, on the basis that better control is more effective than simply increasing the target INR. This should be discussed with the neurologist in case of recent stroke.
- Low-dose aspirin (≤100 mg daily) should be added, if it was not previously prescribed, after careful analysis of the risk-benefit ratio, avoiding excessive anticoagulation.

11.2.5 Management of haemolysis and paravalvular leak

Blood tests for haemolysis should be part of routine follow-up after valve replacement. Haptoglobin measurement is too sensitive and lactate dehydrogenase, although non-specific, is better related to the severity of haemolysis. The diagnosis of haemolytic anaemia requires TOE to detect a paravalvular leak (PVL) if TTE is not contributive. Reoperation is recommended if PVL is related to endocarditis, or if PVL causes haemolysis requiring repeated blood transfusions or leading to severe symptoms (recommendation class I, level of evidence C). Medical therapy, including iron supplementation, beta-blockers and erythropoietin, is indicated in patients with severe haemolytic anaemia and PVL not related to endocarditis, where contraindications to surgery are present, or in those patients unwilling to undergo reoperation.²³⁵ Transcatheter closure of PVL is feasible but experience is limited and there is presently no conclusive evidence to show a consistent efficiency.²³⁶ It may be considered in selected patients in whom reintervention is deemed high-risk or is contraindicated.

11.2.6 Management of bioprosthetic failure

After the first 5 years following implantation—and earlier in young patients—yearly echocardiography is required indefinitely





Success

Failure

Yes

to detect early signs of SVD, leaflet stiffening, calcification, reduced effective orifice area, and/or regurgitation. Auscultatory and echocardiographic findings should be carefully compared with previous examinations in the same patient. Reoperation is recommended in symptomatic patients with a significant increase in trans-prosthetic gradient or severe regurgitation (recommendation class I, level of evidence C). Reoperation should be considered in asymptomatic patients with any significant prosthetic dysfunction, provided they are at low risk for reoperation (recommendation class IIa, level of evidence C). Prophylactic replacement of a bioprosthesis implanted >10 years ago, without structural deterioration, may be considered during an intervention

on another valve or on the coronary arteries (recommendation class IIb, level of evidence C).

High risk for surgery

No

The decision to reoperate should take into account the risk of reoperation and the emergency situation. This underlines the need for careful follow-up to allow for timely reoperation.²³⁷

Percutaneous balloon interventions should be avoided in the treatment of stenotic left-sided bioprostheses.

Treating bioprosthetic failure by transcatheter valve-in-valve implantation has been shown to be feasible.^{238,239} Current evidence is limited, therefore it cannot be considered as a valid alternative to surgery except in inoperable or high-risk patients as assessed by a 'heart team'.



Figure 6 Management of left-sided non-obstructive prosthetic thrombosis.

11.2.7 Heart failure

HF after valve surgery should lead to a search for prosthetic-related complications, deterioration of repair, LV dys-function or progression of another valve disease. Non-valvular-related causes such as CAD, hypertension or sustained arrhythmias should also be considered. The management of patients with HF should follow the relevant guidelines.¹³

12. Management during non-cardiac surgery

Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality is increased in patients with VHD (mainly severe VHD) who undergo non-cardiac surgery. Perioperative management of patients with VHD relies

on lower levels of evidence than those used for ischaemic heart disease, as detailed in specific ESC Guidelines. $^{\rm 227}$

12.1 Preoperative evaluation

Clinical assessment should search for symptoms, arrhythmias and the presence of a murmur—which justifies echocardiographic examination, particularly in the elderly.

Cardiovascular risk is also stratified according to the type of non-cardiac surgery and classified according to the risk of cardiac complications.²²⁷

Each case should be individualized and discussed with cardiologists, anaesthetists (ideally cardiac anaesthetists), surgeons (both cardiac and the ones undertaking the non-cardiac procedure), and the patient and his/her family.

12.2 Specific valve lesions

12.2.1 Aortic stenosis

In patients with severe AS needing urgent non-cardiac surgery, surgery should be performed under careful haemodynamic monitoring.

In patients with severe AS needing elective non-cardiac surgery, the management depends mainly on the presence of symptoms and the type of surgery (*Figure 7*).^{227,240,241}

In symptomatic patients, AVR should be considered before non-cardiac surgery. A high risk for valvular surgery should lead to re-evaluation of the need to carry out non-cardiac surgery before considering balloon aortic valvuloplasty or TAVI.

In asymptomatic patients with severe AS, non-cardiac surgery at low- or moderate risk can be performed safely.²⁴⁰ If non-cardiac surgery is at high risk, the presence of very severe AS, severe valve calcification or abnormal exercise test results are incentives to consider AVR first. In asymptomatic patients who are at high risk for valvular surgery, non-cardiac surgery, if mandatory, should be performed under strict haemodynamic monitoring.

When valve surgery is needed before non-cardiac surgery, a bioprosthesis is the preferred substitute, in order to avoid anticoagulation problems during the subsequent non-cardiac surgery.

12.2.2 Mitral stenosis

In asymptomatic patients with significant MS and a systolic pulmonary artery pressure <50 mmHg, non-cardiac surgery can be performed safely.



Figure 7 Management of severe aortic stenosis and elective non-cardiac surgery according to patient characteristics and the type of surgery.

In symptomatic patients or in patients with systolic pulmonary artery pressure >50 mmHg, correction of MS—by means of PMC whenever possible—should be attempted before non-cardiac surgery if it is high risk. If valve replacement is needed, the decision to proceed before non-cardiac surgery should be taken with caution and individualized.

12.2.3 Aortic and mitral regurgitation

In asymptomatic patients with severe MR or AR and preserved LV function, non-cardiac surgery can be performed safely. The presence of symptoms or LV dysfunction should lead to consideration of valvular surgery, but this is seldom needed before non-cardiac surgery. If LV dysfunction is severe (EF < 30%), non-cardiac surgery should only be performed if strictly necessary, after optimization of medical therapy for HF.

12.2.4 Prosthetic valves

The main problem is the adaptation of anticoagulation in patients with mechanical valves, which is detailed in *Interruption of anticoagulant therapy* (Section 11.2.2.5).

12.3 Perioperative monitoring

Perioperative management should be used to control heart rate (particularly in MS), to avoid fluid overload as well as volume depletion and hypotension (particularly in AS) and to optimize anticoagulation if needed.²⁴⁰

In patients with moderate-to-severe AS or MS, beta-blockers or amiodarone can be used prophylactically to maintain sinus rhythm.²⁴¹ The use of beta-blockers and statins should be adapted to the risk of ischaemic heart disease according to guidelines.

It is prudent to electively admit patients with severe VHD to intensive care postoperatively.

13. Management during pregnancy

The management of VHD during pregnancy is detailed in the ESC Guidelines on pregnancy.²⁰⁷ In brief, management before and during pregnancy—and planning of delivery—should be discussed between obstetricians, cardiologists and the patient and her family, according to specific guidelines. Ideally, valve disease should be evaluated before pregnancy and treated if necessary. Pregnancy may be discouraged in certain conditions.

13.1 Native valve disease

MS is often poorly tolerated when valve area is $<1.5~{\rm cm}^2$, even in previously asymptomatic patients. Symptomatic MS should be treated using bed rest and beta-blockers, possibly associated with diuretics. In the case of persistent dyspnoea or pulmonary artery hypertension despite medical therapy, PMC should be considered after the 20th week in experienced centres. Anticoagulant therapy is indicated in selected cases.²⁰⁷

Complications of severe AS occur mainly in patients who were symptomatic before pregnancy. The risk of HF is low when mean aortic gradient is <50 mmHg.

Chronic MR and AR are well-tolerated, even when severe, provided LV systolic function is preserved. Surgery under cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with a foetal mortality rate of between 20-30% and should be restricted to the rare conditions that threaten the mother's life.

13.2 Prosthetic valves

Maternal mortality is estimated at between 1–4% in women with mechanical valves. These patients should be informed of the risks and constraints due to anticoagulant therapy if pregnancy occurs. During the first trimester, in choosing between vitamin K antagonists, UFH, and LMWH, the respective maternal- and foetal risks should be weighed up carefully. Vitamin K antagonists are favoured during the second and third trimester until the 36th week, when they should be replaced by heparin.²⁰⁷



The CME text 'Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease (version 2012)' is accredited by the European Board for Accreditation in Cardiology (EBAC). EBAC works according to the quality standards of the European Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (EACCME), which is an institution of the European Union of Medical Specialists (UEMS). In compliance with EBAC/EACCME guidelines, all authors participating in this programme have disclosed potential conflicts of interest that might cause a bias in the article. The Organizing Committee is responsible for ensuring that all potential conflicts of interest relevant to the programme are declared to the participants prior to the CME activities.

CME questions for this article are available at: European Heart Journal http://www.oxforde-learning.com/eurheartj and European Society of Cardiology http://www.escardio. org/guidelines.

References

- lung B, Baron G, Butchart EG, Delahaye F, Gohlke-Bärwolf C, Levang OW, Tornos P, Vanoverschelde JL, Vermeer F, Boersma E, Ravaud P, Vahanian A. A prospective survey of patients with valvular heart disease in Europe: the Euro Heart Survey on Valvular Heart Disease. Eur Heart J 2003;24:1231–1243.
- Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: a population-based study. *Lancet* 2006;368:1005–1011.
- Carapetis JR, Steer AC, Mulholland EK, Weber M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2005;5:685–694.
- Iung B, Cachier A, Baron G, Messika-Zeitoun D, Delahaye F, Tornos P, Gohlke-Bärwolf C, Boersma E, Ravaud P, Vahanian A. Decision-making in elderly patients with severe aortic stenosis: why are so many denied surgery? *Eur Heart J* 2005;26:2714–2720.
- Mirabel M, Iung B, Baron G, Messika-Zeitoun D, Détaint D, Vanoverschelde JL, Butchart EG, Ravaud P, Vahanian A. What are the characteristics of patients with severe, symptomatic, mitral regurgitation who are denied surgery? *Eur Heart J* 2007;28:1358–1365.
- Van Geldorp MWA, van Gameren M, Kappetein AP, Arabkhani B, de Groot-de Laat LE, Takkenberg JJ, Bogers AJ. Therapeutic decisions for patients with symptomatic severe aortic stenosis: room for improvement? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2009;**35**:953–957.
- Bach DS, Awais M, Gurm HS, Kohnstamn S. Failure of guidelines adherence for intervention in patients with severe mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54:860–865.
- Vahanian A, Baumgartner H, Bax J, Butchart E, Dion R, Filippatos G, Flachskampf F, Hall R, lung B, Kasprzak J, Nataf P, Tornos P, Torracca L, Wenink A, Priori SG, Blanc JJ, Budaj A, Camm J, Dean V, Deckers J, Dickstein K, Lekakis J, McGregor K, Metra M, Morais J, Osterspey A,

Tamargo J, Zamorano JL, Angelini A, Antunes M, Garcia Fernandez MA, Gohlke-Baerwolf CG, McMurray J, Otto C, Pierard L, Pomar JL, Prendergast B, Rosenhek R, Sousa Uva M, Tamargo J. Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease: the Task Force on the Management of Valvular Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology. *Eur Heart J* 2007;**28**: 230–268.

- 9. Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Chatterjee K, de Leon AC Jr, Faxon DP, Freed MD, Gaasch WH, Lytle BW, Nishimura RA, O'Gara PT, O'Rourke RA, Otto CM, Shah PM, Shanewise JS. 2008 focused update incorporated into the ACC/ AHA 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to revise the 1998 guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease). Endorsed by the Society of Cardiovascular Anaesthesiologists, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:e1-e142.
- 10. Habib G, Hoen B, Tornos P, Thuny F, Prendergast B, Vilacosta I, Moreillon P, Antunes M, Thilen U, Lekakis J, Lengyel M, Müller L, Naber CK, Nihoyannopoulos P, Moritz A, Zamorano JL, Vahanian A, Auricchio A, Bax J, Ceconi C. Dean V. Filippatos G. Funck-Brentano C. Hobbs R. Kearney P. McDonagh T, McGregor K, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Vardas P, Widimsky P. Document Reviewers, Vahanian A, Aguilar R, Bongiorni MG, Borger M, Butchart E, Danchin N, Delahaye F, Erbel R, Franzen D, Gould K, Hall R, Hassager C, Kjeldsen K, McManus R, Miró JM, Mokracek A, Rosenhek R, San Román Calvar JA, Seferovic P, Selton-Suty C, Sousa Uva M, Trinchero R, van Camp G. Guidelines on the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of infective endocarditis (new version 2009): the Task Force on the Prevention, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Infective Endocarditis of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Endorsed by the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ESCMID) and by the International Society of Chemotherapy (ISC) for Infection and Cancer. Eur Heart | 2009;30:2369-2413.
- 11. Baumgartner H, Bonhoeffer P, De Groot NMS, de Haan F, Deanfield JE, Galie N, Gatzoulis MA, Gohlke-Baerwolf C, Kaemmerer H, Kilner P, Meijboom F, Mulder BJM, Oechslin E, Oliver JM, Serraf A, Szatmari A, Thaulow E, Vouhe PR, Walma E, Vahanian A, Auricchio A, Bax J, Ceconi C, Dean V, Filippatos G, Funck-Brentano C, Hobbs R, Kearney P, McDonagh T, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Vardas P, Widimsky P, McDonagh T, Swan L, Andreotti F, Beghetti M, Borggrefe M, Bozio A, Brecker S, Budts W, Hess J, Hirsch R, Jondeau G, Kokkonen J, Kozelj M, Kucukoglu S, Laan M, Lionis C, Metreveli I, Moons P, Pieper PG, Pilossoff V, Popelova J, Price S, Roos-Hesselink J, Sousa Uva M, Tornos P, Trigo Trindade P, Ukkonen H, Walker H, Webb GD, Westby J; Task Force on the Management of Grown-up Congenital Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). ESC Guidelines for the management of grown-up congenital heart disease (new version 2010). Eur Heart J 2010;31: 2915–2957.
- Vahanian A, Iung B, Pierard L, Dion R, Pepper J. Valvular heart disease. In: Camm AJ, Lüscher TF, Serruys PW, ed. *The ESC Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine*, 2nd Edition. Malden/Oxford/Victoria: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2009:625–670
- 13. McMurray JJ, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Böhm M, Dickstein K, Falk V, Filippatos G, Fonseca C, Sanchez MA, Jaarsma T, Køber L, Lip GY, Maggioni AP, Parkhomenko A, Pieske BM, Popescu BA, Rønnevik PK, Rutten FH, Schwitter J, Seferovic P, Stepinska J, Trindade PT, Voors AA, Zannad F, Zeiher A; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG), Bax JJ, Baumgartner H, Ceconi C, Dean V, Deaton C, Fagard R, Funck-Brentano C, Hasdai D, Hoes A, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, McDonagh T, Moulin C, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Vahanian A, Windecker S; Document Reviewers, McDonagh T, Sechtem U, Bonet LA, Avraamides P, Ben Lamin HA, Brignole M, Coca A, Cowburn P, Dargie H, Elliott P, Flachskampf FA, Guida GF, Hardman S, lung B, Merkely B, Mueller C, Nanas JN, Nielsen OW, Orn S, Parissis JT, Ponikowski P. ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart / 2012;33: 1787-1847.
- 14. Popescu BA, Andrade MJ, Badano LP, Fox KF, Flachskampf FA, Lancellotti P, Varga A, Sicari R, Evangelista A, Nihoyannopoulos P, Zamorano JL on behalf of the European Association of Echocardiography, Document Reviewers, Derumeaux G, Kasprzak JD, Roelandt JRTC. Recommendations for training, competence, and quality improvement in echocardiography. *Eur J Echocardiogr* 2009;**10**:893–905.

- Baumgartner H, Hung J, Bermejo J, Chambers JB, Evangelista A, Griffin BP, lung B, Otto CM, Pellikka PA, Quiñones M. Echocardiographic assessment of valve stenosis: EAE/ASE recommendations for clinical practice. *Eur J Echocardiogr* 2009;**10**:1–25.
- Lancellotti P, Tribouilloy C, Hagendorff A, Moura L, Popescu BA, Agricola E, Monin JL, Pierard LA, Badano L, Zamorano JL. European Association of Echocardiography recommendations for the assessment of valvular regurgitation. Part 1: aortic and pulmonary regurgitation (native valve disease). *Eur J Echocardiogr* 2010; 11:223–244.
- Lancellotti P, Moura L, Pierard LA, Agricola E, Popescu BA, Tribouilloy C, Hagendorff A, Monin JL, Badano L, Zamorano JL. European Association of Echocardiography recommendations for the assessment of valvular regurgitation. Part 2: mitral and tricuspid regurgitation (native valve disease). *Eur J Echocardiogr* 2010;**11**:307–332.
- Rudski LG, Lai WW, Afilalo J, Hua L, Handschumacher MD, Chandrasekaran K, Solomon SD, Louie EK, Schiller NB. Guidelines for the Echocardiographic Assessment of the Right Heart in Adults: A Report from the American Society of Echocardiography endorsed by the European Association of Echocardiography and the Canadian Society of Echocardiography J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2010; 23:685–713.
- 19. Lang RM, Badano LP, Tsang W, Adams DH, Agricola E, Buck T, Faletra FF, Franke A, Hung J, Perez de Isla L, Kamp O, Kasprzak JD, Lancellotti P, Marwick TH, McCulloch ML, Monaghan MJ, Nihoyannopoulos P, Pandian NG, Pellikka PA, Pepi M, Roberson DA, Shernan SA, Shirali GS, Sugeng L, Ten Cate FJ, Vannan MA, Zamorano JL, Zoghbi WA. EAE/ASE recommendations for image acquisition and display using three-dimensional echocardiography. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imag* 2012;**13**:1–46.
- 20. Wijns W, Kolh P, Danchin N, Di Mario C, Falk V, Folliguet T, Garg S, Huber K, James S, Knuuti J, Lopez-Sendon J, Marco J, Menicanti L, Ostojic M, Piepoli MF, Pirlet C, Pomar JL, Reifart N, Ribichini FL, Schalij MJ, Sergeant P, Serruys PW, Silber S, Sousa Uva M, Taggart D, Vahanian A, Auricchio A, Bax J, Ceconi C, Dean V, Filippatos G, Funck-Brentano C, Hobbs R, Kearney P, McDonagh T, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Vardas PE, Widimsky P, Alfieri O, Dunning J, Elia S, Kappetein P, Lockowandt U, Sarris G, Vouhe P, von Segesser L, Agewall S, Aladashvili A, Alexopoulos D, Antunes MJ, Atalar E, Brutel de la Riviere A, Doganov A, Eha J, Fajadet J, Ferreira R, Garot J, Halcox J, Hasin Y, Janssens S, Kervinen K, Laufer G, Legrand V. Nashef SA, Neumann FI, Niemela K, Nihoyannopoulos P. Noc M. Piek JJ, Pirk J, Rozenman Y, Sabate M, Starc R, Thielmann M, Wheatley DJ, Windecker S, Zembala M. Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J 2010;31:2501-2555.
- Picano E, Pibarot P, Lancellotti P, Monin JL, Bonow RO. The emerging role of exercise testing and stress echocardiography in valvular heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:2251–2260.
- Monin JL, Quéré JP, Monchi M, Petit H, Baleynaud S, Chauvel C, Pop C, Ohlmann P, Lelguen C, Dehant P, Tribouilloy C, Guéret P. Low-gradient aortic stenosis, operative risk stratification and predictors for long-term outcome: a multicenter study using dobutamine stress hemodynamics. *Circulation* 2003;**108**:319–324.
- Cawley PJ, Maki JH, Otto CM. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging for valvular heart disease. *Circulation* 2009;**119**:468–478.
- 24. Cueff C, Serfaty JM, Cimadevilla C, Laissy JP, Himbert D, Tubach F, Duval X, lung B, Enriquez-Sarano M, Vahanian A, Messika-Zeitoun D. Measurement of aortic valve calcification using multislicemulti-slice computed tomography: correlation with haemodynamic severity of aortic stenosis and clinical implication for patients with low ejection fraction. *Heart* 2011;**97**:721–726.
- Ketelsen D, Fishman EK, Claussen CD, Vogel-Claussen J. Computed tomography evaluation of cardiac valves: a review. *Radiol Clin North Am* 2010;48: 783-797.
- Kaleschke G, Seifarth H, Kerckhoff G, Reinecke H, Baumgartner H. Imaging decision-making for transfermoral or transapical approach of transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *EuroIntervention* 2010;6(Suppl G):G20–27.
- Messika-Zeitoun D, Serfaty JM, Brochet E, Ducrocq G, Lepage L, Detaint D, Hyafil F, Himbert D, Pasi N, Laissy JP, lung B, Vahanian A. Multimodal assessment of the aortic annulus diameter: implications for transcatheter aortic valve implantation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:186–194.
- Plein S, Schulz-Menger J, Almeida A, Mahrholdt H, Rademakers F, Pennell D, Nagel E, Schwitter J, Lombard M. Training and accreditation in cardiovascular magnetic resonance in Europe: a position statement of the working group on cardiovascular magnetic resonance of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J, 2011;32:793–798.
- Steadman CD, Ray S, Ng LL, McCann GP. Natriuretic peptides in common valvular heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:2034–2048.

- 30. Gerber MA, Baltimore RS, Eaton CB, Gewitz M, Rowley AH, Shulman ST, Taubert KA. Prevention of rheumatic fever and diagnosis and treatment of acute Streptococcal pharyngitis: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, the Interdisciplinary Council on Functional Genomics and Translational Biology, and the Interdisciplinary Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research: endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics. *Circulation* 2009;**119**:1541–1551.
- Rosenhek R, lung B, Tornos P, Antunes MJ, Prendergast BD, Otto CM, Kappetein AP, Stepinska J, Kaden JJ, Naber CK, Acartürk E, Gohlke-Bärwolf C. ESC Working Group on Valvular Heart Disease Position Paper: assessing the risk of interventions in patients with valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J* 2012; 33:822–828.
- The European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. Fourth EACTS adult cardiac surgical database report 2010. Henley-on-Thames, UK Dendrite Clinical Systems Ltd; ISBN 9781-9039-682-60.
- The Society of Thoracic Surgeons. Adult cardiac surgery database, executive summary, 10 years STS report. http://www.sts.org/sites/default/files/documents/ pdf/ndb2010/1stHarvestExecutiveSummary%5B1%5D.pdf.
- 34. Bridgewater B, Keogh B, Kinsman R, Walton P. The Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery in Great Britain & Ireland, 6th national adult cardiac surgical database report; demonstrating quality, 2008. Henley-on-Thames, UK: Dendrite Clinical Systems Ltd; ISBN 1-903968-23-2, published July 2009.
- Gummert JF, Funkat A, Beckmann A, Schiller W, Hekmat K, Ernst M, Beyersdorf F. Cardiac surgery in Germany during 2009. A report on behalf of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010;58:379–386.
- Rankin JS, Hammill BG, Ferguson TB Jr., Glower DD, O'Brien SM, DeLong ER, Peterson ED, Edwards FH. Determinants of operative mortality in valvular heart surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006;131:547–557.
- Ambler G, Omar RZ, Royston P, Kinsman R, Keogh BE, Taylor KM. Generic, simple risk stratification model for heart valve surgery. *Circulation* 2005;**112**: 224–231.
- van Gameren M, Kappetein AP, Steyerberg EW, Venema AC, Berenschot EA, Hannan EL, Bogers AJ, Takkenberg JJ. Do we need separate risk stratification models for hospital mortality after heart valve surgery? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008; 85:921–930.
- Parolari A, Pesce LL, Trezzi M, Cavallotti L, Kassem S, Loardi C, Pacini D, Tremoli E, Alamanni F. EuroSCORE performance in valve surgery: a meta-analysis. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;89:787–793, 793.e1–e2.
- Dewey TM, Brown D, Ryan WH, Herbert MA, Prince SL, Mack MJ. Reliability of risk algorithms in predicting early and late operative outcomes in high-risk patients undergoing aortic valve replacement. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 135:180–187.
- Osswald BR, Gegouskov V, Badowski-Zyla D, Tochtermann U, Thomas G, Hagl S, Blackstone EH. Overestimation of aortic valve replacement risk by Euro-SCORE: implications for percutaneous valve replacement. *Eur Heart J* 2009;**30**: 74–80.
- Lee DH, Buth KJ, Martin BJ, Yip AM, Hirsch GM. Frail patients are at increased risk for mortality and prolonged institutional care after cardiac surgery. *Circula*tion 2010;**121**:973–978.
- Lee SJ, Lindquist K, Segal MR, Covinsky KE. Development and validation of a prognostic index for 4-year mortality in older adults. JAMA 2006;295:801–808.
- 44. Gammie JS, O'Brien SM, Griffith BP, Ferguson TB, Peterson ED. Influence of hospital procedural volume on care process and mortality for patients undergoing elective surgery for mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* 2007;**115**:881–887.
- Adams DH, Rosenhek R, Falk V. Degenerative mitral valve regurgitation: best practice revolution. Eur Heart | 2010;31:1958–1966.
- Montori VM, Ting HH. Sharing decision making about cardiac surgery: improving the quality of the decision to undergo or forego surgery. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2009;2:519–521.
- 47. Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GY, Schotten U, Savelieva I, Ernst S, Van Gelder IC, Al-Attar N, Hindricks G, Prendergast B, Heidbuchel H, Alfieri O, Angelini A, Atar D, Colonna P, De Caterina R, De Sutter J, Goette A, Gorenek B, Heldal M, Hohloser SH, Kolh P, Le Heuzey JY, Ponikowski P, Rutten FH. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2010;31:2369–2429.
- Enriquez-Sarano M, Tajik AJ. Clinical practice: aortic regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1539–1546.
- Pierard LA, Moonen M, Lancellotti P. Valvular regurgitation. In: Zamorano JL, Bax J, Rademakers F, Knuuti J, eds. The ESC textbook of cardiovascular imaging. Springer, 2010:150–159.
- Detaint D, Messika-Zeitoun D, Maalouf J, Tribouilloy C, Mahoney DW, Tajik J, Enriquez-Sarano M. Quantitative echocardiographic determinants of clinical

outcome in asymptomatic patients with aortic regurgitation. JACC. Cardiovascular imaging 2008;**1**:1–11.

- Evangelista A, Flachskampf FA, Erbel R, Antonini-Canterin F, Vlachopoulos Ch, Rocchi G, Sicari R, Nihoyannopoulos P, Zamorano J. Echocardiography in aortic diseases: EAE recommendations for clinical practice. *Eur J Echocardiogr* 2010;**11**:645–658.
- 52. La Canna G, Maisano F, De Michele L, Grimaldi A, Grassi F, Capritti E, De Bonis M, Alfieri O. Determinants of the degree of functional aortic regurgitation in patients with anatomically normal aortic valve and ascending thoracic aorta aneurysm. Transoesophageal Doppler echocardiography study. *Heart* 2009;**95**: 130–136.
- 53. le Polain de Waroux JB, Pouleur AC, Goffinet C, Vancraeynest D, Van Dyck M, Robert A, Gerber BL, Pasquet A, El Khoury G, Vanoverschelde JLJ. Functional anatomy of aortic regurgitation: accuracy, prediction of surgical repairability, and outcome implications of tranesophageal echocardiography. *Circulation* 2007;**116** (11 suppl):I264–269.
- Sambola A, Tornos P, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, Evangelista A. Prognostic value of preoperative indexed end-systolic left ventricle diameter in the outcome after surgery in patients with chronic aortic regurgitation. *Am Heart J* 2008;**155**: 1114–1120.
- Marciniak A, Sutherland GR, Marciniak M, Claus P, Bijnens B, Jahangiri M. Myocardial deformation abnormalities in patients with aortic regurgitation: a strain rate imaging study. Eur J Echocardiogr 2009;10:112–119.
- Goffinet C, Kersten V, Pouleur AC, Le Polain de Waroux JB, Vancraeynest D, Pasquet A, Vanoverschelde JL, Gelber BL. Comprehensive assessment of the severity and mechanism of aortic regurgitation using multidetector CT and MR. *Eur Radiol* 2010;**20**:326–336.
- Bonow RO, Lakatos E, Maron BJ, Epstein SE. Serial long-term assessment of the natural history of asymptomatic patients with chronic aortic regurgitation and normal left ventricular systolic function. *Circulation* 1991;84:1625–1635.
- Klodas E, Enriquez-Sarano M, Tajik AJ, Mullany CJ, Bailey KR, Seward JB. Optimizing timing of surgical correction in patients with severe aortic regurgitation: role of symptoms. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;30:746–752.
- Dujardin KS, Enriquez-Sarano M, Schaff HV, Bailey KR, Seward JB, Tajik AJ. Mortality and morbidity of aortic regurgitation in clinical practice. A long-term follow-up study. *Circulation* 1999;99:1851–1857.
- Jondeau G, Detaint D, Tubach F, Arnoult F, Milleron O, Raoux F, Delorme G, Mimoun L, Krapf L, Hamroun D, Beroud C, Roy C, Vahanian A, Boileau C. Aortic event rate in the Marfan population: a cohort study. *Circulation* 2012; 125:226–232.
- 61. Judge DP, Dietz HC. Marfan's syndrome. Lancet 2005;366:1965-1976.
- Keane MG, Wiegers SE, Plappert T, Pochettino A, Bavaria JE, Sutton MG. Bicuspid aortic valves are associated with aortic dilatation out of proportion to coexistent valvular lesions. *Circulation* 2000;**102**(19 Suppl 3):pllI-35–39.
- Davies RR, Kaple RK, Mandapati D, Gallo A, Botta DM, Elefteriades JA, Coady MA. Natural history of ascending aortic aneurysms in the setting of an unreplaced bicuspid aortic valve. Ann Thorac Surg 2007;83:1338-1344.
- Tzemos N, Therrien J, Yip J, Thanassoulis G, Tremblay S, Jamorski MT, Webb GD, Siu SC. Outcomes in adults with bicuspid aortic valves. JAMA 2008;300:1317–1325.
- Aicher D, Langer F, Lausberg H, Bierbach B, Schäfers HJ. Aortic root remodeling: ten-year experience with 274 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007;134: 909–915.
- Aicher D, Fries R, Rodionycheva S, Schmidt K, Langer F, Schäfers HJ. Aortic valve repair leads to a low incidence of valve-related complications. *Eur J Cardiothorac* Surg 2010;37:127–132.
- Boodhwani M, de Kerchove L, Glineur D, Rubay J, Vanoverschelde JL, Van Dyck M, Noirhomme P, El Khoury G. Aortic valve repair with ascending aortic aneurysms: associated lesions and adjunctive techniques. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011;40:424–428.
- Takkenberg JJ, Klieverik LM, Schoof PH, van Suylen RJ, van Herwerden LA, Zondervan PE, Roos-Hesselink JW, Eijkemans MJ, Yacoub MH, Bogers AJ. The Ross procedure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Circulation* 2009;**119**: 222–228.
- Tornos MP, Sambola A, Permanyer-Miralda G, Evangelista A, Gomez Z, Soler-Soler J. Long-term outcome of surgically treated aortic regurgitation: influence of guideline adherence toward early surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47: 1012–1017.
- Klodas E, Enriquez-Sarano M, Tajik AJ, Mullany CJ, Bailey KR, Seward JB. Aortic regurgitation complicated by extreme left ventricular dilatation: long-term outcome after surgical correction. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:670–677.
- Chaliki HP, Mohty D, Avierinos J-F, Scott CG, Schaff HV, Tajik AJ, Enriquez-Sarano M. Outcomes after aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic regurgitation and markedly reduced left ventricular function. *Circulation* 2002;**106**:2687–2693.

- Meijboom LJ, Vos FE, Timmermans J, Boers GH, Zwinderman AH, Mulder B. Pregnancy and aortic root growth in the Marfan syndrome: a prospective study. Eur Heart J 2005;26:914–920.
- Davies RR, Gallo A, Coady MA, Tellides G, Botta DM, Burke B, Coe MP, Kopf GS, Elefteriades JA. Novel measurement of relative aortic size predicts rupture of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006;81:169–177.
- 74. Borger MA, Preston M, Ivanov J, Fedak PW, Davierwala P, Armstrong S, David TE. Should the ascending aorta be replaced more frequently in patients with bicuspid aortic valve disease? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;**128**:677–683.
- Evangelista A, Tornos P, Sambola A, Permanyer-Miralda G, Soler-Soler J. Longterm vasodilator therapy in patients with severe aortic regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2005;353:1342–1349.
- Minners J, Allgeier M, Gohlke-Baerwolf C, Kienzle RP, Neumann FJ, Jander N. Inconsistencies of echocardiographic criteria for grading of aortic valve stenosis. *Eur Heart J* 2008;29:1043–1048
- 77. de Filippi CR, Willett DL, Brickner ME, Appleton CP, Yancy CW, Eichhorn EJ, Grayburn PA. Usefulness of dobutamine echocardiography in distinguishing severe from nonsevere valvular aortic stenosis in patients with depressed left ventricular function and low transvalvular gradients. *Am J Cardiol* 1995;**75**: 191–194.
- Levy F, Laurent M, Monin JL, Maillet JM, Pasquet A, Le Tourneau T, Petit-Eisenmann H, Gori M, Jobic Y, Bauer F, Chauvel C, Leguerrier A, Tribouilloy C. Aortic valve replacement for low-flow/low-gradient aortic stenosis operative risk stratification and long-term outcome: a European multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:1466–1472.
- 79. Jander N, Minners J, Holme I, Gerdts E, Boman K, Brudi P, Chambers JB, Egstrup K, Kesäniemi YA, Malbecq W, Nienaber CA, Ray S, Rossebø A, Pedersen TR, Skjærpe T, Willenheimer R, Wachtell K, Neumann F-J, Gohlke-Bärwolf C. Outcome of patients with low-gradient 'severe' aortic stenosis and preserved ejection fraction. *Circulation* 2011;**123**:887–895.
- Lancellotti P, Lebois F, Simon M, Tombeux C, Chauvel C, Pierard LA. Prognostic importance of quantitative exercise: Doppler echocardiography in asymptomatic valvular aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2005; **112**(9 Suppl):pl-377–382.
- Maréchaux S, Hachicha Z, Bellouin A, Dumesnil JG, Meimoun P, Pasquet A, Bergeron S, Arsenault M, Le Tourneau T, Ennezat PV, Pibarot P. Usefulness of exercise-stress echocardiography for risk stratification of true asymptomatic patients with aortic valve stenosis. *Eur Heart J* 2010;**31**:1390–1397.
- Zamorano JL, Badano LP, Bruce C, Chan KL, Gonçalves A, Hahn RT, Keane MG, La Canna G, Monaghan MJ, Nihoyannopoulos P, Silvestry FE, Vanoverschelde J-L, Gillam LD. EAE/ASE recommendations for the use of echocardiography in new transcatheter interventions for valvular heart disease *Eur Heart J* 2011;**32**: 2189–2214.
- Rafique AM, Biner S, Ray I, Forrester JS, Tolstrup K, Siegel RJ. Meta-analysis of prognostic value of stress testing in patients with asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis. Am J Cardiol 2009;104:972–977.
- Azevedo CF, Nigri M, Higuchi ML, Pomerantzeff PM, Spina GS, Sampaio RO, Tarasoutchi F, Grinberg M, Rochitte CE. Prognostic significance of myocardial fibrosis quantification by histopathology and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with severe aortic valve disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;56:278–287.
- Bergler-Klein J, Klaar U, Heger M, Rosenhek R, Mundigler G, Gabriel H, Binder T, Pacher R, Maurer G, Baumgartner H. Natriuretic peptides predict symptom-free survival and postoperative outcome in severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2004; 109:2302–2308.
- Monin JL, Lancellotti P, Monchi M, Lim P, Weiss E, Piérard L, Guéret P, Risk score for predicting outcome in patients with asymptomatic aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2009;**120**:69–75.
- Lancellotti P, Moonen M, Magne J, O'Connor K, Cosyns B, Attena E, Donal E, Pierard L. Prognostic effect of long-axis left ventricular dysfunction and B-type natriuretic peptide levels in asymptomatic aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol* 2010; 105:383–388.
- Otto CM, Burwash IG, Legget ME, Munt BI, Fujioka M, Healy NL, Kraft CD, Miyake-Hull CY, Schwaegler RG. Prospective study of asymptomatic valvular aortic stenosis clinical, echocardiographic and exercise predictors of outcome. *Circulation* 1997;95:2262–2270.
- Rosenhek R, Binder T, Porenta G, Lang I, Christ G, Schemper M, Maurer G, Baumgartner H. Predictors of outcome in severe, asymptomatic aortic stenosis. *N Engl J Med* 2000;**343**:611–617.
- Pellikka PA, Sarano ME, Nishimura RA, Malouf JF, Bailey KR, Scott CG, Barnes ME, Tajik AJ. Outcome of 622 adults with asymptomatic, hemodynamically significant aortic stenosis during prolonged follow-up. *Circulation* 2005;**111**: 3290–3295.
- Rosenhek R, Zilberszac R, Schemper M, Czerny M, Mundigler G, Graf S, Bergler-Klein J, Grimm M, Gabriel H, Maurer G. Natural history of very severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2010;**121**:151–156.

- Cioffi G, Faggiano P, Vizzardi E, Tarantini L, Cramariuc D, Gerdts E, de Simone G. Prognostic value of inappropriately high left ventricular mass in asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis. *Heart* 2011;97:301–307.
- Das P, Rimington H, Chambers J. Exercise testing to stratify risk in aortic stenosis. Eur Heart J 2005;26:1309–1313.
- Brown JM, O'Brien SM, Wu C, Sikora JAH, Griffith BP, Gammie JS. Isolated aortic valve replacement in North America comprising 108,687 patients in 10 years: changes in risks, valve types, and outcomes in the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2009;**137**:82–90.
- El Bardissi AW, Shekar P, Couper GS, Cohn LH. Minimally invasive aortic valve replacement in octogenarian, high-risk, transcatheter aortic valve implantation candidates. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;141:328–335.
- Chukwuemeka A, Borger MA, Ivanov J, Armstrong S, Feindel C, David T. Valve surgery in octogenarians: a safe option with good medium-term results. J Heart Valve Dis 2006;15:191–196.
- Smith CR, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, Tuzcu EM, Webb JG, Fontana GP, Makkar RR, Williams M, Dewey T, Kapadia S, Babaliaros V, Thourani VH, Corso P, Pichard AD, Bavaria JE, Herrmann HC, Akin JJ, Anderson WN, Wang D, Pocock SJ; PARTNER Trial Investigators. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic-valve replacement in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med 2011;364:2187–2198.
- Tissot CM, Attias D, Himbert D, Ducrocq G, lung B, Dilly MP, Juliard JM, Lepage L, Détaint D, Messika-Zeitoun D, Nataf P, Vahanian A. Reappraisal of percutaneous aortic balloon valvuloplasty as a preliminary treatment strategy in the transcatheter aortic valve implantation era. *EuroIntervention* 2011;**7**:49–56.
- 99. Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, Tuzcu EM, Webb JG, Fontana GP, Makkar RR, Brown DL, Block PC, Guyton RA, Pichard AD, Bavaria JE, Herrmann HC, Douglas PS, Petersen JL, Akin JJ, Anderson WN, Wang D, Pocock S; PARTNER Trial Investigators. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1597–1607.
- 100. Thomas M, Schymik G, Walther Th, Himbert D, Lefèvre Th, Treede H, Eggebrecht H, Rubino P, Michev I, Lange R, Anderson WN, Wendler O, on behalf of the SOURCE Investigators. Thirty-day results of the SAPIEN aortic bioprosthesis European outcome (SOURCE) registry: a European registry of transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the Edwards SAPIEN valve. *Circulation* 2010;**122**:62–69.
- 101. Piazza N, Grube E, Gerckens U, den Heijer P, Linke A, Luha O, Ramondo A, Ussia G, Wenaweser P, Windecker S, Laborde JC, de Jaegere P, Serruys PW. Procedural and 30-day outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the third generation (18 Fr) corevalve revalving system: results from the multicentre, expanded evaluation registry 1-year following CE mark approval. *EuroIntervention* 2008;**4**:242–249.
- 102. Thomas M, Schymik G, Walther T, Himbert D, Lefèvre T, Treede H, Eggebrecht H, Rubino P, Colombo A, Lange R, Schwarz RR, Wendler O. One-year outcomes of cohort 1 in the Edwards SAPIEN Aortic Bioprosthesis European Outcome (SOURCE) registry: the European registry of transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the Edwards SAPIEN valve. *Circulation* 2011;**124**: 425–433.
- 103. Zahn R, Gerckens U, Grube E, Linke A, Sievert H, Eggebrecht H, Hambrecht R, Sack S, Hauptmann KE, Richardt G, Figulla HR, Senges J; The German transcatheter aortic valve interventions: registry investigators. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: first results from a multi-centre real-world registry. *Eur Heart J* 2011;**32**:198–204.
- 104. Eltchaninoff H, Prat A, Gilard M, Leguerrier A, Blanchard D, Fournial G, Iung B, Donzeau-Gouge P, Tribouilloy C, Debrux JL, Pavie A, Gueret P; FRANCE Registry Investigators. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: early results of the FRANCE (FRench Aortic National CoreValve and Edwards) registry. *Eur Heart* J 2011;**32**:191–197.
- 105. Tamburino C, Capodanno D, Ramondo A, Petronio AS, Ettori F, Santoro G, Klugmann S, Bedogni F, Maisano F, Marzocchi A, Poli A, Antoniucci D, Napodano M, De Carlo M, Fiorina C, Ussia GP. Incidence and predictors of early and late mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation in 663 patients with severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2011;**123**:299–308.
- 106. Rodés-Cabau J, Webb JG, Cheung A, Ye J, Dumont E, Feindel CM, Osten M, Natarajan MK, Velianou JL, Martucci G, DeVarennes B, Chisholm R, Peterson MD, Lichtenstein SV, Nietlispach F, Doyle D, DeLarochellière R, Teoh K, Chu V, Dancea A, Lachapelle K, Cheema A, Latter D, Horlick E. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for the treatment of severe symptomatic aortic stenosis in patients at very high or prohibitive surgical risk: acute and late outcomes of the multicenter Canadian experience. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 55:1080–1090.
- 107. Buellesfeld L, Gerckens U, Schuler G, Bonan R, Kovac J, Serruys PW, Labinaz M, den Heijer P, Mullen M, Tymchak W, Windecker S, Mueller R, Grube E. Two-year follow-up of patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve

implantation using a self-expanding valve prosthesis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;**57**: 1650–1657.

- 108. Gurvitch R, Wood DA, Tay EL, Leipsic J, Ye J, Lichtenstein SV, Thompson CR, Carere RG, Wijesinghe N, Nietlispach F, Boone RH, Lauck S, Cheung A, Webb JG. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: durability of clinical and hemodynamic outcomes beyond 3 years in a large patient cohort. *Circulation* 2010;**122**:1319–1327.
- 109. Leon MB, Piazza N, Nikolsky E, Blackstone EH, Cutlip DE, Kappetein AP, Krucoff MW, Mack M, Mehran R, Miller C, Morel MA, Petersen J, Popma JJ, Takkenberg JJM, Vahanian A, van Es GA, Vranckx P, Webb JG, Windecker S, Serruys PW. Standardized endpoint definitions for transcatheter aortic valve implantation clinical trials: a consensus report from the Valve Academic Research Consortium. *Eur Heart J* 2011;**32**:205–217.
- 110. Tribouilloy C, Lévy F, Rusinaru D, Guéret P, Petit-Eisenmann H, Baleynaud S, Jobic Y, Adams C, Lelong B, Pasquet A, Chauvel C, Metz D, Quéré JP, Monin JL. Outcome after aortic valve replacement for low-flow/low-gradient aortic stenosis without contractile reserve on dobutamine stress echocardiog-raphy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;53:1865–1873.
- 111. Brown ML, Pellikka PA, Schaff HV, Scott CG, Mullany CJ, Sundt TM, Dearani JA, Daly RC, Orszulak TA. The benefits of early valve replacement in asymptomatic patients with severe aortic stenosis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008;135:308–315.
- Kang DH, Park SJ, Rim JH, Yun SC, Kim DH, Song JM, Choo SJ, Park SW, Song JK, Lee JW, Park PW. Early surgery versus conventional treatment in asymptomatic very severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2010;**121**:1502–1509.
- 113. Vahanian A, Alfieri O, Al-Attar N, Antunes M, Bax J, Cormier B, Cribier A, De Jaegere P, Fournial G, Kappetein AP, Kovac J, Ludgate S, Maisano F, Moat N, Mohr F, Nataf P, Piérard L, Pomar JL, Schofer J, Tornos P, Tuzcu M, van Hout B, Von Segesser LK, Walther T. Transcatheter valve implantation for patients with aortic stenosis: a position statement from the European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), in collaboration with the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI) *Eur Heart J* 2008;29:1463–1470.
- 114. Rossebø AB, Pedersen TR, Boman K, Brudi Ph, Chambers JB, Egstrup K, Gerdts E, Gohlke-Bärwolf Ch, Holme I, Kesäniemi YA, Malbecq W, Nienaber CA, Ray S, Skjærpe T, Wachtell K, Willenheimer R; the SEAS Investigators. Intensive lipid lowering with simvastatin and ezetimibe in aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med 2008;**359**:1343–1356.
- 115. Chan KL, Teo K, Dumesnil JG, Ni A, Tam J; ASTRONOMER Investigators. Effect of lipid lowering with rosuvastatin on progression of aortic stenosis: results of the aortic stenosis progression observation: measuring effects of rosuvastatin (ASTRONOMER) trial. *Circulation* 2010;**121**:306–314.
- 116. Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H, Graham J, Reiner Z, Verschuren WMM, Albus C, Benlian P, Boysen G, Cifkova R, Deaton C, Ebrahim S, Fisher M, Germano G, Hobbs R, Hoes A, Karadeniz S, Mezzani A, Prescott E, Ryden L, Scherer M, Syvänne M, Scholte Op Reimer WJ, Vrints C, Wood D, Zamorano JL, Zannad F; Other experts who contributed to parts of the guidelines:, Cooney MT; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG): Bax J, Baumgartner H, Ceconi C, Dean V, Deaton C, Fagard R, Funck-Brentano C, Hasdai D, Hoes A, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, McDonagh T, Moulin C, Popescu BA, Reiner Z, Sechtem U, Sirnes PA, Tendera M, Torbicki A, Vahanian A, Windecker S; Document Reviewers: Funck-Brentano C, Sirnes PA, Aboyans V, Ezquerra EA, Baigent C, Brotons C, Burell G, Ceriello A, De Sutter J, Deckers J, Del Prato S, Diener HC, Fitzsimons D, Fras Z, Hambrecht R, Jankowski P, Keil U, Kirby M, Larsen ML, Mancia G, Manolis AJ, McMurray J, Pajak A, Parkhomenko A, Rallidis L, Rigo F, Rocha E, Ruilope LM, van der Velde E, Vanuzzo D, Viigimaa M, Volpe M, Wiklund O, Wolpert C. European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012): The Fifth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts) Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). Eur Heart J 2012;33:1635-1701.
- 117. Smith WVT 4th, Ferguson TB Jr, Ryan T, Landolfo CK, Peterson ED. Should coronary artery bypass graft surgery patients with mild or moderate aortic stenosis undergo concomitant aortic valve replacement? A decision analysis approach to the surgical dilemma. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;**44**:1241–1247.
- Enriquez-Sarano M, Akins CW, Vahanian A. Mitral regurgitation. Lancet 2009; 373:1382–1394.
- Russo A, Suri RM, Grigioni F, Roger VL, Oh JK, Mahoney DW, Schaff HV, Enriquez-Sarano M. Clinical outcome after surgical correction of mitral regurgitation due to papillary muscle rupture. *Circulation* 2008;**118**:1528–1534.
- 120. Monin JL, Dehant P, Roiron C, Monchi M, Tabet JY, Clerc P, Fernandez G, Houeol R, Garot J, Chauvel C, Gueret P. Functional assessment of mitral regurgitation by transthoracic echocardiography using standardized imaging planes:

diagnostic accuracy and outcome implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46: 302–309.

- 121. Salcedo EE, Quaife RA, Seres T, Carroll JD. A framework for systematic characterization of the mitral valve by real-time three-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2009;**22**:1087–1099.
- Messika-Zeitoun D, Johnson BD, Nkomo V, Avierinos JF, Allison TG, Scott C, Tajik AJ, Enriquez-Sarano M. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing determination of functional capacity in mitral regurgitation: physiologic and outcome implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47:2521–2527.
- Magne J, Lancellotti P, Piérard LA, Exercise-induced changes in degenerative mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;56:300–309.
- 124. Lancellotti P, Cosyns B, Zacharakis D, Attena E, Van Camp G, Gach O, Radermecker M, Piérard LA. Importance of left ventricular longitudinal function and functional reserve in patients with degenerative mitral regurgitation : assessment by two-dimensional speckle tracking. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2008;21: 1331–1336.
- 125. Pizarro R, Bazzino OO, Oberti PF, Falconi M, Achilli F, Arias A, Krauss JG, Cagide AM. Prospective validation of the prognostic usefulness of brain natriuretic peptide in asymptomatic patients with chronic severe mitral regurgitation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009;**54**:1099–1106.
- 126. Klaar U, Gabriel H, Bergler-Klein J, Pernicka E, Heger M, Mascherbauer J, Rosenhek R, Binder T, Maurer G, Baumgartner. Prognostic value of serial B-type natriuretic peptide measurement in asymptomatic organic mitral regurgitation. *Eur J Heart Fail* 2011;**13**:163–169.
- 127. Haan CK, Cabral CI, Conetta DA, Coombs LP, Edwards FH. Selecting patients with mitral regurgitation and left ventricular dysfunction for isolated mitral valve surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004;**78**:820–825.
- Enriquez-Sarano M, Tajik AJ, Schaff HV, Orszulak TA, McGoon MD, Bailey KR, Frye RL. Echocardiographic prediction of left ventricular function after correction of mitral regurgitation: results and clinical implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;24:1536–1543.
- Enriquez-Sarano M, Avierinos JF, Messika-Zeitoun D, Detaint D, Capps M, Nkomo V, Scott C, Schaff HV, Tajik AJ. Quantitative determinants of the outcome of asymptomatic mitral regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2005;352:875–883.
- 130. Barbieri A, Bursi F, Grigioni F, Tribouilloy C, Avierinos JF, Michelina HI, Rusinaru D, Szymansky C, Russo A, Suri R, Bacchi-Regiani ML, Branzi A, Modena MG, Enriquez-Sarano M; Mitral Regurgitation International DAtabase (MIDA) Investigators. Prognostic and therapeutic implications of pulmonary hypertension complicating degenerative mitral regurgitation due to flail leaflet: a multicenter long-term international study. *Eur Heart J* 2011;**32**:751–759.
- 131. Tribouilloy C, Grigioni F, Avierinos JF, Barbieri A, Rusinaru D, Szymanski C, Ferlito M, Tafanelli L, Bursi F, Trojette F, Branzi A, Habib G, Modena MG, Enriquez-Sarano M; MIDA Investigators. Survival implication of left ventricular end-systolic diameter in mitral regurgitation due to flail leaflets: a long-term follow-up multicenter study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:1961–1968.
- Le Tourneau T, Messika-Zeitoun D, Russo A, Detaint D, Topilsky Y, Mahoney DW, Suri R, Enriquez-Sarano M. Impact of left atrial volume on clinical outcome in organic mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;56:570–578.
- 133. Grigioni F, Tribouilloy C, Avierinos JF, Barbieri A, Ferlito M, Trojette F, Tafanelli L, Branzi A, Szymanski C, Habib G, Modena MG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Outcomes in mitral regurgitation to flail leaflets: a multicenter European study. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging 2008;1:133–141.
- David TE, Ivanov J, Armstrong S, Christie D, Rakowski H. A comparison of outcomes of mitral valve repair for degenerative disease with posterior, anterior, and bileaflet prolapse. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;130:1242–1249.
- 135. Gammie JS, Sheng S, Griffith BP, Peterson ED, Rankin JS, O'Brien S, Brown JM. Trends in mitral valve surgery in the United States: results from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Adult Cardiac Surgery Database. Ann Thorac Surg 2009;87: 1431–1439.
- 136. Feldman T, Foster E, Glower DD, Kar S, Rinaldi MJ, Fail PS, Smalling RW, Siegel R, Rose GA, Engeron E, Loghin C, Trento A, Skipper ER, Fudge T, Letsou GV, Massaro JM, Mauri L; EVEREST II Investigators. Percutaneous repair or surgery for mitral regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2011;**364**:1395–1406.
- 137. Franzen O, Baldus S, Rudolph V, Meyer S, Knap M, Koschyk D, Treede H, Barmeyer A, Schofer J, Costard-Jäckle A, Schlüter M, Reichenspurner H, Meinertz T. Acute outcomes of MitraClip therapy for mitral regurgitation in high-surgical-risk patients: emphasis on adverse valve morphology and severe left ventricular dysfunction. *Eur Heart J* 2010;**31**:1373–1381.
- Rosenhek R, Rader F, Klaar U, Gabriel H, Krej M, Kalbeck D, Schemper M, Maurer G, Baumgartner H. Outcome of watchful waiting in asymptomatic severe mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* 2006;**113**:2238–2244.
- Kang DH, Kim JH, Rim JH, Kim MJ, Yun SC, Song JM, Song H, Choi KJ, Song JK, Lee JW. Comparison of early surgery versus conventional treatment in asymptomatic severe mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* 2009;**119**:797–804.

- 140. Samad Z, Kaul P, Shaw LK, Glower DD, Velazquez EJ, Douglas PS, Jollis JG. Impact of early surgery on survival of patients with severe mitral regurgitation. *Heart* 2011;97:221–224.
- 141. Piérard LA, Lancellotti P. The role of ischemic mitral regurgitation in the pathogenesis of acute pulmonary edema. N Engl J Med 2004;**351**:1627–1634.
- 142. Grigioni F, Enriquez-Sarano, Zehr KJ, Bailey KR, Tajik AJ. Ischemic mitral regurgitation: long-term outcome and prognostic implications with quantitative Doppler assessment. *Circulation* 2001;**103**:1759–1764.
- Lancellotti P, Gérard P, Piérard L. Long term outcome of patients with heart failure and dynamic functional mitral regurgitation. *Eur Heart J* 2005;26: 1528–1532.
- 144. Gisbert A, Soulière V, Denault AY, Bouchard D, Couture P, Pellerin M, Carrier M, Levesque S, Ducharme A, Basmadjian AJ. Dynamic quantitative echocardiographic evaluation of mitral regurgitation in the operating department. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2006;**19**:140–146.
- 145. Trichon BH, Felker GM, Shaw LK, Cabell CH, O'Connor CM. Relation of frequency and severity of mitral regurgitation to survival among patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction and heart failure. Am J Cardiol 2003;91;538–543.
- 146. McGee EC Jr, Gillinov AM, Blackstone EH, Rajeswaran J, Cohen G, Najam F, Shiota T, Sabik JF, Lytle BW, McCarthy PM, Cosgrove DM. Recurrent mitral regurgitation after annuloplasty for functional ischemic mitral regurgitation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;**128**:916–924.
- 147. Fattouch K, Sampognaro R, Speziale G, Salardino M, Novo G, Caruso M, Novo S, Ruvolo G. Impact of moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation after isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 2010;90:1187–1194.
- 148. Mihaljevic T, Lam BK, Rajeswaran J, Takagaki M, Lauer MS, Gillinov AM, Blackstone EH, Lytle BW. Impact of mitral valve annuloplasty combined with revascularization in patients with functional ischemic mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49:2191–2201.
- 149. Wu AH, Aaronson KD, Bolling SF, Pagani FD, Welch K, Koelling TM. Impact of mitral valve annuloplasty on mortality risk in patients with mitral regurgitation and left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:381–387.
- 150. Fattouch K, Guccione F, Sampognaro S, Panzarella G, Corrado E, Navarra E, Calvaruso D, Ruvolo G. Efficacy of adding mitral valve restrictive annuloplasty to coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with moderate ischemic mitral valve regurgitation: a randomized trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009;**138**: 278–285.
- 151. Braun J, Bax JJ, Versteegh MI, Voigt PG, Holman ER, Klautz RJ, Boersma E, Dion RA. Preoperative left ventricular dimensions predict reverse remodelling following restrictive mitral annuloplasty in ischaemic mitral regurgitation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005;**27**:847–853.
- 152. Ciarka A, Braun J, Delgado V, Versteegh M, Boersma E, Klautz R, Dion R, Bax JJ, Van de Veire N. Predictors of mitral regurgitation recurrence in patients with heart failure undergoing mitral valve annuloplasty. Am J Cardiol 2010;**106**: 395–401.
- 153. Acker MA, Jessup M, Bolling SF, Oh J, Starling RC, Mann DL, Sabbah HN, Shemin R, Kirklin J, Kubo SH. Mitral valve repair in heart failure: five-year followup from the mitral valve replacement stratum of the Acorn randomized trial. *| Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011;**142**:569–574.
- 154. Pu M, Thomas JD, Gillinov MA, Griffin BP, Brunken RC. Importance of ischemic and viable myocardium for patients with chronic ischemic mitral regurgitation and left ventricular dysfunction. Am J Cardiol 2003;92:862–864.
- Vassileva CM, Boley T, Markwell S, Hazelrigg S. Meta-analysis of short-term and long-term survival following repair versus replacement for ischemic mitral regurgitation. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011;39:295–303.
- Langer F, Kunihara T, Hell K, Schramm R, Schmidt KI, Aicher D, Kindermann M, Schäfers H-J. Ring+string: successful repair technique for ischemic mitral regurgitation with severe leaflet tethering. *Circulation* 2009;**120**(11 Suppl):S85–S91.
- 157. Grossi EA, Patel N, Woo YJ, Goldberg JD, Schwartz CF, Subramanian V, Feldman T, Bourge R, Baumgartner N, Genco C, Goldman S, Zenati M, Wolfe JA, Mishra YK, Trehan N, Mittal S, Shang S, Mortier TJ, Schweich CJ Jr; RESTOR-MV Study Group. Outcomes of the RESTOR-MV trial (Randomized Evaluation of a Surgical Treatment for Off-Pump Repair of the Mitral Valve). J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;**56**:1984–1993.
- 158. Schofer J, Siminiak T, Haude M, Herrman JP, Vainer J, Wu JC, Levy WC, Mauri L, Feldman T, Kwong RY, Kaye DM, Duffy SJ, Tübler T, Degen H, Brandt MC, Van Bibber R, Goldberg S, Reuter DG, Hoppe UC. Percutaneous mitral annuloplasty for functional mitral regurgitation: results of the CARILLON Mitral Annuloplasty Device European Union Study. *Circulation* 2009;**120**:326–333.
- 159. van Bommel RJ, Marsan NA, Delgado V, Borleffs CJW, van Rijnsoever EPM, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Cardiac resynchronization therapy as a therapeutic option in patients with moderate-severe functional mitral regurgitation and high operative risk. *Circulation* 2011;**124**:912–919.
- Bouleti C, lung B, Laouénan C, Himbert D, Brochet E, Messika-Zeitoun D, Détaint D, Garbarz E, Cormier B, Michel PL, Mentré F, Vahanian A. Late

results of percutaneous mitral commissurotomy up to 20 years. Development and validation of a risk score predicting late functional results from a series of 912 patients. *Circulation* 2012;**125**:2119–2127.

- 161. Wilkins GT, Weyman AE, Abascal VM, Block PC, Palacios IF. Percutaneous balloon dilatation of the mitral valve: an analysis of echocardiographic variables related to outcome and the mechanism of dilatation. Br Heart J 1988;60: 299–308.
- 162. Messika-Zeitoun D, Brochet E, Holmin C, Rosenbaum D, Cormier B, Serfaty JM, lung B, Vahanian A. Three-dimensional evaluation of the mitral valve area and commissural opening before and after percutaneous mitral commissurotomy in patients with mitral stenosis. *Eur Heart J* 2007;28:72–79.
- Chiang CW, Lo SK, Ko YS, Cheng NJ, Lin PJ, Chang CH, Predictors of systemic embolism in patients with mitral stenosis. A prospective study. *Ann Intern Med* 1998;**128**:885–889.
- 164. lung B, Nicoud-Houel A, Fondard O, Hafid Akoudad, Haghighat T, Brochet E, Garbarz E, Cormier B, Baron G, Luxereau P, Vahanian A. Temporal trends in percutaneous mitral commissurotomy over a 15-year period. *Eur Heart J* 2004;25:701–707.
- 165. Varma PK, Theodore S, Neema PK, Ramachandran P, Sivadasanpillai H, Nair KK, Neelakandhan KS. Emergency surgery after percutaneous transmitral commissurotomy: operative versus echocardiographic findings, mechanisms of complications, and outcomes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005;**130**:772–776.
- 166. Ben Farhat M, Ayari M, Maatouk F, Betbout F, Gamra H, Jarra M, Tiss M, Hammami S, Thaalbi R, Addad F. Percutaneous balloon versus surgical closed and open mitral commissurotomy: seven-year follow-up results of a randomized trial. *Circulation* 1998;97:245–250.
- 167. Fawzy ME, Shoukri M, Al Buraiki J, Hassan W, El Widaa H, Kharabsheh S, Al Sanei A, Canver C. Seventeen years' clinical and echocardiographic follow up of mitral balloon valvuloplasty in 520 patients, and predictors of long-term outcome. J Heart Valve Dis 2007;16:454–460.
- 168. Kim MJ, Song JK, Song JM, Kang DH, Kim YH, Lee CW, Hong MK, Kim JJ, Park SW, Park SJ. Long-term outcomes of significant mitral regurgitation after percutaneous mitral valvuloplasty. *Circulation* 2006;**114**:2815–2822.
- 169. Song J-K, Song J-M, Kang D-H, Yun S-C, Park DW, Lee SW, Kim Y-H, Lee CW, Hong M-K, Kim J-J, Park S-W, Park S-J. Restenosis and adverse clinical events after successful percutaneous mitral valvuloplasty: immediate post-procedural mitral valve area as an important prognosticator Eur Heart J 2009;**30**:1254–1262.
- 170. Cruz-Gonzalez I, Sanchez-Ledesma M, Sanchez PL, Martin-Moreiras J, Jneid H, Rengifo-Moreno P, Inglessis-Azuaje I, Maree AO, Palacios IF. Predicting success and long-term outcomes of percutaneous mitral valvuloplasty: a multifactorial score. Am J Med 2009;**122**:581.e11–e19.
- Antunes MJ, Vieira H, Ferrão de Oliveira J. Open mitral commissurotomy: the 'golden standard'. J Heart Valve Dis 2000;9:472–477.
- 172. Song JK, Kim MJ, Yun SC, Choo SJ, Song JM, Song H, Kang DH, Chung CH, Park DW, Lee SW, Kim YH, Lee CW, Hong MK, Kim JJ, Lee JW, Park SW, Park SJ. Long-term outcomes of percutaneous mitral balloon valvuloplasty versus open cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;**139**:103–110.
- 173. lung B, Garbarz E, Doutrelant L, Berdah P, Michaud P, Farah B, Mokhtari M, Makita Y, Michel PL, Luxereau P, Cormier B, Vahanian A. Late results of percutaneous mitral commissurotomy for calcific mitral stenosis. *Am J Cardiol* 2000;**85**: 1308–1314.
- 174. Keenan NG, Cueff C, Cimidavella C, Brochet E, Lepage L, Detaint D, Himbert D, lung B, Vahanian A, Messika-Zeitoun D. Usefulness of left atrial volume versus diameter to assess thromboembolic risk in mitral stenosis. *Am J Cardiol* 2010; **106**:1152–1156.
- 175. Fawzy ME, Hassan W, Shoukri M, Al Sanei A, Hamadanchi A, El Dali A, Al Amri M. Immediate and long-term results of mitral balloon valvotomy for restenosis following previous surgical or balloon mitral commissurotomy. Am J Cardiol 2005;96:971–975.
- 176. Kim JB, Ha JW, Kim JS, Shim WH, Kang SM, Ko YG, Choi D, Jang Y, Chung N, Cho SY, Kim SS. Comparison of long term outcome after mitral valve replacement or repeated balloon valvotomy in patients with restenosis after previous balloon valvotomy. *Am J Cardiol* 2007;**99**:1571–1574.
- 177. Song H, Kang DH, Kim JH, Park K-M, Song J-M, Choi K-J, Hong M-K, Chung CH, Song J-K, Lee J-W, Park S-W, Park S-J. Percutaneous mitral valvuloplasty versus surgical treatment in mitral stenosis with severe tricuspid regurgitation. *Circulation* 2007;**116**(11 Suppl):1246–250.
- 178. Colombo T, Russo C, Ciliberto GR, Lanfranconi M, Bruschi G, Agati S, Vitali E. Tricuspid regurgitation secondary to mitral valve disease: tricuspid annulus function as guide to tricuspid valve repair. *Cardiovas Surg* 2001;**9**:369–377.
- Dreyfus GD, Corbi PJ, Chan KM, Bahrami T. Secondary tricuspid regurgitation or dilatation: which should be the criteria for surgical repair? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005;**79**:127–132.
- Van de Veire NR, Braun J, Delgado V, Versteegh MI, Dion RA, Klautz RJ, Bax JJ. Tricuspid annuloplasty prevents right ventricular dilatation and progression of

tricuspid regurgitation in patients with tricuspid annular dilatation undergoing mitral valve repair. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011;**141**:1431–1439.

- 181. Fukuda S, Gillinov AM, McCarthy PM, Stewart WJ, Song JM, Kihara T, Daimon M, Shin MS, Thomas JD, Shiota T. Determinants of recurrent or residual functional tricuspid regurgitation after tricuspid annuloplasty. *Circulation* 2006;**114**(1 Suppl): I582–587.
- Haddad F, Doyle R, Murphy DJ, Hunt SA. Right ventricular function in cardiovascular disease, part II: pathophysiology, clinical importance, and management of right ventricular failure. *Circulation* 2008;**117**:1717–1731.
- Nath J, Foster E, Heidenreich PA. Impact of tricuspid regurgitation on long-term survival. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:405–409.
- Messika-Zeitoun D, Thomson H, Bellamy M, Scott C, Tribouilloy C, Dearani J, Tajik AJ, Schaff H, Enriquez-Sarano M. Medical and surgical outcome of tricuspid regurgitation caused by flail leaflets. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;**128**:296–302.
- McCarthy PM, Bhudia SK, Rajeswaran J, Hoercher KJ, Lytle BW, Cosgrove DM, Blackstone EH. Tricuspid valve repair: durability and risk factors for failure. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;**127**:674–685.
- 186. Navia JL, Nowicki ER, Blackstone EH, Brozzi NA, Nento DE, Atik FA, Rajeswaran J, Gillinov AM, Svensson LG, Lytle BW. Surgical management of secondary tricuspid valve regurgitation: annulus, commissure, or leaflet procedure? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010;139:1473–1482.
- 187. Tang GH, David TE, Singh SK, Maganti MD, Armstrong S, Borger MA. Tricuspid valve repair with an annuloplasty ring results in improved long-term outcomes. *Circulation* 2006;**114**(1 Suppl):1577–581.
- Dreyfus GD, Raja SG, John Chan KM. Tricuspid leaflet augmentation to address severe tethering in functional tricuspid regurgitation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2008; 34:908–910.
- Chang BC, Lim SH, Yi G, Hong YS, Lee S, Yoo KJ, Kang M S, Cho BK. Long-term clinical results of tricuspid valve replacement. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006;81: 1317–1323.
- Unger P, Rosenhek R, Dedobbeleer C, Berrebi A, Lancellotti P. Management of multiple valve disease. *Heart* 2011;97:272–277.
- Filsoufi F, Anyanwu AC, Salzberg SP, Frankel T, Cohn LH, Adams DH. Long-term outcomes of tricuspid valve replacement in the current era. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005;80:845–850.
- Yeter E, Ozlem K, Kiliç H, Ramazan A, Acikel S. Tricuspid balloon valvuloplasty to treat tricuspid stenosis. J Heart Valve Dis 2010;19:159–160.
- De Kerchove L, Glineur D, El Khoury G, Noirhomme P. Stentless valves for aortic valve replacement: where do we stand? *Curr Opin Cardiol* 2007;22:96–130.
- 194. Smedira NG, Blackstone EH, Roselli EE, Laffey CC, Cosgrove DM. Are allografts the biologic valve of choice for aortic valve replacement in nonelderly patients? Comparison of explantation for structural valve deterioration of allograft and pericardial prostheses. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2006;**131**:558–564.
- 195. El-Hamamsy I, Clark L, Stevens LM, Sarang Z, Melina G, Takkenberg JJ, Yacoub MH. Late outcomes following freestyle versus homograft aortic root replacement: results from a prospective randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 55:368–376.
- Nowicki ER, Pettersson GB, Smedira NG, Roselli EE, Blackstone EH, Lytle BW. Aortic allograft valve reoperation: surgical challenges and patient risks. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008;86:761–768.
- 197. Byrne JG, Rezai K, Sanchez JA, Bernstein RA, Okum E, Leacche M, Balaguer JM, Prabhakaran S, Bridges CR, Higgins RSD . Surgical Management of Endocarditis: The Society of Thoracic Surgeons Clinical Practice Guideline. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011;**91**:2012–2019.
- 198. El-Hamamsy I, Eryigit Z, Stevens LM, Sarang Z, George R, Clark L, Melina G, Takkenberg JJ, Yacoub MH. Long-term outcomes after autograft versus homograft aortic root replacement in adults with aortic valve disease: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2010;**376**:524–531.
- 199. Hammermeister K, Sethi GK, Henderson WG, Grover FL, Oprian C, Rahimtoola SH. Outcomes 15 years after valve replacement with a mechanical versus a bioprosthetic valve: final report of the Veterans Affairs randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;**36**:1152–1158.
- Oxenham H, Bloomfield P, Wheatley DJ, Lee RJ, Cunningham J, Prescott RJ, Miller HC. Twenty year comparison of a Bjork-Shiley mechanical heart valve with porcine bioprostheses. *Heart* 2003;89:715-721.
- Stassano P, Di Tommaso L, Monaco M, Iorio F, Pepino P, Spampinato N, Vosa C. Aortic valve replacement: a prospective randomized evaluation of mechanical versus biological valves in patients ages 55 to 70 years. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54:1862–1868.
- Stoica S, Goldsmith K, Demiris N, Punjabi P, Berg G, Sharples L, Large S. Microsimulation and clinical outcomes analysis support a lower age threshold for use of biological valves. *Heart* 2010;**96**:1730–1736.
- Butchart EG, Gohlke-Bärwolf C, Antunes MJ, Tornos P, De Caterina R, Cormier B, Prendergast B, lung B, Bjornstad H, Leport C, Hall RJC,

Vahanian A. Recommendations for the management of patients after heart valve surgery *Eur Heart J* 2005;**26**:2463–2471.

- 204. van Geldorp MW, Eric Jamieson WR, Kappetein AP, Ye J, Fradet GJ, Eijkemans MJ, Grunkemeier GL, Bogers AJ, Takkenberg JJ. Patient outcome after aortic valve replacement with a mechanical or biological prosthesis: weighing lifetime anticoagulant-related event risk against reoperation risk. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009;**137**:881–886.
- Sun JC, Davidson MJ, Lamy A, Eikelboom JW. Antithrombotic management of patients with prosthetic heart valves: current evidence and future trends. *Lancet* 2009;**374**:565–576.
- 206. Herzog CA, Ma JZ, Collins AJ. Long-term survival of dialysis patients in the United States with prosthetic heart valves: should ACC/AHA practice guidelines on valve selection be modified? *Circulation* 2002;**105**:1336–1341.
- 207. Regitz-Zagrosek V, Lundqvist CB, Borghi C, Cifkova R, Ferreira R, Foidart JM, Gibbs JS, Gohlke-Baerwolf C, Gorenek B, Jung B, Kirby M, Maas AH, Morais J, Nihoyannopoulos P, Pieper PG, Presbitero P, Roos-Hesselink JW, Schaufelberger M, Seeland U, Torracca L; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG), Bax J, Auricchio A, Baumgartner H, Ceconi C, Dean V, Deaton C, Fagard R, Funck-Brentano C, Hasdai D, Hoes A, Knuuti J, Kolh P, McDonagh T. Moulin C. Poldermans D. Popescu BA. Reiner Z. Sechtem U. Sirnes PA, Torbicki A, Vahanian A, Windecker S; Document Reviewers, Baumgartner H, Deaton C, Aguiar C, Al-Attar N, Garcia AA, Antoniou A, Coman I, Elkayam U, Gomez-Sanchez MA, Gotcheva N, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Kiss RG, Kitsiou A, Konings KT, Lip GY, Manolis A, Mebaaza A, Mintale I, Morice MC, Mulder BJ, Pasquet A, Price S, Priori SG, Salvador MJ, Shotan A, Silversides CK, Skouby SO, Stein JI, Tornos P, Vejlstrup N, Walker F, Warnes C. ESC Guidelines on the management of cardiovascular diseases during pregnancy: The Task Force on the Management of Cardiovascular Diseases during Pregnancy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart | 2011;32:3147-3197.
- Bleiziffer S, Eichinger WB, Hettich I, Guenzinger R, Ruzicka D, Bauernschmitt R, Lange R. Prediction of valve prosthesis-patient mismatch prior to aortic valve replacement: which is the best method? *Heart* 2007;**93**:615–620.
- Pibarot P, Dumesnil JG. Prosthetic heart valves: selection of the optimal prosthesis and long-term management. *Circulation* 2009;119:1034–1048.
- 210. Zoghbi WA, Chambers JB, Dumesnil JG, Foster E, Gottdiener JS, Grayburn PA, Khandheria BK, Levine RA, Marx GR, Miller FA Jr., Nakatani S, Quiñones MA, Rakowski H, Rodriguez LL, Swaminathan M, Waggoner AD, Weissman NJ, Zabalgoitia M. Recommendations for evaluation of prosthetic valves with echocardiography and doppler ultrasound: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee and the Task Force on Prosthetic Valves, developed in conjunction with the American College of Cardiology Cardiovascular Imaging Committee, Cardiac Imaging Committee of the American Heart Association, the European Association of Echocardiography, a registered branch of the European Society of Cardiology, the Japanese Society of Echocardiography and the Canadian Society of Echocardiography, endorsed by the American College of Cardiology Foundation, American Heart Association, European Association of Echocardiography, a registered branch of the European Society of Cardiology, the Japanese Society of Echocardiography, and Canadian Society of Echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2009;22:975-1014.
- Symersky P, Budde RP, de Mol BA, Prokop M. Comparison of multidetector-row computed tomography to echocardiography and fluoroscopy for evaluation of patients with mechanical prosthetic valve obstruction. *Am J Cardiol* 2009;**104**: 1128–1134.
- 212. Salem DN, O'Gara PT, Madias C, Pauker SG. Valvular and structural heart disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008;**133**(6 Suppl):p5935–629S.
- Cannegieter SC, Rosendaal FR, Briët E. Thromboembolic and bleeding complications in patients with mechanical heart valve prostheses. *Circulation* 1994;89: 635–641.
- Nowell J, Wilton E, Markus H, Jahangiri M. Antithrombotic therapy following bioprosthetic aortic valve replacement. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2007;31:578–585.
- Dunning J, Versteegh M, Fabbri A, Pavie A, Kolh P, Lockowandt U, Nashef SA; EACTS Audit and Guidelines Committee. Guideline on antiplatelet and anticoagulation management in cardiac surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2008;34:73–92.
- Rivas-Gándara N, Ferreira-González I, Tornos P, Torrents A, Permanyer-Miralda G, Nicolau I, Arellano-Rodrigo E, Vallejo N, Igual A, Soler-Soler J. Enoxaparin as bridging anticoagulant treatment in cardiac surgery. *Heart* 2008;**94**: 205–210.
- 217. Laplace G, Lafitte S, Labèque JN, Perron JM, Baudet E, Deville C, Roques X, Roudaut R. Clinical significance of early thrombosis after prosthetic mitral valve replacement: a postoperative monocentric study of 680 patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;**43**:1283–1290.

- Russo A, Grigioni F, Avierinos JF, Freeman WK, Suri R, Michelena H, Brown R, Sundt TM, Enriquez-Sarano M. Thromboembolic complications after surgical correction of mitral regurgitation incidence, predictors, and clinical implications. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2008;**51**:1203–1211.
- Butchart EG, Ionescu A, Payne N, Giddings J, Grunkemeier GL, Fraser AG. A new scoring system to determine thromboembolic risk after heart valve replacement. *Circulation* 2003;**108**(Suppl 1):II68–74.
- 220. Acar J, lung B, Boissel JP, Samama MM, Michel PL, Teppe JP, Pony JC, Breton HL, Thomas D, Isnard R, de Gevigney G, Viguier E, Sfihi A, Hanania G, Ghannem M, Mirode A, Nemoz C. AREVA: multicenter randomized comparison of low-dose versus standard-dose anticoagulation in patients with mechanical prosthetic heart valves. *Circulation* 1996;**94**:2107–2112.
- 221. Hering D, Piper C, Bergemann R, Hillenbach C, Dahm M, Huth C, Horstkotte D. Thromboembolic and bleeding complications following St. Jude Medical valve replacement: results of the German Experience With Low-Intensity Anticoagulation Study. *Chest* 2005;**127**:53–59.
- 222. Koertke H, Zittermann A, Tenderich G, Wagner O, El-Arousy M, Krian A, Ennker J, Taborski U, Klövekorn WP, Moosdorf R, Saggau W, Koerfer R. Low-dose oral anticoagulation in patients with mechanical heart valve prostheses: final report from the early self-management anticoagulation trial II. Eur Heart J 2007;28:2479–2484.
- 223. Pernod G, Godiér A, Gozalo C, Tremey B, Sié P; French National Authority for Health. French clinical practice guidelines on the management of patients on vitamin K antagonists in at-risk situations (overdose, risk of bleeding, and active bleeding). *Thromb Res* 2010;**126**:e167–e174.
- Turpie AG, Gent M, Laupacis A, Latour Y, Gunstensen J, Basile F, Klimek M, Hirsh J. A comparison of aspirin with placebo in patients treated with warfarin after heart-valve replacement. N Engl J Med 1993;**329**:524–529.
- Massel D, Little SH. Risks and benefits of adding anti-platelet therapy to warfarin among patients with prosthetic heart valves: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;37:569–578.
- 226. Laffort P, Roudaut R, Roques X, Lafitte S, Deville C, Bonnet J, Baudet E. Early and long-term (one-year) effects of the association of aspirin and oral anticoagulant on thrombi and morbidity after replacement of the mitral valve with the St. Jude medical prosthesis: a clinical and transesophageal echocardiographic study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35:739–746.
- 227. Poldermans D, Bax JJ, Boersma E, De Hert S, Eeckhout E, Fowkes G, Gorenek B, Hennerici MG, Iung B, Kelm M, Kjeldsen KP, Kristensen SD, Lopez-Sendon J, Pelosi P, Philippe F, Pierard L, Ponikowski P, Schmid JP, Sellevold OF, Sicari R, Van den Berghe G, Vermassen F, Hoeks SE, Vanhorebeek I. Guidelines for preoperative cardiac risk assessment and perioperative cardiac management in non-cardiac surgery: the Task Force for Preoperative Cardiac Risk Assessment and Perioperative Cardiac Surgery of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and European Society of Anaesthesiology (ESA). Eur Heart J 2009;30:2769–2812.
- Douketis JD, Berger PB, Dunn AS, Jaffer AK, Spyropoulos AC, Becker RC, Ansell J. The perioperative management of antithrombotic therapy: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest* 2008;**133**:2995–3395.
- 229. Francophone society of oral medicine and oral surgery wtcotFsoc. Guidelines for management of patients under antivitamin K treatment in oral

surgery. http://www.societechirbuc.com/Recommandations/recommandations_ avk_gb.pdf

- Ferreira I, Dos L, Tornos P, Nicolau I, Permanyer-Miralda G, Soler-Soler J. Experience with enoxaparin in patients with mechanical heart valves who must withhold acenocumarol. *Heart* 2003;89:527–530.
- 231. Pengo V, Cucchini U, Denas G, Erba N, Guazzaloca G, La Rosa L, De Micheli V, Testa S, Frontoni R, Prisco D, Nante G, Iliceto S; Italian Federation of Centers for the Diagnosis of Thrombosis and Management of Antithrombotic Therapies (FCSA). Standardized low-molecular-weight heparin bridging regimen in outpatients on oral anticoagulants undergoing invasive procedure or surgery: an inception cohort management study. *Circulation* 2009;**119**:2920–2927.
- 232. Tong AT, Roudaut R, Ozkan M, Sagie A, Shahid MS, Pontes Júnior SC, Carreras F, Girard SE, Arnaout S, Stainback RF, Thadhani R, Zoghbi VVA; Prosthetic Valve Thrombolysis-Role of Transesophagesophageal Echocardiography (PRO-TEE) Registry Investigators. Transesophagesophageal echocardiography improves risk assessment of thrombolysis of prosthetic valve thrombosis: results of the international PRO-TEE registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;**43**:77–84.
- 233. Roudaut R, Lafitte S, Roudaut MF, Reant P, Pillois X, Durrieu-Jaïs C, Coste P, Deville C, Roques X. Management of prosthetic heart valve obstruction: fibrinolysis versus surgery. Early results and long-term follow-up in a single-centre study of 263 cases. Early results and long-term follow-up in a single-centre study of 263 cases. Arch Cardiovasc Dis 2009;102:269–277.
- Roudaut R, Serri K, Lafitte S. Thrombosis of prosthetic heart valves: diagnosis and therapeutic considerations. *Heart* 2007;93:137–142.
- Ionescu A, Fraser AG, Butchart EG. Prevalence and clinical significance of incidental paraprosthetic valvar regurgitation: a prospective study using transoesophageal echocardiography. *Heart* 2003;89:1316–1321.
- Sorajja P, Cabalka AK, Hagler DJ, Rihal CS. Percutaneous repair of paravalvular prosthetic regurgitation: acute and 30-day outcomes in 115 patients. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2011;4:314–321.
- Jaussaud N, Gariboldi V, Giorgi R, Grisoli D, Chalvignac V, Thuny F, Riberi A, Collart F. Risk of reoperation for aortic bioprosthesis dysfunction. J Heart Valve Dis 2009;18:256-261.
- Webb JG, Wood DA, Ye J, Gurvitch R, Masson JB, Rodés-Cabau J, Osten M, Horlick E, Wendler O, Dumont E, Carere RG, Wijesinghe N, Nietlispach F, Johnson M, Thompson CR, Moss R, Leipsic J, Munt B, Lichtenstein SV, Cheung A. Transcatheter valve-in-valve implantation for failed bioprosthetic heart valves. *Circulation* 2010;**121**:1848–1857.
- 239. Piazza N, Bleiziffer S, Brockmann G, Hendrick R, Deutsch M-A, Opitz A, Mazzitelli D, Tassani-Prell P, Schreiber C, Lange R. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for failing surgical aortic bioprosthetic valve: from concept to clinical application and evaluation (Part 1). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2011;4: 721–732.
- 240. Calleja AM, Dommaraju S, Gaddam R, Cha S, Khandheria BK, Chaliki HP. Cardiac risk in patients aged >75 years with asymptomatic, severe aortic stenosis undergoing noncardiac surgery. Am J Cardiol 2010;105:1159-1163.
- Bradley D, Creswell LL, Hogue CW Jr, Epstein AE, Prystowsky EN, Daoud EG. Pharmacologic prophylaxis: American College of Chest Physicians guidelines for the prevention and management of postoperative atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery. *Chest* 2005;**128**:395–475.